Approaches in Physical Activity: From Basic to Applied Researches 2020

Lead Guest Editor: Danilo Sales Bocalini Guest Editors: Julien S. Baker, Leonardo dos Santos, Roberta Luksevicius Rica, and Emmanuel G. Ciolac



Approaches in Physical Activity: From Basic to Applied Researches 2020

Approaches in Physical Activity: From Basic to Applied Researches 2020

Lead Guest Editor: Danilo Sales Bocalini Guest Editors: Julien S. Baker, Leonardo dos Santos, Roberta Luksevicius Rica, and Emmanuel G. Ciolac

Copyright © 2020 Hindawi Limited. All rights reserved.

This is a special issue published in "BioMed Research International." All articles are open access articles distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Section Editors

Penny A. Asbell, USA David Bernardo (D, Spain Gerald Brandacher, USA Kim Bridle 🕞, Australia Laura Chronopoulou (D, Italy Gerald A. Colvin (D, USA) Aaron S. Dumont, USA Pierfrancesco Franco (D, Italy Raj P. Kandpal (D, USA Fabrizio Montecucco (D), Italy Mangesh S. Pednekar (D, India Letterio S. Politi (D, USA Jinsong Ren (D, China William B. Rodgers, USA Harry W. Schroeder (D, USA Andrea Scribante D, Italy Germán Vicente-Rodriguez D, Spain Momiao Xiong D, USA Hui Zhang (D), China

Academic Editors

Rehabilitation

Emilia Biffi D, Italy Corina O. Bondi (D, USA S. Brunelli (D, Italy Giuseppe Caminiti (D, Italy Chiara Crespi, Italy Jean C. De Mauroy (D, France Ashraf S. Gorgey (D, USA) Toyohiro Hamaguchi 🕞, Japan Tsung-Hsun Hsieh (D), Taiwan Lee Ingle (D), United Kingdom Jamshed Iqbal (D), United Kingdom Defne Kaya (D, Turkey Du-Hyeong Lee D, Republic of Korea Giuseppe Messina (D), Italy Hugo Olmedillas (D, Spain Matteo Paci (D), Italy Alberto Raggi (D, Italy

Artūras Razbadauskas (b), Lithuania Bruno Rodrigues (b), Brazil Jacob J. Sosnoff (b), USA Domiziano Tarantino, Italy Marco C. Uchida (b), Brazil Tomofumi Yamaguchi (b), Japan Ping Zhou (b), USA

Contents

Short-Term Cigarette Smoking in Rats Impairs Physical Capacity and Induces Cardiac Remodeling Danilo Sales Bocalini (), Rafael da Silva Luiz, Kleiton Augusto Santos Silva, Andrey Jorge Serra, Renata Andrade Avila, André Soares Leopoldo, Ana Paula Lima-Leopoldo, Márcia Regina Holanda da Cunha, Paulo Jose F. Tucci, and Leonardo dos Santos Research Article (7 pages), Article ID 2589892, Volume 2020 (2020)

Physical Training Is a Potential Modifier of Risk for Contrast-Induced Acute Kidney Injury in Diabetes Mellitus

Sheila M. F. Couto (), Douglas I. Machado, Carolina Conde, Vinicius C. Silva, Adriana A. Souza, Karina B. Peres, Beatriz A. Brandi, and Maria De Fátima F. Vattimo () Research Article (6 pages), Article ID 1830934, Volume 2020 (2020)

Effectiveness of Low-Frequency Stimulation in Proprioceptive Neuromuscular Facilitation Techniques for Post Ankle Sprain Balance and Proprioception in Adults: A Randomized Controlled Trial

Khalid A. Alahmari, Paul Silvian, Krshad Ahmad, Ravi Shankar Reddy, Jaya Shanker Tedla, Venkata Nagaraj Kakaraparthi, and Kanagaraj Rengaramanujam, Kakaraparthi, Article ID 9012930, Volume 2020 (2020)

Measurement of Bone Mineral Density in Children with Cerebral Palsy from an Ethical Issue to a Diagnostic Necessity

Jasmin S. Nurković (), Pavle Petković, Danijela Tiosavljević, and Radiša Vojinović Research Article (12 pages), Article ID 7282946, Volume 2020 (2020)

Computer Kinesiology: New Diagnostic and Therapeutic Tool for Lower Back Pain Treatment (Pilot Study)

Pavla Honcu (), Petr Zach, Jana Mrzilkova (), Dobroslava Jandova, Vladimir Musil (), and Alexander Martin Celko Research Article (10 pages), Article ID 2987696, Volume 2020 (2020)

Improving Physical Fitness of Children with Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities through an Adapted Rhythmic Gymnastics Program in China

Chenchen Xu (D), Mingyan Yao (D), Mengxue Kang, and Guanting Duan Research Article (10 pages), Article ID 2345607, Volume 2020 (2020)

Which Neighborhood Destinations Matter in the Asian Context? The Role of Destinations in Older Adults' Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviors

Jong-Hwan Park (D), Jung-Hoon Park (D), Seunghwan Song, Ting-Fu Lai, and Yung Liao (D) Research Article (7 pages), Article ID 8432934, Volume 2020 (2020)

Impact of Acute Eccentric versus Concentric Running on Exercise-Induced Fat Oxidation and Postexercise Physical Activity in Untrained Men

Shaea Alkahtani (), Osama Aljuhani, Nasser Alkhalidi, Naif Almasuod, Omar Hezam, Ibrahim Aljaloud, Haitham Abdel Hamid Dawoud (), and Ahmed Abdusalam Research Article (8 pages), Article ID 2608730, Volume 2020 (2020)

Evidence-Based Optimal Cutoff Values with the Validation of Criterion-Referenced Standards for Sarcopenic Elderly Fitness Improvement Hyunseok Jee (b), Soo Hyun Park, and Saejong Park (b) Research Article (8 pages), Article ID 1638082, Volume 2020 (2020)



Research Article

Short-Term Cigarette Smoking in Rats Impairs Physical Capacity and Induces Cardiac Remodeling

Danilo Sales Bocalini ⁽⁾, ¹ Rafael da Silva Luiz, ² Kleiton Augusto Santos Silva, ³ Andrey Jorge Serra, ⁴ Renata Andrade Avila, ⁵ André Soares Leopoldo, ¹ Ana Paula Lima-Leopoldo, ¹ Márcia Regina Holanda da Cunha, ¹ Paulo Jose F. Tucci, ⁴ and Leonardo dos Santos⁵

¹*Experimental Physiology and Biochemistry Laboratory, Center of Physical Education and Sports, Federal University of Espírito Santo, Vitoria, Brazil*

²Department of Medicine, Nephrology Division, Federal University of São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil

³Department of Biomedical Sciences, University of Missouri, Columbia, MO, USA

⁴Department of Medicine, Cardiology Division, Federal University of São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil

⁵Department of Physiological Sciences, Center of Health Sciences, Federal University of Espirito Santo, Vitoria, Brazil

Correspondence should be addressed to Danilo Sales Bocalini; bocaliniht@hotmail.com

Received 17 June 2020; Revised 4 October 2020; Accepted 24 October 2020; Published 23 November 2020

Academic Editor: Toshiyuki Sawaguchi

Copyright © 2020 Danilo Sales Bocalini et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Despite the strong evidence on the cardiac and renal damages after chronic exposure to cigarette smoke, there is a paucity of data on its short-term effects. The study evaluated the short-term effects of cigarette smoking on left ventricular (LV) remodeling, *in vitro* myocardial and renal function. Female *Wistar* rats were randomized to control (C) and cigarette smoking rats for eight weeks. Physical capacity was assessed using an adapted model of exhaustive swim; left ventricle (LV) morphology and function were also evaluated. Renal function was assessed by creatinine clearance and urine protein. The *in vitro* myocardial performance was analyzed in isolated papillary muscles. Rats exhibited reduced physical capacity after short-term cigarette smoking. Although there was no change on LV function, reduced chamber diameter was found in the smoking group associated with an increased LV wall thickness. There was augmented cardiac mass compared to C that was confirmed by increased cardiomyocyte nucleus volume, but *in vitro* myocardial performance and renal function were unchanged. A short-term cigarette smoking induces cardiac remodeling without abnormalities in function. The smoking group still preserved renal function and *in vitro* myocardial performance. However, the reduced physical capacity may suggest an impairment of the cardiac reserve.

1. Introduction

Cigarette smoking is the leading cause of preventable morbidity and premature mortality at developed countries [1]. The main health disorders linked to smoking are cardiovascular diseases, cancer, and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. In addition, smoking is an important risk factor to myocardial infarction [2] and nephropathies [3].

Studies have reported that a long-term cigarette smoke exposure may be associated with cardiac remodeling [4–6] which in turn correlates with myocardial dysfunction, heart failure, and increased mortality risk [7]. However, there are few studies [8, 9] that define the cardiotoxic effects of shortterm cigarette use, specifically reporting data from myocardial mechanics, which could indicate the initial and possibly reversible changes in the cardiocirculatory system. If concerning renal implications, although long-term exposure to cigarette smoke is an independent risk factor for microalbuminuria, diuresis and proteinuria [10, 11], the short-term effects on the renal function are still poorly understood as well. Thus, to date, a number of evidences have been reported the local and systemic effects of chronic exposure to cigarette smoke and such studies requiring prolonged exposure for several months. Therefore, the aim of this study was to evaluate the effects of short-term cigarette smoke exposure on myocardial function and remodeling and renal function and its consequences to the physical capacity of previously healthy rats.

2. Materials and Methods

Twenty female *Wistar* rats, weighing 200–230 g, were assigned to one of the following two groups: smoking animals (n = 10), exposed to cigarette smoke for eight weeks, and control animals (n = 10), allocated to the similar chamber but not exposed to tobacco smoke. The environment was controlled in terms of light (12h light/dark cycle), clean-air room temperature ($23 \pm 3^{\circ}$ C), and relative humidity ($60 \pm 5\%$). The study was conducted in accordance with the Basic & Clinical Pharmacology & Toxicology policy for experimental and clinical studies [12]. All procedures performed were in accordance with the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals (NIH) and the ethical standards of the institution (Institutional Research Ethics Committee of the Federal University of São Paulo—protocol 34/08).

2.1. Exposure to Tobacco Smoke. Rats were exposed to cigarette smoke in a chamber (dimension: $1.000 \times 800 \times 700$ mm) connected to a smoking device according to other studies [5, 6]. The smoke was drawn out of filtered commercial cigarettes (composition per unit: 1.1 mg nicotine, 14 mg tar, and 15 mg carbon monoxide) with a vacuum pump and exhausted into the smoking chamber. In the first week, cigarette number was gradually increased from 5 to 20 cigarettes for 60 min, administered two times a day. Subsequently, 20 cigarettes were used in each smoking session, twice a day (60 min in the morning and 60 min in the afternoon) for eight weeks. The chamber carbon monoxide content was measured with a sensor Toxi Vision CO 860 (Biosystems, Prairieville, LA, USA).

2.2. Physical Capacity Swim Test. Physical capacity was assessed using an adapted model of exhaustive swimming previously reported [13]. A load equivalent to 10% of body weight was attached around the waist of each rat using a rubber band. Rats from all groups were observed to determine swimming time until exhaustion. Exhaustion was defined as the time-point when the rat could not swim up to the water surface for 10 seconds.

2.3. Renal Function. Renal function was measured after 8 wk cigarette smoking exposure as previously described [14]. Briefly, rats were placed in a metabolic cage for 24 h with water and food *ad libitum*. After urine collection, samples were stored in –20°C. Serum (SCr, mg/dL) and urinary creatinine (UCr, mg/dL) were determined by Jaffé method (Creatinina K-Colorimetrico, Picratoalcalino, Labtest Diagnostica SA, Minas Gerais, Brazil). The creatinine clearance (CrCl, mL/min) was calculated to estimate glomerular filtration rate. The urinary protein was measured by an enzymatic colorimetric assay (Sesiprot kit

Labtest Diagnostica SA, Minas Gerais, Brazil) and expressed as 24-hour proteinuria (24 h Uprot) or urine protein/creatinine clearance ratio (Uprot/CrCl).

2.4. Blood Pressure Measurement. Animals were allowed to adapt to the environment for three days before the measurement of blood pressure. Animals were placed in a heated chamber at a temperature of 38-40°C for ten minutes, and blood pressure values were recorded from each animal. At the end of protocols, mean, and systolic and diastolic blood pressures were determined by a tail cuff method (LETICA, LE5002, Barcelona, Spain) in conscious rats.

2.5. Doppler Echocardiography. At the end of protocols, rats were anesthetized with ketamine (50 mg/kg) plus xylazine (10 mg/kg) by i.p. route. Transthoracic echocardiographic was performed using a HP SONOS 5500 instrument (Philips Medical Systems, Andover, MA, USA), as described elsewhere [15, 16]. The transverse images were obtained at basal (at the tip of the mitral valve leaflets), middle (at the papillary muscle level), and apical (distal to the papillary muscle but beyond the cavity cap) levels of the left ventricular (LV). The end-diastolic (LVEDD) and systolic (LVESD) LV diameters and diastolic (LVAWT) and systolic (LVPWT) LV posterior wall thicknesses were measured from the transverse parasternal view using M-mode images. The LV systolic function was defined by the fractional shortening (FS), and diastolic function was analyzed by the mitral diastolic influx velocity curve on the pulsed-wave Doppler. From the 4-chamber view, peak E-wave and A-wave velocities were acquired, and the E/A ratio was derived. Heart rate was calculated by a coupled electrocardiography.

2.6. In Vitro Myocardial Performance. Myocardial mechanic was evaluated as previously described [17, 18]. LV posterior papillary muscles were carefully dissected and vertically mounted in an organ bath heated at 29°C and filled with an oxygenated Krebs-Henseleit buffered solution 100% oxygenated and then attached to force transducer (Grass mod FT03E). Preparations were stimulated by platinum electrodes at frequency of 0.2 Hz, using square-wave pulses of 5-ms duration, and voltage adjusted to a value 10% greater than minimum required producing mechanical response. After 60 min equilibration period, the following parameters were evaluated: developed tension (DT), maximal rate of tension increase (+dT/dt) and decrease (-dT/dt), and resting tension (RT). At the end of the experiment, the muscle length was measured, and the muscular portion between the two clips was blotted dry and weighed. The cross-sectional area was estimated from the muscle weight and length by assuming a cylindrical shape and specific gravity of 1.0, and all forcerelated data were normalized by respective cross-sectional area and muscle mass.

2.7. Cardiac Biometry and Histomorphometry. Before the excision of the papillary muscle, atrium and ventricles were weighed separately, in order to use the chamber mass divided by the body mass as an index suggestive of hypertrophy. After papillary muscle dissection, ventricular samples were fixed in 10% buffered formalin and embedded in paraffin to

evaluate nuclear volume and collagen content in histology slides [6, 16]. Briefly, $7 \mu m$ thickness sections were obtained from the LV and hematoxylin-eosin stained. Cardiac muscle fibers were visualized on a longitudinal axis using an Olympus microscope at 40x magnification, and ellipsoid nuclei were analyzed. As an estimative of myocyte hypertrophy, the average nuclear volume was determined randomly in 50 -70 myocytes cut longitudinally for each animal and calculated according to the following equation: nuclear volume = $\pi \times D \times d2/6$, where d is the shorter nuclear diameter and D is the longer nuclear diameter (15). LV collagen content was determined by picrosirius red staining using polarized light. The perivascular areas were excluded from analyzes. All histological images were visualized using an Olympus microscope at 5 randomized 40x magnification fields per animal and analyzed using Image Tool software 3.0.

2.8. Statistical Analysis. Analyses were performed using the SPSS (version 12.0, Chicago, Illinois, USA). All data are expressed as the mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). The D'Agostino-Pearson and Levene tests were used to verify approximately normal statistic distributions and variance homogeneity, respectively. Comparisons between groups were performed by unpaired Student's *t* test or ANOVA two way conform necessary. Statistical significance was established at p < 0.05.

3. Results

As showed at Figure 1, no differences were found in physical capacity before interventions (baseline time-point). However, rats exposed to cigarette smoke for eight weeks exhibited patent exhaustion in a shorter time (before: 197 ± 7 vs. after: 169 ± 4 seconds), but no changes were observed in control animals (before: 199 ± 6 ,after: 201 ± 5 seconds).

Despite the reduced physical capacity, no significant differences were found in systolic, diastolic, or mean blood pressures between the smoking and control groups (Table 1).

Additionally, Doppler echocardiography was performed in anesthetized rats to further evaluate cardiac morphology and function. Heart rate was significantly increased in the smoking group $(243 \pm 28 \ vs.$ controls: $312 \pm 18 \text{ bpm}$), but without changes on LV fractional shortening and on the E/A ratio of the mitral valve flow study (Figure 2). Moreover, the group exposed to cigarette smoke significantly changed the cardiac morphology assessed by echocardiography: there was a reduction in LV diameters in both diastolic and systolic phases, associated with an increased LV posterior wall thickness compared with controls (Figure 2).

To further investigate if the unchanged cardiac global function *in vivo* was associated with preserved myocardial mechanics, the contractile response of papillary muscle was evaluated *in vitro*. As showed in Table 1, systolic (DT and + dT/dt) and diastolic (-dT/dt) performances of the isolated cardiac muscle were similar between groups.

Regarding renal function, as evaluated by urine protein levels and creatinine clearance, there were no statistically significant differences between the groups by short-term exposure to cigarette smoke (Table 1), although urinary



FIGURE 1: Physical capacity test performed by rats before and after smoke exposure in controls and smoking groups. Data expressed as mean + / - SEM. *p < 0.05 vs. before and control group.

TABLE 1: Parameters of cardiac and renal functions of animals not exposed and exposed to cigarette smoke.

	Control	Smoking	<i>p</i> value
Hemodynamic			
SBP (mmHg)	126 ± 2	129 ± 2	p>0.05
DBP (mmHg)	84 ± 2	82 ± 3	p>0.05
MBP (mmHg)	98 ± 1	98 ± 2	p > 0.05
Myocardial function			
DT (g/mm ² /mg)	1.11 ± 0.57	0.95 ± 0.38	p>0.05
$+dT/dt_{max}$ (g/mm ² /mg/s)	10.13 ± 3.57	8.63 ± 2.62	p>0.05
$-dT/dt_{max}$ (g/mm ² /mg/s)	-8.18 ± 5.88	-5.43 ± 1.82	p > 0.05
RT (g/mm ² /mg)	0.22 ± 0.17	0.19 ± 0.06	p > 0.05
Renal function			
SCr (mg/dL)	0.48 ± 0.05	0.47 ± 0.08	p>0.05
CrCl (mL/min)	1.14 ± 0.02	1.13 ± 0.05	p > 0.05
Uprot (mg/24 h)	16.27 ± 1.60	20.15 ± 1.53	p > 0.05
Uprot/CrCl (mg/mL)	14.78 ± 1.40	18.56 ± 1.20	p > 0.05

Values are the mean \pm SEM. Systolic (SBP), diastolic (DBP), and mean blood pressures (MBP) measured in hemodynamic study; developed (DT) and resting tensions (RT) and maximum rate of tension rise ($+dT/dt_{max}$) and decline ($-dT/dt_{max}$) of isolated cardiac muscles; serum creatinine (SCr), creatinine clearance (ClCr), 24 h urinary excretion (Uprot), and urine protein/creatinine clearance ratio (Uprot/CrCl).

protein excretion indexed by creatinine clearance tended to increase in the smoking group (p = 0.0552).

Finally, the heart biometry and histomorphometry were also assessed (Figure 3), and smoking rats had increased LV mass and total cardiac mass compared with controls. Also, microscopic study indicated an increased nuclear volume of the LV cardiomyocytes from this group. In addition, myocardial interstitial collagen content was significant increased by short-term smoke exposure.



FIGURE 2: Morphofunctional data from Doppler echocardiography. Left ventricular end-diastolic (LVEDD) and end-systolic diameters (LVESD); LV posterior (LVPWT) and anterior wall thickness (LVAWT); relation between velocity of E and A waves (E/A ratio); and LV fractional shortening (FS). Bars are the means \pm SEM. *p < 0.05 vs. control.

4. Discussion

The present study demonstrates that short-term exposure to cigarette smoke was capable of inducing an adverse cardiac remodeling associated with impaired physical capacity in previously healthy female rats. The level of carbon monoxide in the exposure chamber used in the present study was ~510 ppm, similar to reported by other authors using the same protocol [5, 6, 19]. According to these authors, an exposure to smoke from 40 cigarettes/day is sufficient to increase the rate of carboxyhemoglobin to $5.3 \pm 2.8\%$ in rats, while animals that do not inhale smoke have $0.9 \pm 0.7\%$ of carboxyhemoglobin on blood. It should be noted that values of carbon monoxide of 400 ppm are sufficient to promote comparable to rates of carboxyhemoglobin found in humans considered heavy smokers [20]. Despite this, cardiac function evaluated in anesthetized animals and the myocardial performance evaluated in vitro still seems to be preserved after this short-term smoking.

Our data indicate that short-term exposure to smoke reduced the physical capacity of previously healthy rats. Actually, it is not possible to determine whether this physical capacity of smoking rats resulted from pulmonary, cardiovascular, or musculoskeletal abnormalities (i.e., skeletal muscle). However, it is noteworthy that the impairment of physical capacity is a well-known predictor of cardiovascular-related death [21] and that the improvement of the ability to perform exercise greatly contributes to reduce mortality due to cardiovascular disorders [22, 23]. Furthermore, exercise intolerance is a crucial point, because it directly affects self-related quality of life [24].

Regarding this, there are indications that chronic smoking impairs the physical capacity of the men [25, 26] and mitigates the tolerance to walking fatigue test [27]. Moreover, McDonough and Moffatt [28] stated that the chronically increased smoking-related blood carbon monoxide content could worsen exercise tolerance and reduce the maximal aerobic capacity, associated with an impaired glucose metabolism during exercise. An experimental study has also shown a reduction of 24% of aerobic capacity of animals exposed to carbon monoxide in similar dose to that found in individuals who smoke heavily [29]. For the authors, abnormalities in mitochondrial function in skeletal muscles can interfere with exercise capacity.

To the best of our knowledge, the impact of short-term cigarette smoking on the functional fitness and physical activity is few related by the literature. Regarding the effects of cigarette smoke on the cardiac function as a substrate for impaired physical capacity, there was proposed a possible association between smoking and functional fitness in heart failure [30]. However, given that both chronic smoking and heart failure syndrome could potentially reduce physical capacity not only by cardiac but also by peripheral changes such as pulmonary, hemodynamic, and neuro-motor functions, associated with water and salt kidney retention, our data indicates that short-term cigarette smoking may reduce functional fitness independent of heart or kidney failures.

Actually, there were no significant changes on GFR and urinary protein excretion in rats submitted to passive cigarette smoking for eight weeks, suggesting preserved glomerular and tubular functions. On the other hand, there are evidences that chronic cigarette smoking is associated with functional and structural renal changes in rats, demonstrating abnormal glomerular morphology after 16 weeks [11] and advanced hydropic degeneration of kidney after 24 weeks [31].



FIGURE 3: Cardiac biometry and histomorphometry. Atrial (a), right ventricular (b), left ventricular (c), and heart (d) masses were indexed to body mass. In the lower panels, representative microphotographies of the myocardium stained with hematoxylin-eosin (H&E) for myocyte nuclei analysis and picrosirius red for interstitial collagen evaluation. Remodeling parameters including myocyte hypertrophy (e) and interstitial fibrosis (f) are graphically demonstrated. Bars are the means \pm SEM. *p < 0.05 vs. control.

Conversely to previous observed in chronic smoke exposure [5, 6], but similar to described for short-term protocols [8, 9], echocardiographic data did not show ventricular systolic or diastolic dysfunction after this 8-week protocol, and no changes on blood pressure were noted as well. Moreover, cardiac muscle mechanics assessed in vitro was not affected, similar to also reported by Paiva et al. [19] after 4 weeks and Brooks et al. [32] after 16 weeks of smoking exposure in rats. Together, these findings could suggest that our experimental model of a short-term cigarette smoke exposure was not accompanied by cardiac dysfunction. However, about this apparent normality it is important noting that, under anesthesia or without substantial hemodynamic/mechanical loads, cardiac performance may appear unaltered, making the appropriate characterization of dysfunction difficult [15]. In spite of this supposed normality, when the hearts of smoking rats were submitted to a stress condition such as the physical capacity swim test, a significant degree of impairment was evident. Although we did not perform hemodynamic stress test and considering that noncardiac effects of smoking may also be present, we could just hypothesized that impaired physical capacity was due, at least in part, to a reduced cardiac reserve.

Notwithstanding, a previous study demonstrated that short-term of cigarette smoke induced cardiac morphological changes in rats [6] that could also be related to the reduced physical capacity. In fact, the increase in heart mass and myocyte nuclear volume and the reduced ventricular diameter after short-term cigarette smoking as suggestive of cardiac hypertrophy are not new data. There is no consensus about the hypertrophy mechanism involved in cardiac hypertrophy; however, the hypoxia caused carbon monoxide and nicotine. In the present study, the hypertrophic and fibrotic processes were not associated with changes on blood pressure, which suggests that this cardiac remodeling may be independent of hemodynamic loading. Regarding this, an important issue is the increased blood viscosity that could sustain increased cardiac afterload. Moreover, several other factors could act as additional mechanisms to trigger cardiac hypertrophic process during cigarette smoking: the generation

of reactive oxygen species induced by smoking is knowingly cytotoxic to the myocardium [33]; nicotine has also been shown to be associated with myocardial remodeling [34, 35] and sympathetic hyperactivity [7], and although we did not assess sympathetic tone, heart rate was significantly elevated in the smoking group, which could play a role for the adverse cardiac remodeling; and evidence for the association between carbon monoxide/hypoxia and myocardial hypertrophy had also been showed [29, 36]. Although we did not measure plasma levels of nicotine and cotinine, it is important note that these parameters are commonly used to estimate smoking intensity. In the present work, we used the carbon monoxide content on the exposure chamber to estimate smoking intensity, similar to other studies [5, 6, 19]. Thus, it is possible to consider that the hypertrophic response was linked to multiple effects of cigarette smoking not only to nervous and cardiovascular systems, but also by neurohumoral mechanisms. For example, it is well known that smoking, or more specifically nicotine, activates the sympathoadrenal system and increases the synthesis and release of noradrenaline and adrenaline [7, 37, 38], and stimulates the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system [39].

In conclusion, our results indicate that short-term cigarette smoke exposure in rats induced a concentric LV hypertrophy accompanied by increased in interstitial collagen. In addition, despite the apparent normal cardiac and renal functions, the smoking group has a significant impairment of the physical capacity, which could be suggested a result, at least in part, of a reduced cardiac reserve as a damaging consequence of this short-term smoking. It is noteworthy that recurrence of short-term smoking may have summative effects and thus constitute the mechanism underlying the ultimate chronic effects. Therefore, our data about the short-term effect of cigarette smoking can reflect an initial change in the pathophysiological mechanisms of smoking-induced chronic harmfulness.

Data Availability

All data are available if necessary.

Disclosure

The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by grants from the Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES—finance code 001); Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (grant number 303077/2017-4 CNPq 2018-20); and Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Espírito Santo (grant numbers 80707483/2017 and 84417625/2018).

References

- C. E. Bartecchi, T. D. Mackenzie, and R. W. Schrier, "The human costs of tobacco use," *The New England Journal of Medicine*, vol. 330, no. 13, pp. 907–912, 1994.
- [2] D. M. Burns, "Epidemiology of smoking-induced cardiovascular disease," *Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases*, vol. 46, no. 1, pp. 11–29, 2003.
- [3] A. J. Bleyer, L. R. Shemanski, G. L. Burke, K. J. Hansen, and R. G. Appel, "Tobacco, hypertension, and vascular disease: risk factors for renal functional decline in an older population," *Kidney International*, vol. 57, no. 5, pp. 2072–2079, 2000.
- [4] M. O. Boluyt, D. G. Penney, F. J. Clubb Jr., and T. P. White, "Exposure of neonatal rats to carbon monoxide alters cardiac adaptation to aortic constriction," *Journal of Applied Physiol*ogy, vol. 70, no. 6, pp. 2697–2702, 1991.
- [5] E. Castardeli, S. A. Paiva, B. B. Matsubara et al., "Chronic cigarette smoke exposure results in cardiac remodeling and impaired ventricular function in rats," *Arquivos Brasileiros de Cardiologia*, vol. 84, no. 4, pp. 320–324, 2005.
- [6] D. Reis Junior, E. L. Antonio, M. F. de Franco, H. A. de Oliveira, P. J. Tucci, and A. J. Serra, "Association of exercise training with tobacco smoking prevents fibrosis but has adverse impact on myocardial mechanics," *Nicotine & Tobacco Research*, vol. 18, no. 12, pp. 2268–2272, 2016.
- [7] D. Gabriel-Costa, "The pathophysiology of myocardial infarction-induced heart failure," *Pathophysiology*, vol. 25, no. 4, pp. 277–284, 2018.
- [8] L. Gu, V. Pandey, D. L. Geenen, S. A. K. Chowdhury, and M. R. Piano, "Cigarette smoke-induced left ventricular remodelling is associated with activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases," *European Journal of Heart Failure*, vol. 10, no. 11, pp. 1057–1064, 2008.
- [9] P. P. Santos, F. Oliveira, V. C. M. P. Ferreira et al., "The role of lipotoxicity in smoke cardiomyopathy," *PLoS One*, vol. 9, no. 12, article e113739, 2014.
- [10] J. M. Halimi and A. Mimran, "Renal effects of smoking: potential mechanisms and perspectives," *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation*, vol. 15, no. 7, pp. 938–940, 2000.
- [11] M. Dündar, I. Kocak, and N. Culhaci, "Effects of long-term passive smoking on the diameter of glomeruli in rats: histopathological evaluation," *Nephrology*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 53–57, 2004.
- [12] P. Tveden-Nyborg, T. K. Bergmann, and J. Lykkesfeldt, "Basic & clinical pharmacology & toxicology policy for experimental and clinical studies," *Basic & Clinical Pharmacology & Toxicology*, vol. 123, no. 3, pp. 233–235, 2018.
- [13] D. S. Bocalini, E. V. Carvalho, A. F. de Sousa, R. F. Levy, and P. J. Tucci, "Exercise training-induced enhancement in myocardial mechanics is lost after 2 weeks of detraining in rats," *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, vol. 109, no. 5, pp. 909–914, 2010.
- [14] R. da Silva Luiz, K. A. S. Silva, R. R. Rampaso et al., "Exercise attenuates renal dysfunction with preservation of myocardial function in chronic kidney disease," *PLoS One*, vol. 8, no. 2, article e55363, 2013.
- [15] L. dos Santos, E. L. Antonio, A. F. Souza, and P. J. Tucci, "Use of afterload hemodynamic stress as a practical method for assessing cardiac performance in rats with heart failure," *Canadian Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology*, vol. 88, no. 7, pp. 724–732, 2010.

- [16] L. dos Santos, G. A. Gonçalves, A. P. Davel et al., "Cell therapy prevents structural, functional and molecular remodeling of remote non-infarcted myocardium," *International Journal of Cardiology*, vol. 168, no. 4, pp. 3829–3836, 2013.
- [17] D. S. Bocalini and P. J. Tucci, "Developed force of papillary muscle: what index correctly indicates contractile capacity?," *International Heart Journal*, vol. 50, no. 5, pp. 643–652, 2009.
- [18] R. A. Ávila, M. A. S. C. Silva, J. V. Peixoto, I. Kassouf-Silva, R. T. H. Fogaça, and L. Dos Santos, "Mechanisms involved in the in vitro contractile dysfunction induced by different concentrations of ferrous iron in the rat myocardium," *Toxicology In Vitro*, vol. 36, pp. 38–45, 2016.
- [19] S. A. de Paiva, L. A. Zornoff, M. P. Okoshi, K. Okoshi, A. C. Cicogna, and A. O. Campana, "Behavior of cardiac variables in animals exposed to cigarette smoke," *Arquivos Brasileiros de Cardiologia*, vol. 81, no. 3, pp. 221–228, 2003.
- [20] R. F. Coburn, R. E. Forster, and P. B. Kane, "Considerations of the physiological variables that determine the blood carboxyhemoglobin concentration in man," *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 44, no. 11, pp. 1899–1910, 1965.
- [21] D. C. Lee, E. G. Artero, X. Sui, and S. N. Blair, "Mortality trends in the general population: the importance of cardiorespiratory fitness," *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, vol. 24, 4_ suppl, pp. 27–35, 2010.
- [22] F. Al-Khalili, I. Janszky, A. Andersson, B. Svane, and K. Schenck-Gustafsson, "Physical activity and exercise performance predict long-term prognosis in middle-aged women surviving acute coronary syndrome," *Journal of Internal Medicine*, vol. 261, no. 2, pp. 178–187, 2007.
- [23] C. Hung, B. Daub, B. Black, R. Welsh, A. Quinney, and M. Haykowsky, "Exercise training improves overall physical fitness and quality of life in older women with coronary artery disease," *Chest*, vol. 126, no. 4, pp. 1026–1031, 2004.
- [24] D. S. Bocalini, L. dos Santos, and A. J. Serra, "Physical exercise improves the functional capacity and quality of life in patients with heart failure," *Clinics*, vol. 63, no. 4, pp. 437–442, 2008.
- [25] Y. Fukuba, N. Takamoto, K. Kushima et al., "Cigarette smoking and physical fitness," *The Annals of Physiological Anthropology*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 195–212, 1993.
- [26] C. M. Bernaards, J. W. Twisk, W. Van Mechelen, J. Snel, and H. C. Kemper, "A longitudinal study on smoking in relationship to fitness and heart rate response," *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, vol. 35, no. 5, pp. 793–800, 2003.
- [27] C. M. Trisltz, G. Ruas, L. K. Jamami, M. Jamani, and V. F. Couto, "Evaluation of the tolerance to the effort in smoking individuals," *Fisioterapia em Movimento*, vol. 20, pp. 55–61, 2017.
- [28] P. McDonough and R. J. Moffatt, "Smoking-induced elevations in blood carboxyhaemoglobin Levels," *Sports Medicine*, vol. 27, no. 5, pp. 275–283, 1999.
- [29] A. Bye, S. Sørhaug, M. Ceci et al., "Carbon monoxide levels experienced by heavy smokers impair aerobic capacity and cardiac contractility and induce pathological hypertrophy," *Inhalation Toxicology*, vol. 20, no. 7, pp. 635–646, 2008.
- [30] S. J. Jay, "Passive smoking and the 6-minute walk test in heart failure," *Chest*, vol. 112, no. 1, pp. 289-290, 1997.
- [31] Y. Cigremis, Y. Turkoz, M. Akgoz, and M. Sozmen, "The effects of chronic exposure to ethanol and cigarette smoke on the level of reduced glutathione and malondialdehyde in rat kidney," *Urological Research*, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 213–218, 2004.

- [32] W. W. Brooks, O. H. Bing, G. L. Huber, and W. H. Abelmann, "Contractile performance of rat myocardium after chronic tobacco smoke inhalation," *Archives of Environmental Health*, vol. 37, no. 2, pp. 93–97, 1982.
- [33] Y. Sun, "Myocardial repair/remodelling following infarction: roles of local factors," *Cardiovascular Research*, vol. 81, no. 3, pp. 482–490, 2009.
- [34] J. P. Loennechen, V. Beisvag, I. Arbo et al., "Chronic carbon monoxide exposurein vivoinduces myocardial endothelin-1 expression and hypertrophy in rat," *Pharmacology & Toxicology*, vol. 85, no. 6, pp. 192–197, 1999.
- [35] K. Greenspan, R. E. Edmands, S. B. Knoebel, and C. Fisch, "Some effects of nicotine on cardiac automaticity, conduction, and inotropy," *Archives of Internal Medicine*, vol. 123, no. 6, pp. 707–712, 1969.
- [36] D. G. Penney and L. B. Bugaisky, "Non-coordinate expression of collagen mRNAs during carbon monoxide-induced cardiac hypertrophy Mol," *Cell Biochemistry*, vol. 109, pp. 37–41, 1992.
- [37] G. Grassi, G. Seravalle, D. A. Calhoun et al., "Mechanisms responsible for sympathetic activation by cigarette smoking in humans," *Circulation*, vol. 90, no. 1, pp. 248–253, 1994.
- [38] G. Grassi, G. Seravalle, D. A. Calhoun, G. Bolla, and G. Mancia, "Cigarette smoking and the adrenergic nervous system," *Clinical and Experimental Hypertension. Part A*, vol. 14, no. 1-2, pp. 251–260, 1992.
- [39] Y. M. Yuan, L. Luo, Z. Guo, M. Yang, R. S. Ye, and C. Luo, "Activation of renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS) in the lung of smoking-induced pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH) rats," *Journal of the Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone System*, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 249–253, 2015.



Research Article

Physical Training Is a Potential Modifier of Risk for Contrast-Induced Acute Kidney Injury in Diabetes Mellitus

Sheila M. F. Couto 💿, Douglas I. Machado, Carolina Conde, Vinicius C. Silva, Adriana A. Souza, Karina B. Peres, Beatriz A. Brandi, and Maria De Fátima F. Vattimo 💿

Experimental Laboratory of Animal Models, School of Nursing, University of Sao Paulo, Sao Paulo 05403-000, Brazil

Correspondence should be addressed to Sheila M. F. Couto; sheilamfernandes@usp.br

Received 24 June 2020; Revised 16 October 2020; Accepted 23 October 2020; Published 18 November 2020

Academic Editor: Leonardo dos Santos

Copyright © 2020 Sheila M. F. Couto et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Background. Iodinated contrast (IC) is a leading cause of hospital-based acute kidney injury (AKI). Contrast-induced acute kidney injury (CI-AKI) is a decline in renal function due to iodinated contrast administration and occurs more frequently in individuals with increasingly common risk factors, such as diabetes mellitus (DM). Physical training (PT) can have renoprotective effects on CI-AKI in diabetic nephropathy. The aim of this study was to evaluate the injury in kidneys of diabetic rats submitted to treatment with IC, evaluating the impact of PT on hemodynamics and renal function in addition to oxidative profile in diabetic rats submitted to IC-AKI. Materials and Methods. Adult male Wistar rats are randomized into four groups: citrate (n = 7): control group, citrate buffer (streptozotocin-STZ vehicle), intravenous tail (iv), single dose; DM (n = 7): STZ, 60 mg/kg, iv, single dose; DM+IC (n = 7): DM rats treated with IC (sodium meglumine ioxithalamate, 6 mL/kg, intraperitoneal (ip), single dose); DM+IC+PT (n = 7): DM rats treated with IC as mentioned and submitted to physical training. Renal function parameters (inulin clearance, neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL), serum creatinine, and urinary albumin), hemodynamics (renal blood flow and renal vascular resistance), and oxidative profile (urinary peroxides, urinary TBARS, urinary nitric oxide, and renal tissue thiols) were evaluated. Results. It was possible to observe a decrease in inulin clearance, renal blood flow, and thiols in renal tissue accompanied by an increase in urinary flow, serum creatinine, urinary albumin, renal vascular resistance, urinary peroxides, urinary nitrate, and TBARS in the DM group compared to the citrate group. The DM+IC group showed a reduction in inulin clearance, and the renal dysfunction was also seen by the increased NGAL. Renal hemodynamics and oxidative profile compared were also worsened in the DM group. PT improved renal function by increasing renal blood flow and thiol levels in renal tissue and reduced renal vascular resistance, metabolites of reactive oxygen, nitrogen species, and lipid peroxidation in the DM+IC+PT group compared to DM+IC. Conclusions. Our results confirmed that DM induction increases renal vulnerability to the toxicity of IC and an association between DM with IC predisposes to severe AKI with reduced renal function alongside with renal hemodynamic alterations and oxidative mechanism of injury. The PT showed a renoprotective effect in DM animals subjected to damage with IC by modulating renal hemodynamics and oxidative profile, confirming a potential to modify the risk of CI-AKI when diabetes mellitus is present.

1. Introduction

Iodinated contrast (IC), used to improve the visibility of organs and structures in diagnostic exams, is a leading cause of acute kidney injury (AKI) [1]. Contrast-induced acute kidney injury (CI-AKI) is the third leading cause of AKI in hospitalized patients and is clinically defined by an increase in serum creatinine ≥ 0.5 mg/dL or 25% increase in serum cre-

atinine from the baseline value 48 h past the contrast media administration [2, 3].

CI-AKI increases morbidity and mortality risk and occurs more frequently in the presence of risk factors, such as preexisting renal impairment or diabetes mellitus (DM), with prevalence estimated at approximately 30% [4, 5].

Pathophysiology mechanisms for CI-AKI are complex and remain unclear, but it is known that it involves cell damage caused by the direct cytotoxic effect of IC to renal tubular epithelial cells, renal vasoconstriction resulting in medullary hypoxia, and the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) [1, 6].

CI-AKI has been growing in the recent years and will probably increase its prevalence in the future with the more frequent contrast-mediated diagnostic need in old patients and with increasingly common comorbid conditions such as DM [3, 5]. There is no specific treatment for CI-AKI; therefore, strategies to recover kidney function and reduce the CI-AKI risk in the presence of DM are urgently needed [3, 6].

Physical training (PT), a nonpharmacological therapy recommended to control DM, can be promising to attenuate the complications of aggravated CI-AKI in DM because it induces beneficial adaptive responses and influences physiological biomarkers, such as oxidative stress biomarkers, nitrosative stress, and hemodynamics, which implicate in the development and progression CI-AKI [7, 8].

Recently, researchers have been investigating the role of PT on AKI and the favourable effects observed reinforce its role in preventing AKI [9–11]. Although many studies have shown the beneficial influence of PT in several diseases, the mechanisms involved are not clear and little is known about this process in the CI-AKI, which reinforces the need for further study in this field.

In this study, we have investigated the injury in kidneys of diabetic rats submitted to treatment with IC, evaluating the PT impact on hemodynamics and renal function in addition to oxidative profile in diabetic rats submitted CI-AKI.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Animals. Adult male Wistar rats (weighing 250-290 g) were used. The animals were obtained from the Institute of Biomedical Sciences at the University of Sao Paulo and were housed at the Experimental Laboratory of Animal Models (LEMA) at the School of Nursing at the University of Sao Paulo, in a room with controlled temperature (25°C/77°F) and alternating light/dark cycles. The rats had free access to water and rat chow. The study was carried out in accordance with international standards for the manipulation and care of laboratory animals. The protocol was approved by the Ethical Committee of Experimental Animals, University of Sao Paulo (CEEA–protocol n. no. 1277/2019).

2.2. Streptozotocin-Induced Diabetes Mellitus Model. The animals received streptozotocin (STZ; 60 mg/kg), diluted in 0.5 mL of citrate buffer (0.1 mol/L; pH 4.5) in the first day of the protocol. The injection was administrated in the caudal vein for DM induction. The control animals received only 0.5 mL of citrate buffer. Blood glucose levels were measured 48 h after the injection to confirm hyperglycemia (Accu-Chek, Roche; measurement range: 10–600 mg/dL). Animals considered hyperglycemic and included in the study were those that consistently showed a blood glucose level higher than 250 mg/dL [12]. DM induced in this protocol is considered type I DM. 2.3. *Iodinated Contrast Administration*. The animals received 6 mL/kg of IC (meglumine ioxithalamate and sodium) i.p., single dose on the 26th day of experimental protocols [13].

2.4. Physical Training. This protocol includes an acclimation period of 1 week to the aquatic environment after DM induction and before PT. PT consisted of daily swimming, five days/week, 60 minutes/day, with an additional load corresponding to 5% of the animal's body weight placed in the tail. This protocol is considered moderate-intensity aerobic PT [14–16].

2.5. Experimental Groups

- (i) Citrate (n = 7): control group of chronic diabetes mellitus model, rats that received 0.5 mL of citrate buffer (STZ vehicle), intravenous (iv) tail, single dose on 1st day.
- (ii) Diabetes mellitus (DM, n = 7): rats receiving 60 mg/kg of STZ diluted in 0.5 mL citrate buffer, iv tail, single dose.
- (iii) Diabetes mellitus+iodinated contrast (DM+IC, n = 7): rats receiving 60 mg/kg STZ diluted in 0.5 mL citrate buffer iv tail and received 6 mL/kg of IC intraperitoneal (ip), single dose on 26th day.
- (iv) Diabetes mellitus+iodinated contrast+physical training (DM+IC+PT, n = 7): rats receiving 60 mg/kg STZ diluted in 0.5 mL citrate buffer iv and daily swimming, five days/week, 60 minutes/day from the 6th day and received 6 mL/kg of IC ip, single dose on 26th day.

2.6. Procedures and Timing of Experimental Protocols. All protocols of experimental groups lasted 28 days. PT was performed until the 26th day for the animals in the trained group, while the other nonexercised animals were kept in collective cages during this period. On the 27th protocol day, the animals were allocated in individual metabolic cages for 24 hours, for collection of urine samples and determination of urinary flow.

The rats were removed from the individual metabolic cages on the 28th day of the protocol and anesthetized with 10 mg/kg xylazine and 90 mg/kg ketamine ip and tracheostomized to maintain spontaneous breathing during experiments for renal function and hemodynamic measurements, performed through a catheter inserted into the left carotid artery and in the right jugular vein (polyethylene tube PE-60). An abdominal incision was made, and the urinary bladder was cannulated (polyethylene tube PE-240).

After the surgical procedure and the obtaining of the parameters for renal hemodynamics, a blood sample was collected through a puncture of the distal abdominal aorta. Finally, animals were submitted to terminal blood collection and euthanasia according to guidelines for animal experimentation. The right kidney was removed and immediately cooled and stored at -70°C for thiol assay.

2.7. Renal Function Measurement

- (i) Inulin clearance (mL/min): renal function was evaluated based on inulin clearance. Inulin was injected in the right jugular vein, with a loading dose of 100 mg/kg, followed by a continuous infusion of 0.04 mL/min. After a 30 min stabilization period, three urine samples were collected through the bladder catheter and two blood samples were then collected through the carotid catheter. The serum and urine inulin were measured using the anthrone method [17, 18]
- (ii) Urinary neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL, pg/mL): urinary NGAL was determined using the Rat NGAL ELISA Kit, BioVendor, research and diagnostic products
- (iii) Serum and urinary creatinine (Cr, mg/dL): serum and urinary creatinine were measured using the Jaffe method. The results were expressed in mg/dL; oxidative parameters were corrected using urinary creatinine [19]
- (iv) Urinary albumin (mg/24 h): albuminuria was determined using the Rat Albumin ELISA Kit, Bethyl Laboratories

2.8. Hemodynamic Measurements

- (i) Heart rate (beats per minute (bpm)): heart rate was measured through the catheter inserted into the carotid artery and was assessed using Biopac Systems MP150 (Santa Barbara, CA)
- (ii) Mean arterial blood pressure (mmHg): mean arterial blood pressure was measured through the catheter inserted into the carotid artery and was assessed using Biopac Systems MP150 (Santa Barbara, CA)
- (iii) Renal blood flow (mL/min): the renal artery was isolated after exposing the left renal pedicle, and a suitable probe was placed around for renal blood flow measurement, which was performed by a perivascular ultrasonic flowmeter (T402, Transonic Systems Inc., Bethesda, MD)
- (iv) Renal vascular resistance (mmHg/mL/min): mean arterial blood pressure and renal blood flow were assessed, and renal vascular resistance was calculated with the usual formula: renal vascular resistance = mean arterial blood pressure/renal blood flow [17]

2.9. Oxidative Profile: Oxidative and Nitrosative Metabolites, Lipid Peroxidation, and Thiol Antioxidant Assay

 (i) Urinary peroxides (nmol/g urinary Cr): the peroxides, ROS metabolites, were determined in the urinary samples by the method of ferrous oxidation of xylenol orange version 2 [20]

- (ii) Urinary nitrate (μ M/g urinary Cr): the urinary nitrate excretion, RNS metabolites, was measured using the Griess reaction method [21]
- (iii) Thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS, nmol/g urinary Cr): urinary TBARS were evaluated as an indirect biomarker of lipid peroxidation. Urine samples were added to a mixture of 17.5% trichloro-acetic acid (TCA) and 0.6% thiobarbituric acid. This mixture was heated to 95°C in a water bath for 20 min. The solution was removed from the water bath and cooled in ice, followed by the addition of 70% TCA. The solution was then incubated for 20 min, and absorbance was read at 534 nm [22]
- (iv) Thiols in renal tissue (nmol/mg total protein): the soluble nonprotein thiols in renal tissue were measured by the thiol antioxidant assay using the Ellman method. The amount of soluble thiols was corrected to the total protein amount analyzed using the Bradford method [23, 24]

2.10. Statistical Analysis. Results were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. Variance was analyzed using the oneway ANOVA test, followed by Newman-Keuls (GraphPad Prism version-7 for Windows®): ^ap < 0.001 vs. citrate; ^bp < 0.001 vs. DM; ^cp < 0.001 vs DM+IC.

3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Effects of Physical Training on Renal Function. To evaluate the effectiveness of PT on CI-AKI on diabetic nephropathy, glomerular filtration rate was assessed by inulin clearance studies and changes on urinary flow, urinary NGAL, serum creatinine, and urinary albumin.

The DM induced in this study resulted in worsening renal function as demonstrated by decreased inulin clearance and increased urinary flow, serum creatinine, and albuminuria (Table 1).

The administration of IC to diabetic rats caused an additional deleterious effect on renal function as demonstrated by increased NGAL in the DM+IC group (Table 1). Among markers of renal function, inulin clearance is the most reliable to estimate glomerular filtration rate while NGAL has been described as a sensitive and specific marker of AKI [25, 26]. Therefore, the increase of NGAL might be associated with the onset of CI-AKI in the diabetic animals.

Initially, IC acts as an osmotic diuretic, freely filtered by the glomeruli and poorly absorbed by the renal tubule [27]. However, the IC cytotoxic effect to renal cells of tubular epithelial increases the viscosity of tubular fluid, compromising its flow, which leads to further renal retention and greater cytotoxic exposure [28]. IC results in a long-term effect on perfusion and oxygenation throughout the kidney, and according to clinical observations, it has been verified that the serum Cr level in patients with CI-AKI oftentimes reaches the peak within 2–5 days after IC administration [28].

Albuminuria, which occurs due to microvascular dysfunction in DM, is a biomarker for chronic kidney disease, and it is associated with a greater risk of AKI even in patients

TABLE 1: Renal functio	n.
------------------------	----

Groups	п	Urinary flow (mL/min)	Inulin clearance (mL/min)	Urinary NGAL (pg/mL)	Serum creatinine (mg/dL)	Urinary albumin (mg/24 h)
Citrate	7	0.012 ± 0.002	0.83 ± 0.09	44.06 ± 10.15	0.30 ± 0.06	3.76 ± 0.91
DM	7	0.055 ± 0.011^{a}	0.49 ± 0.10^{a}	73.11 ± 29.24	0.92 ± 0.06^a	$39.42\pm8.89^{\rm a}$
DM+IC	7	0.074 ± 0.006^{ab}	0.16 ± 0.05^{ab}	163.64 ± 35.08^{ab}	1.35 ± 0.15^{ab}	71.37 ± 8.88^{ab}
DM+IC+PT	7	0.093 ± 0.019^{abc}	0.59 ± 0.05^{ac}	84.39 ± 7.36^{ac}	1.05 ± 0.07^{ac}	40.95 ± 9.44^{ac}

 $^{a}p < 0.001$ vs. citrate; $^{b}p < 0.001$ vs. DM; $^{c}p < 0.001$ vs. DM+IC.

TABLE 2: Renal hemodynamics.

Groups	п	Heart rate (bpm)	Mean arterial blood pressure (mmHg)	Renal blood flow (mL/min)	Renal vascular resistance (mmHg/mL/min)
Citrate	7	509 ± 39	96 ± 6	7.47 ± 1.49	12.56 ± 2.19
DM	7	532 ± 48	102 ± 8	4.03 ± 0.27^a	25.72 ± 1.82^a
DM+IC	7	539 ± 44	102 ± 16	1.70 ± 0.19^{ab}	54.35 ± 6.34^{ab}
DM+IC+PT	7	464 ± 27^{c}	95 ± 5	4.20 ± 0.44^{ac}	24.02 ± 5.04^{ac}

 $^{a}p < 0.001$ vs. citrate; $^{b}p < 0.001$ vs. DM; $^{c}p < 0.001$ vs. DM+IC.

TABLE 3: Urinary peroxides, urinary nitrate, TBARS, and thiols.

Groups	п	Urinary peroxides (nmol/g urinary Cr)	Urinary nitrate (µM/g urinary Cr)	TBARS (nmol/g urinary Cr)	Thiols (nmol/mg total protein)
Citrate	7	1.33 ± 0.82	23.71 ± 4.96	0.22 ± 0.15	24.45 ± 5.39
DM	7	11.64 ± 4.00^{a}	56.82 ± 12.73^{a}	12.91 ± 3.02^{a}	13.65 ± 1.73^{a}
DM+IC	7	19.96 ± 6.98^{ab}	75.32 ± 9.65^{ab}	20.49 ± 5.29^{ab}	8.56 ± 1.17^{ab}
DM+IC+PT	7	10.84 ± 2.75^{ac}	51.75 ± 7.66^{ac}	14.10 ± 2.31^{ac}	14.45 ± 1.88^{ac}

 $^{a}p < 0.001$ vs. citrate; $^{b}p < 0.001$ vs. DM; $^{c}p < 0.001$ vs. DM+IC.

with a preserved renal function after contrasted exam [29, 30]. Lifestyle modification program, including physical exercise, demonstrated reduction of albuminuria and maintenance of glomerular filtration rate in diabetic patients [31].

In this study, IC induced a reduction in glomerular filtration rate in the animals with diabetic nephropathy as demonstrated by decreased inulin clearance. PT prevented the sharp reduction in the inulin clearance caused by IC in the diabetic animals. In addition, PT prevented the worsening of renal function as observed by lower NGAL, serum creatinine, and urinary albumin in DM+IC+PT compared with DM+IC (Table 1). This is probably due to adaptive mechanisms of renal function and to the adaptation to physical stress acquired gained with training.

Our results suggest that PT is a good, nonpharmacological strategy to preserve renal function and reduce the CI-AKI risk in the presence of diabetic nephropathy. Although studies have shown the beneficial influence of physical exercise in several diseases, the mechanisms involved are not clear. To clarify how PT could contribute to kidney protection, renal hemodynamics and renal oxidative profile were further analyzed.

3.2. Effects on Renal Hemodynamics. A statistically significant difference was not detected in the mean arterial pressure between groups. There was a significant decrease in heart rate

in the DM+IC+PT group after physical training compared to the DM+IC group without training (Table 2).

DM showed a deleterious effect on renal hemodynamics with a decrease in renal blood flow and an increase in renal vascular resistance (Table 2). The use of IC worsened the effects of DM on the renal blood flow and vascular resistance (Table 2). However, PT prevented an excessive increase in vascular resistance and a decrease in renal blood flow caused by IC (Table 2).

The association of direct medullary vasoconstriction and high viscosity of IC compromises cell oxygen delivery and reduces intrarenal blood flow. Animal experiments demonstrated a reduction in renal blood flow induced by IC partly assigned by the downregulation of endogenous renal NO synthesis [28].

Renal hemodynamic dysfunctions are observed in AKI and are involved in the establishment and evolution of renal injury. Therefore, stabilization of hemodynamic parameters is crucial to the management of CI-AKI [3]. In the present study, PT attenuated renal hemodynamic changes in diabetic nephropathy animals submitted to IC damage, probably by decreasing renal vascular resistance, which resulted in improved renal blood flow.

3.3. Effects of Oxidative Profile. To determine whether the antioxidant effect of PT is involved in renal protection in

the current experimental model, urinary peroxides, urinary nitrate, serum TBARS (a byproduct of lipid peroxidation), and thiol levels in renal tissue (indicative of reduced glutathione, a major endogenous antioxidant) were assessed.

It was observed a significant increase in urinary peroxides and nitrate as well as in TBARS levels in the diabetic group, whereas thiols were significantly reduced compared to the citrate group (Table 3). Additionally, IC administration worsened the oxidative profile in diabetic rats (Table 3).

The IC vasoconstriction results in hypoperfusion and decreased oxygen level in the inner stripes of the outer medulla, causing severe local hypoxia, contributing to oxidative and nitrosative stress, which is known to be mediated by ROS and reactive nitrogen species (RNS) [32]. Data demonstrated that oxidative stress, nitrosative stress, and lipid peroxidation increase in the kidney of diabetic animals were worsened after IC treatment. This could be due to the decrease in antioxidant enzymes, such as glutathione, a thiol enzyme.

The decrease in thiols in the kidney and the increase in lipid peroxidation in DM+IC were significantly improved after exercise. PT showed an improvement in oxidative profile with a significant reduction in oxidative and nitrosative metabolites (peroxides, TBARS, and urinary nitrate) and a significant increase in thiol antioxidant reserve in DM+IC+PT when compared to DM+IC (Table 3).

PT has been used to prevent or treat chronic degenerative conditions once it promotes cellular responses signaled by the physiological stress of exercise [3, 33]. Studies that analyzed the effects of moderate physical exercise with vitamin supplementations on oxidative stress in diabetic rats demonstrated that this association can strengthen the antioxidant defense system through the reduction of ROS and blood glucose levels, preventing the development of diabetic nephropathy [33].

The data collected in this study highlight PT potent antioxidant action in IC-AKI, demonstrating that PT decreases the vulnerability of the diabetic kidney to acute damage due to IC treatment, contributing to an improvement in the renal oxidative profile, with reduced oxidative and nitrosative metabolites and elevated the thiol levels.

4. Conclusions

Our results confirmed that DM induction increases renal vulnerability to the toxicity of IC. The association of DM and IC predisposes to severe AKI with reduced renal function in rats by changing renal hemodynamics and oxidative mechanism of injury. This study highlights the exercise-induced antioxidant effect on IC nephrotoxicity in diabetes mellitus in experimental settings, by modulating renal hemodynamics.

Data Availability

The research article data used to support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author upon request.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgments

This study was financed in part by the Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior, Brasil (CAPES)—Finance Code 001. This work was supported by the National Council for Scientific and Technological Development (CNPq Process 166782/2017-3) and São Paulo Research Foundation (FAPESP Process 2019/18738-2).

References

- S. D. Weisbord and P. M. Palevsky, "Contrast-induced acute kidney injury: short- and long-term implications," *Seminars in Nephrology*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 300–309, 2011.
- [2] K. Nash, A. Hafeez, and S. Hou, "Hospital-acquired renal insufficiency," *American Journal of Kidney Diseases: The Official Journal of the National Kidney Foundation*, vol. 39, no. 5, pp. 930–936, 2002.
- [3] S. Ozkok and A. Ozkok, "Contrast-induced acute kidney injury: a review of practical points," *World journal of nephrol*ogy, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 86–99, 2017.
- [4] P. A. McCullough, "Contrast-induced acute kidney injury," *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, vol. 51, no. 15, pp. 1419–1428, 2008.
- [5] A. L. Bartorelli and G. Marenzi, "Contrast-induced nephropathy," *Journal of Interventional Cardiology*, vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 74–85, 2008.
- [6] Y. Han, G. Zhu, L. Han et al., "Short-term rosuvastatin therapy for prevention of contrast-induced acute kidney injury in patients with diabetes and chronic kidney disease," *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, vol. 63, no. 1, pp. 62–70, 2014.
- [7] American Diabetes Association, "4 Foundations of care: education, nutrition, physical activity, smoking cessation, psychosocial care, and immunization," *Diabetes Care*, vol. 38, Supplement_1, pp. S20–S30, 2014.
- [8] S. R. Colberg, R. J. Sigal, B. Fernhall et al., "Exercise and type 2 diabetes: the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Diabetes Association: joint position statement executive summary," *Diabetes Care*, vol. 33, no. 12, pp. 2692–2696, 2010.
- [9] W. V. Lima, I. Visona, N. Schor, and W. S. Almeida, "Preconditioning by aerobic exercise reduces acute ischemic renal injury in rats," *Physiological reports*, vol. 7, no. 14, p. e14176, 2019.
- [10] M. Y. S. Miyagi, M. T. Latancia, L. A. Testagrossa et al., "Physical exercise contributes to cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity protection with decreased CD4+ T cells activation," *Molecular Immunology*, vol. 101, pp. 507–513, 2018.
- [11] M. Y. S. Miyagi, M. Seelaender, A. Castoldi et al., "Long-term aerobic exercise protects against cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity by modulating the expression of IL-6 and HO-1," *PLoS One*, vol. 9, no. 10, article e108543, 2014.
- [12] M. A. Morsy, S. A. Ibrahim, E. F. Amin, M. Y. Kamel, S. A. Abdelwahab, and M. K. Hassan, "Carvedilol ameliorates early diabetic nephropathy in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats,"

Biomed Research International, vol. 2014, Article ID 105214, 8 pages, 2014.

- [13] J. Šochman, J. H. Peregrin, M. Bürgelová, L. Kopkan, H. J. Kramer, and L. Červenka, "N-Acetylcysteine attenuates iodine contrast agent-induced nephropathy in 5/6-nephrectomized rats," *Kidney & Blood Pressure Research*, vol. 33, no. 2, pp. 149–156, 2010.
- [14] L. F. Guerreiro, A. A. Pereira, C. N. Martins, C. Wally, and C. A. N. Gonçalves, "Swimming physical training in rats: cardiovascular adaptation to exercise training protocols at different intensities," *Journal of Exercise Physiology*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 1–12, 2015.
- [15] L. C. da Cunha Araujo, I. L. L. de Souza, L. H. C. Vasconcelos et al., "Chronic aerobic swimming exercise promotes functional and morphological changes in rat ileum," *Bioscience reports*, vol. 35, no. 5, 2015.
- [16] A. F. Brito, A. S. Silva, I. L. L. Souza, J. C. Pereira, and B. A. da Silva, "Intensity of swimming exercise influences aortic reactivity in rats," *Brazilian Journal of Medical and Biological Research*, vol. 48, no. 11, pp. 996–1003, 2015.
- [17] W. M. Luchi, M. H. M. Shimizu, D. Canale et al., "Vitamin D deficiency is a potential risk factor for contrast-induced nephropathy," *American Journal of Physiology. Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, vol. 309, no. 3, pp. R215–R222, 2015.
- [18] R. P. White and F. E. Samson, "Determination of inulin in plasma and urine by use of anthrone," *The Journal of Laboratory and Clinical Medicine*, vol. 43, no. 3, pp. 475–478, 1954.
- [19] J. A. Owen, B. Iggo, F. J. Scandrett, and C. P. Stewart, "The determination of creatinine in plasma or serum, and in urine; a critical examination," *The Biochemical Journal*, vol. 58, no. 3, pp. 426–437, 1954.
- [20] C. Gay, J. Collins, and J. M. Gebicki, "Hydroperoxide assay with the ferric-xylenol orange complex," *Analytical Biochemistry*, vol. 273, no. 2, pp. 149–155, 1999.
- [21] L. C. Green, D. A. Wagner, J. Glogowski, P. L. Skipper, J. S. Wishnok, and S. R. Tannenbaum, "Analysis of nitrate, nitrite, and [15N]nitrate in biological fluids," *Analytical Biochemistry*, vol. 126, no. 1, pp. 131–138, 1982.
- [22] P. D. Walker and S. V. Shah, "Reactive oxygen metabolites in endotoxin-induced acute renal failure in rats," *Kidney International*, vol. 38, no. 6, pp. 1125–1132, 1990.
- [23] G. Filomeni, G. Rotilio, and M. R. Ciriolo, "Cell signalling and the glutathione redox system," *Biochemical Pharmacology*, vol. 64, no. 5-6, pp. 1057–1064, 2002.
- [24] G. L. Ellman, "Tissue sulfhydryl groups," Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, vol. 82, no. 1, pp. 70–77, 1959.
- [25] G. J. Schwartz and S. L. Furth, "Glomerular filtration rate measurement and estimation in chronic kidney disease," *Pediatric Nephrology*, vol. 22, no. 11, pp. 1839–1848, 2007.
- [26] M. Haase, R. Bellomo, P. Devarajan, P. Schlattmann, and A. Haase-Fielitz, "Accuracy of neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL) in diagnosis and prognosis in acute kidney injury: a systematic review and meta-analysis," *American Journal of Kidney Diseases*, vol. 54, no. 6, pp. 1012–1024, 2009.
- [27] Y. Zhang, J. Wang, X. Yang et al., "The serial effect of iodinated contrast media on renal hemodynamics and oxygenation as evaluated by ASL and BOLD MRI," *Contrast Media & Molecular Imaging*, vol. 7, no. 4, pp. 418–425, 2012.
- [28] S. K. Thakur, S. P. Dhakal, S. Parajuli, A. K. Sah, S. P. Nepal, and B. D. Paudel, "Microalbuminuria and its risk factors in

type 2 diabetic patients," *Journal of Nepal Health Research Council*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 61–65, 2019.

- [29] H. Meng, P. Wu, Y. Zhao et al., "Microalbuminuria in patients with preserved renal function as a risk factor for contrastinduced acute kidney injury following invasive coronary angiography," *European Journal of Radiology*, vol. 85, no. 6, pp. 1063–1067, 2016.
- [30] K. Yamamoto-Kabasawa, M. Hosojima, Y. Yata et al., "Benefits of a 12-week lifestyle modification program including diet and combined aerobic and resistance exercise on albuminuria in diabetic and non-diabetic Japanese populations," *Clinical and Experimental Nephrology*, vol. 19, no. 6, pp. 1079–1089, 2015.
- [31] Y. Ishimoto, T. Tanaka, Y. Yoshida, and R. Inagi, "Physiological and pathophysiological role of reactive oxygen species and reactive nitrogen species in the kidney," *Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology & Physiology*, vol. 45, no. 11, pp. 1097–1105, 2018.
- [32] C. E. Garber, B. Blissmer, M. R. Deschenes et al., "Quantity and quality of exercise for developing and maintaining cardiorespiratory, musculoskeletal, and neuromotor fitness in apparently healthy adults," *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, vol. 43, no. 7, pp. 1334–1359, 2011.
- [33] M. Kutlu, M. Naziroglu, H. Simsek, T. Yilmaz, and A. S. Kükner, "Moderate exercise combined with dietary vitamins C and E counteracts oxidative stress in the kidney and lens of streptozotocin-induced diabetic rat," *International Journal for Vitamin and Nutrition Research*, vol. 75, no. 1, pp. 71–80, 2005.



Research Article

Effectiveness of Low-Frequency Stimulation in Proprioceptive Neuromuscular Facilitation Techniques for Post Ankle Sprain Balance and Proprioception in Adults: A Randomized Controlled Trial

Khalid A. Alahmari (), Paul Silvian (), Irshad Ahmad (), Ravi Shankar Reddy (), Jaya Shanker Tedla (), Venkata Nagaraj Kakaraparthi (), and Kanagaraj Rengaramanujam ()

Department of Medical Rehabilitation Sciences, College of Applied Medical Sciences, King Khalid University, Abha, Saudi Arabia

Correspondence should be addressed to Paul Silvian; pslvin@kku.edu.sa

Received 26 June 2020; Revised 4 September 2020; Accepted 8 September 2020; Published 24 September 2020

Academic Editor: Danilo Sales Bocalini

Copyright © 2020 Khalid A. Alahmari et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Stretching is an important part of post ankle sprain rehabilitation, as well as an effective exercise for improving general ankle-joint performance. But the combination of stretching alongside low-frequency stimulation has not yet been extensively studied. Therefore, the purpose of the present randomized controlled trial was to compare the combined effects of low-frequency transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) with proprioceptive neuromuscular facilitation (PNF) on strength, balance, and proprioception among individuals with post ankle sprain. Sixty male subjects with lateral ankle sprain were selected and randomly allocated to three groups: group 1, group 2, and the control group (CG). Subjects in group 1 received the PNF stretching technique combined with TENS. TENS stimulation was provided using two electrodes placed 5 cm apart directly on the triceps sural muscle of the affected leg and a biphasic current with a symmetrical waveform at 50 Hz for 15 seconds, tuned for a 3-second ramp up time and a 30-second rest time with a 250-microsecond pulse duration was given with PNF stretching. Subjects in group 2 received the PNF stretching technique alone. Both group 1 and group 2 received these treatments for 4 weeks (4 days/week); follow-up assessments were administered in the third and fifth weeks. CG received no treatment; outcome measures alone were assessed. Outcome measures comprised pain, balance, flexibility, proprioception, range of motion, muscle strength, and functional limitation. A mixed-model ANOVA showed significant interaction (time and group) and the time effect for all the outcome measures ($p \le 0.05$). Group 1 (PNF-TENS) showed significant improvement for all the outcome variables compared to the other groups. The present study showed PNF stretching combined with TENS for the triceps sural muscle to trigger muscle contraction during the muscle contraction phase of the PNF stretch, compared against PNF stretching alone, produced significant improvements in ankle function for post ankle sprain subjects.

1. Introduction

The ankle joint plays a vital role in collecting sensory feedback as well as in controlling balance and posture [1]. Ankle sprain refers to a ligament tear in the ankle, and ligament sprains most commonly occur on the lateral side of the ankle in isolation [2]. Ankle sprains are easily diagnosed [3] because the pain, tenderness, and swelling are usually localized on the outside of the ankle for a patient who has twisted their ankle with inversion [4].

Ankle sprain not only causes damage to the structure of the ligament but also damages the surrounding structures such as the muscles, tendons, and nerves in the ankle complex. Any such injury may lead to ligament laxity of the ankle joint, muscular weakness, and deficits. This injury leads to impairment of joint proprioception, balance, firing of ankle muscles, nerve conduction velocity, cutaneous sensation, and muscle power, as well as restriction of the range of motion of the ankle, especially dorsiflexion [5]. Rehabilitation of ankle injuries requires specific activities and exercises to improve and recover normal function of muscles and ligaments. The journey towards recovering normal function after the rehabilitation phase of ankle post sprain is challenging [6].

The effectiveness of a rehabilitation program after injury or surgery often determines the success of future function and performance [7]. For example, the range of motion and muscle power should return to normal preinjury levels such that functional activities may be performed normally as per preinjury [6]. Most patients with ankle sprain recover completely, but a minority of patients report consistent pain, fear of recurrence, and functional limitation. Intervention to curb and permanently recover from an ankle sprain is still much debated and is coupled with a lack of evidence for the effectiveness of treatment designed to build confidence for patients with chronic ankle sprain [8].

In rehabilitation, the complete care of ankle injuries must include pain management, regaining full ankle range of motion, as well as improving muscle strength, proprioception, and balance [9]. These goals can be achieved by modalities that include flexibility and strengthening exercises, proprioception, and balance training. A structured program of intervention, allowing for the significant effect of time and treatment, is essential for understanding ankle rehabilitation.

Stretching is used in various therapeutic procedures that are designed to increase the length of soft tissue structures that have been shortened due to pathological causes, thereby increasing the range of motion [10]. Tight muscles of the leg are passively stretched, isometrically activated, and then further stretched to increase the ankle range of motion [11].

Proprioceptive neuromuscular facilitation (PNF) is a stretch training technique used to increase flexibility [12]. PNF uses static stretching in combination with triggering isometric muscle contraction. PNF stretch uses muscle contraction to trigger neuromuscular activity, initiate a greater stretch, and increase range of motion [13]. PNF techniques such as the "contract-relax" technique or the "hold-relax" technique can be used to achieve a range of motion (ROM) increase beyond that of traditional stretching. The holdrelax PNF technique is done using agonist contraction, initial stretching, and then isometric contraction of a muscle which is tight followed by concentric contraction to the opposite tight muscle. Hold-relax uses dynamic stretching along with the static stretches isometrically [14, 15].

The widespread knowledge about transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) is mainly to reduce pain and improve function in different painful conditions over the last few years and one of the primary clinical tools for managing pain [16, 17]. Because pain and restriction in the range of motion are commonly reported, the usage of TENS is shown to relieve pain in clinical practice, especially when applied before stretching and therapeutic exercises [18, 19].

It is also reported that in animals and clinical research conducted recently, TENS improved balance, muscle strength, and spasticity [20–22]. TENS is effective in relieving muscle fatigue; muscle fatigue is considered an important factor for voluntary muscle control, posture, and balance [23]. Treatment using TENS reduced knee pain effectively by increasing the quadriceps motor neuron pool and triggering the isometric quadriceps muscle activity [24]. However, the use of this TENS to trigger a muscle contraction during the phase of a muscle contraction during PNF (hold-relax) stretch has not been investigated in previous studies.

Therefore, we hypothesized that TENS application could improve and aid the stretching effect in a synergistic manner thereby increasing the range, proprioception, balance, and flexibility of the muscles. The purpose of this research was to compare pre-, post-, and follow-up effects between the PNF stretching technique combined with TENS and PNF stretching alone for post ankle sprain individuals. A second aim is to determine the treatment effect on pain, balance, flexibility, proprioception, range of motion, muscle strength, and functional limitation between the groups.

2. Materials and Methods

The clinical trial was approved by the Institutional Ethics Committee (ECM#2019-26) of King Khalid University, Saudi Arabia. A clinical trial was also registered in the Clinical Trials Registry—ISRCTN 18013941 (UK).

2.1. Participants. After obtaining written informed consent, 69 subjects were screened, consisting of both university students and staff. Of the initial group, 60 subjects had a unilateral lateral ankle sprain and were included in the study as shown in the flow chart (Figure 1), based on the following inclusion criteria: males who sprained their ankle at least 3 months before, aging between 18 and 40 years, who are unable to bend their foot upwards on the post sprain ankle as much as on the normal ankle, and who have been diagnosed by an orthopedic surgeon. Excluded were subjects with general health issues, ankle fracture, dislocation, grade 3 ankle sprains, bony limitation, swelling, neuropathies, or any other neuromuscular pathologies.

2.2. Design. The study was a single-blind randomized controlled trial. Subjects were randomly allocated to three groups using block randomization, each group with 20 subjects of the 3 blocks. Concealed allocation was achieved using a computer-generated table of block-randomized numbers. The random numbers were placed in sealed envelopes. The researcher opened the envelopes and proceeded with treatment according to the group assigned. Twenty subjects were randomly allocated to group 1 (PNF-TENS), group 2 (PNF), and the control group (CG).

Group 1 received PNF (hold-relax technique) along with TENS; group 2 received PNF stretching (hold-relax technique) only; and the CG received no treatment. In all, there were 12 treatment sessions, conducted four times per week, for three weeks, in the university clinic. All three groups were assessed at pretreatment, posttreatment in the third week, and follow-up which was recorded in the beginning of the fifth week. Outcome measures were tested by an independent evaluator not involved in providing treatment to subjects as



FIGURE 1: Flow chart enrolment for the study.

well as allocation. The outcome measures were pain, balance, flexibility, proprioception, range of motion, muscle strength, and functional limitation. The outcomes were measured in the same order throughout the study, prior intervention, at the 3rd week, and at the 5th week.

2.3. Outcome Measures

2.3.1. Pain. The visual analog scale (VAS) was recorded using a handwritten mark on a 10 cm line representing a continuum from "no pain" to "worst pain" [25].

2.3.2. Star Excursion Balance Test (SEBT). The balance was assessed using SEBT and was measured with the subjects standing barefoot at the center of a grid with eight lines extending at 45° angles. Subjects were instructed to touch the farthest point on the line with their distal part of the foot while maintaining the posture. Each subject maintained a single-leg stance and used the contralateral leg to touch as far as possible along the chosen line. The examiner marked the point touched by the foot (distance in cm) from the center of the grid to the point touched by the big toe. Subjects then returned to a bilateral stance and maintained equilibrium. Leg length was measured while subjects were in the supine position, from the anterior superior iliac spine to the distal tip of the medial malleolus in order to normalize the reach distance [26].

A valid trial was measured in the same standing posture, and when any change was detected, the subject's stance foot was repositioned to the center of the grid prior to beginning the next trial. The eight lines—anterior (A), posterior (P), medial (M), lateral (L), anterolateral (AL), anteromedial (AM), posterolateral (PL), and posteromedial (PM)—were constructed based on the direction shown in Figure 2. Reach direction order was designed using a Latin square to avoid any order sequence effect that might contaminate the data [27]. Subjects performed two practice trials in each direction with a ten-second rest break between reach trials [28]. After evaluating the primary and secondary outcome measures, the subjects were provided with treatment as per their group protocol.

2.3.3. Flexibility (Knee to Wall Test). Subjects were asked to stand facing a wall with about 10 cm between their toes and the wall. Subjects were then asked to step back a distance of one foot behind the other foot. The knee was bent to the front until it touched the wall, and the subject was asked to keep that heel in full contact with the floor. If the knee could not touch the wall without the heel coming off the floor, the front foot was moved closer to the wall. This exercise was then repeated, and the distance from the tip of the big toe to the wall was measured [29].

2.3.4. Ankle Proprioception. A digital dual inclinometer (Dualer IQ PRO Digital Inclinometer, J-TECH, Midvale, UT 84047, USA) was used to measure joint proprioception of the ankle. Subjects were asked to sit in a high sitting position with their eyes closed. A dual inclinometer was strapped to the midshaft lateral face of the tibia, and the display unit was strapped to the middle of the third lateral border of the foot. The foot was brought to the targeted angle dorsiflexion, and the subject was asked to maintain the position for 10 seconds (in order to remember this position) and then to return to the neutral position. The subject was then asked to bring the foot actively to the target angle once again [30, 31], as shown in Figure 3. The measurement was taken during three consecutive trials from both angles separately (dorsiflexion and plantar flexion). Recorded mean values (in degrees) were used for the analysis of both target positions. The error angle deviation from the target position set angle was used as the result value [32].

2.3.5. Range of Motion (ROM). The ROM was assessed using a flexi-plastic baseline (USA) standard universal goniometer



FIGURE 2: Star Excursion Balance Test in anterior and posterolateral directions.



FIGURE 3: Proprioception of the ankle in plantarflexion and dorsiflexion.

for measuring dorsiflexion ROM and plantarflexion ROM. Subjects were seated in the high sitting position, with the fulcrum centered over the lateral malleolus of the ankle and the stationary arm parallel to the fibula and tibia. The movable arm of the goniometer followed a line parallel to the 5th metatarsal of the foot. Subjects were asked to dorsiflex and then plantarflex their ankles from the foot-relaxed starting position (considered to be the zero-neutral position), and the average of the three trials was recorded [33].

2.3.6. Muscle Strength. Isometric muscle strength was measured using a strength dynamometer (Baseline, USA). Each participant was positioned in the supine position with their feet over the edge of a plinth. The strength dynamometer was positioned against the metatarsal heads on the plantar surface of the foot to measure the strength of the plantar flexors. The strength dynamometer was positioned on the dorsal aspect of the foot proximal to the metatarsal heads to measure the strength of the dorsiflexors. Each participant performed two practice trials in order to familiarize themselves with the movements prior to testing. Three repetitions were performed for both dorsi- and plantar flexors, with a minimum rest period of 10 seconds between contractions. A single examiner performed all tests for each individual [34].

2.3.7. The Foot and Ankle Disability Index (FADI) Score. Functional limitation was assessed using FADI; all subjects completed the FADI during three different sessions (pre, week 3, and week 5). The completed survey indicated the function of the injured ankle at each session. Each item was scored from 0 (unable to do) to 4 (no difficulty at all), based on 22 questions related to functional activities and four questions related to pain. The FADI has a total of 104 points and is scored as percentages. A total of 100% indicates no dysfunction at all [35].

2.4. Intervention

2.4.1. PNF Stretching Method. The PNF technique (holdrelax) was applied for the triceps sural muscle using agonist contraction, after stretching followed by isometric contraction of the tight muscle and followed by concentric contraction to the opposite tight muscle [36]. The hold-relax PNF protocol was performed, with each subject lying prone on a plinth and the therapist resisting the subject's plantar flexion. The therapist followed the fundamental principles of the PNF method in terms of manual contact, body position and body mechanics, verbal commands, and vision [37]. The subject was asked to perform isometric triceps sural muscle contraction for 20 seconds, after which the therapist waited for four seconds before resuming the triceps sural muscle stretch, slowly and continuously, until the subject reported strong but tolerable discomfort and began to feel a stretching sensation. Once this benchmark had been reached, the stretch was maintained for approximately 30 seconds longer. This method was adopted from the previously published work by Esnault and Viel [38] and was performed four times per session on the affected lower limb.

2.4.2. Group 1: TENS-PNF. This group received PNF stretching, as described above, in the PNF stretching method combined with TENS (Trans Med from Enraf Nonius). Two electrodes $(4 \times 8 \text{ cm})$ were used for this procedure. The electrodes were placed in water-soaked sponge pouches and strapped on the triceps sural muscle: one was placed 5 cm distal to the popliteal fossa, and the other was placed 5 cm distal to the proximal electrode, directly on the triceps sural muscle of the affected leg as shown in Figure 4. The TENS device unit was adjusted to deliver a biphasic current with a symmetrical waveform at 50 Hz for 15 seconds, tuned for a 3-second ramp up time, and a 30-second rest time with a 250-microsecond pulse duration. The intensity was set to the maximum tolerance limit by each subject and was performed four times per session on the affected lower limb. This method was adopted from the previously published work by Pérez-Bellmunt et al. [39]. Each subject underwent this modified PNF stretching procedure four times per session on the affected lower limb, and the total intervention was 30 minutes. This combination method was applied to achieve stronger isometric contraction.

2.4.3. Group 2: PNF. For this group, the total intervention was 30 minutes and involved PNF stretching alone. The PNF stretching protocol was carried out as previously described in the PNF stretching method.

2.4.4. Group 3: Control Group (CG). Assessments alone were administered to the control group.

2.5. Sample Size Calculation. For the calculation of the minimum sample size, a priori power analysis was performed using G Power 3.1.9.4 software. Prior randomized trials [40, 41] have estimated effect sizes (0.22–0.57) for changes in plantar flexor strength among individuals with post ankle sprain. To generate the current sample size estimate, we used an effect size of 0.22 with Cohen's *d*, an alpha of 0.05, and

power of 90%. A sample size of 20 subjects in each group was used to detect a time \times group interaction.

2.6. Statistical Analysis. The normality of distribution of all variables was verified using the Shapiro-Wilk test ($p \le 0.05$). The three group's baseline and demographic characteristics were compared using one-way ANOVA for parametric variables and chi-square test for the nonparametric variables. Levene's output was used to check the homogeneity between the groups. A mixed-model ANOVA was used to see the time effect, group effect, and time × group interaction effect between the three groups. Mauchly's test was used to test assumptions of sphericity; since the degrees of freedom were violated, it was rectified by using the Greenhouse-Geisser estimates of sphericity. The partial eta square η_p^2 was obtained from Greenhouse-Geisser within the subject effect. Statistical significance was indicated at $p \le 0.05$, and the confidence interval was set at 95%. Statistical Package for the Social Sciences version 22.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA) was used for all the analysis.

3. Results

Pooled means and standard deviations of all outcome variables as well as p values showed no significant difference, except for the SEBT in the anterior direction, as shown in Table 1. Levene's output showed no significant differences between the three groups, indicating homogeneity between the groups. Mixed-model ANOVA revealed a significant time effect and time × group interaction effect ($p \le 0.01$) for pain, flexibility, proprioception, ROM, muscle strength, FADI score, and balance. The group effect was significant in the anterior, posterior, posterolateral, and posteromedial directions for balance ($p \le 0.01$). Meanwhile, functional limitation (FADI) scores ($p \le 0.09$) and dorsiflexion ROM as well as balance in the medial, lateral, anterolateral, and anteromedial directions, did not reveal significant difference between the groups ($p \ge 0.05$) as shown in Tables 2 and 3.

The TENS-PNF group in the present study showed significant decrease in pain in the pre- to follow-up period 85.1% compared to PNF 28.2%. The TENS-PNF group showed a significant increase in balance after treatment for anterior, posterior, posterolateral, and posteromedial directions in the pre- to follow-up period (5.4%, 4.2%, 3.9%, and 5.6%) compared to PNF (1.3%, 1.2%, 0.7%, and 0.8%, respectively). The TENS-PNF group showed significant increase in flexibility after treatment in pre- to follow-up was 36.3% compared to PNF 5.9%. The TENS-PNF group also showed a significant increase for proprioception in dorsiflexion after treatment in the pre- to follow-up period (81.3%) compared to PNF (13.8%), and a similar result was seen for proprioception in plantar flexion (89.7%) compared to PNF (11.3%). The TENS-PNF showed significant increase in planter flexion ROM in the pre- to follow-up (19.7%) compared to PNF (2%). The TENS-PNF showed a significant increase in muscle strength for dorsiflexors in the pre to follow-up (25.2%) compared to PNF (4%); a similar increase was also observed for the plantar flexors (29.4%) compared to PNF (2.7%). CG did not show any significant change in time,



FIGURE 4: Application of TENS electrode placements used to activate the triceps sural muscle and simultaneous PNF stretching.

Variables	Group 1 TENS-PNF (<i>n</i> = 20)	Group 2 PNF (<i>n</i> = 20)	Control group (CG) $(n = 20)$	<i>p</i> value
Age (years)	25.8 ± 5.7	25.7 ± 5.6	25.9 ± 6.2	0.991
Height (meters)	1.6 ± 0.0	1.7 ± 0.0	1.7 ± 0.0	0.276
Weight (kg)	65.9 ± 14.1	72.6 ± 15.4	68.9 ± 13.6	0.346
BMI	23.0 ± 5.5	24.5 ± 4.5	23.1 ± 4.2	0.573
Leg length (cm)	83.4 ± 10	85.0 ± 5.4	86.3 ± 6.3	0.483
SEBT anterior	78.2 ± 2.5	68.5 ± 3.9	70.5 ± 5.9	0.01*
SEBT posterior	92.4 ± 3.1	91.2 ± 4.6	90.7 ± 5.4	0.494
SEBT medial	95.7 ± 3.5	96.9 ± 3.7	96.6 ± 3.5	0.576
SEBT lateral	89.1 ± 5.9	92.9 ± 4.7	91.6 ± 5.5	0.090
SEBT anterolateral	74.9 ± 4.7	75.1 ± 3.9	75.8 ± 4.1	0.091
SEBT anteromedial	84.2 ± 5.8	83.1 ± 5.7	83.8 ± 5.7	0.843
SEBT posterolateral	95.1 ± 3.0	95.6 ± 2.9	94.9 ± 2.8	0.711
SEBT posteromedial	96.9 ± 2.6	96.8 ± 2.8	96.9 ± 3.3	0.998
VAS	2.7 ± 1.0	2.3 ± 1.0	2.2 ± 0.9	0.270
KNEE to wall (cm)	7.5 ± 1.8	6.7 ± 0.8	7.0 ± 0.8	0.180
Dorsi proprioception	2.1 ± 1.2	1.8 ± 1.0	1.9 ± 1.0	0.599
Plantar proprioception	2.5 ± 1.7	2.2 ± 1.9	2.4 ± 1.2	0.722
Dorsi ROM	15.9 ± 1.5	16.4 ± 1.8	16.7 ± 1.7	0.336
Plantar ROM	36.4 ± 3.9	38.5 ± 3.3	37.3 ± 4.0	0.224
Dorsi MS (kg)	11.1 ± 1.8	11.2 ± 0.8	11.1 ± 0.8	0.971
Plantar MS (kg)	13.2 ± 1.7	14.5 ± 0.9	14.1 ± 1.4	0.020
FADI score	94.3 ± 2.5	94.7 ± 3.5	95.3 ± 3.8	0.665

TABLE 1: Data (mean and standard deviation) of variables prior to intervention for each group.

VAS: Visual Analogue Scale; BMI: Body Mass Index; ROM: range of motion; MS: muscle strength. *Significant ($p \le 0.01$).

	Group 1	Mean (standard dev	viation)	Mixed ANOVA (p value)		
Variables	(TENS-PNF) Group 2 (PNF) Control group (CG)	Pre (1)	3 rd week (2)	5 th week (3)	Interaction (group and time) effect η_p^2 (<i>p</i> value)	Group (G) effect η_p^2 (p value)	Time (<i>T</i>) effect η_p^2 (<i>p</i> value)
	TENS-PNF	2.7 ± 1.0	0.5 ± 0.6	0.4 ± 0.5			
Pain VAS (cm)	PNF	2.3 ± 1.0	1.6 ± 0.8	1.6 ± 0.8	$0.608 \ (0.01)^*$	0.192 (0.002)*	0.674 (0.01)*
	CG	2.2 ± 0.9	2.0 ± 0.8	2.0 ± 0.8			
	TENS-PNF	7.5 ± 1.8	10.1 ± 1.2	10.2 ± 1.2			
Knee to wall (cm)	PNF	6.7 ± 0.8	7.5 ± 0.9	7.2 ± 1.0	0.661 (0.01)*	0.482 (0.01)*	0.661 (0.01)*
	CG	7.0 ± 0.8	7.1 ± 0.8	7.1 ± 0.8			
	TENS-PNF	2.1 ± 1.2	0.5 ± 0.5	0.4 ± 0.5			
Dorsi proprioception	PNF	1.8 ± 1.0	1.5 ± 1.0	1.5 ± 1.0	0.438 (0.01)*	0.141 (0.01)*	0.390 (0.01)*
	CG	1.9 ± 1.0	1.8 ± 1.0	1.8 ± 1.0			
	EG 1	2.5 ± 1.7	0.2 ± 0.5	0.2 ± 0.5			
Plantar proprioception	PNF	2.2 ± 1.9	1.9 ± 1.0	1.9 ± 1.1	0.520 (0.01)*	0.244 (0.01)*	0.439 (0.01)*
	CG	2.4 ± 1.2	2.4 ± 1.3	2.4 ± 1.2			
	TENS-PNF	15.9 ± 1.5	18.6 ± 1.8	18.7 ± 1.8			
Dorsiflexion ROM	PNF	16.4 ± 1.8	17.2 ± 1.9	18.7 ± 1.8	0.655 (0.01)*	$0.064 (0.15)^{\#}$	0.622 (0.01)*
	CG	16.7 ± 1.7	16.8 ± 1.9	16.8 ± 1.8			
	TENS-PNF	36.4 ± 3.9	43.5 ± 3.7	43.6 ± 3.9			
Plantarflexion ROM	PNF	38.5 ± 3.3	39.9 ± 3.4	39.3 ± 3.0	0.729 (0.01)*	0.148 (0.01)*	0.693 (0.01)*
	CG	37.3 ± 4.0	37.5 ± 4.1	37.5 ± 4.3			
	TENS-PNF	11.1 ± 1.8	13.9 ± 1.7	13.9 ± 1.7			
Dorsiflexion MS	PNF	11.2 ± 0.8	11.7 ± 0.7	11.6 ± 0.6	0.741 (0.01)*	0.298 (0.01)*	0.736 (0.01)*
	CG	11.1 ± 0.8	11.3 ± 0.8	11.3 ± 0.8			
	TENS-PNF	13.2 ± 1.7	17.1 ± 1.7	17.1 ± 1.7			
Plantarflexion MS	PNF	14.5 ± 0.9	15.1 ± 0.9	14.9 ± 1.0	0.594 (0.01)*	0.218 (0.01)*	0.541 (0.01)*
	CG	14.1 ± 1.4	14.3 ± 1.5	14.2 ± 1.5			
	TENS-PNF	94.3 ± 2.5	98.4 ± 1.9	98.6 ± 1.7			
FADI score	PNF	4.7 ± 3.5	5.3 ± 3.4	95.3 ± 3.4	$0.678 \ (0.01)^*$	$0.078\left(0.098 ight)^{\#}$	0.651 (0.01)*
	CG	5.3 ± 3.8	5.5 ± 3.7	95.5 ± 3.7			

TABLE 2: Summary of statistical results of the mixed ANOVA and pooled means and standard deviations of all variable measures.

VAS: Visual Analogue Scale; ROM: range of motion; MS: muscle strength; FADI: the Foot and Ankle Disability Index score. *Significant effect ($p \le 0.05$). *Nonsignificant.

group, or time \times group interaction effect for the variables. There comparison before and after treatment showed a significant difference between the time and measurements, as shown in Figures 5 and 6 for all the variables.

4. Discussion

Many studies have reported various types of stretching techniques and methods to address musculoskeletal problems and the impacts those problems have on sports performance and disability testing [42]. Studies reported that a minimum of 2-minute stretching of the gastrocnemius significantly produces an ROM increase and a decrease of stiffness in the muscle-tendon unit [43]. Several reports which indicated stretching conditions and methods of application have also examined time parameters [44]. Furthermore, many protocols based on the published results of previous studies have been found to contradict the results of those studies; therefore, the authors of this study selected a PNF stretching protocol from previously published research [45].

In a study conducted on young anterior knee pain subjects using TENS and PNF technique, it was concluded that pre- to postintervention the pain pressure threshold values decreased corresponding to pain similar to other studies, and also an increase in ROM values proved muscle relaxation and the significant change they observed from pre to 6-minute posttreatment values was in functional vertical jump demonstrating the effect on muscle performances for both the TENS group and the PNF group [46]. Various studies have provided mixed conclusions on the effect of

	Group 1	Mean	(standard dev	viation)	Mixed	Mixed ANOVA (p value)		
Balance	(TENS-PNF) Group 2 (PNF) Control group (CG)	Pre	3 rd week	5 th week	Interaction (group and time) effect η_p^2 (<i>p</i> value)	Group (G) effect η_p^2 (p value)	Time (<i>T</i>) effect η_p^2 (<i>p</i> value)	
	TENS-PNF	78.2 ± 2.5	81.9 ± 3.1	82.5 ± 2.6				
SEBT anterior	PNF	68.5 ± 3.9	70.2 ± 4.1	69.4 ± 4.2	0.613 (0.01)*	0.593 (0.01)*	0.670 (0.01)*	
	CG	70.5 ± 5.9	70.7 ± 7.0	70.8 ± 7.3				
	TENS-PNF	92.4 ± 3.1	96.1 ± 3.1	96.3 ± 3.1				
SEBT posterior	PNF	91.2 ± 4.6	92.4 ± 4.5	92.3 ± 4.7	0.655 (0.01)*	0.136 (0.01)*	0.710 (0.01)*	
	CG	90.7 ± 5.4	90.9 ± 5.3	91.0 ± 5.2				
	TENS-PNF	95.7 ± 3.5	99.8 ± 4.1	100.1 ± 4.1				
SEBT medial	PNF	96.9 ± 3.7	98.3 ± 3.5	98.1 ± 3.7	0.727 (0.01)*	$0.043~(0.28)^{\#}$	0.758 (0.01)*	
	CG	96.6 ± 3.5	96.8 ± 3.3	96.7 ± 3.4				
	TENS-PNF	89.1 ± 5.9	92.1 ± 5.9	92.2 ± 5.7				
SEBT lateral	PNF	92.9 ± 4.7	93.9 ± 4.2	93.4 ± 4.1	0.607 (0.01)*	$0.033 (0.38)^{\#}$	0.624 (0.01)*	
	CG	91.6 ± 5.5	91.8 ± 5.4	91.8 ± 5.1				
	TENS-PNF	74.9 ± 4.7	77.0 ± 4.6	77.3 ± 4.7				
SEBT anterolateral	PNF	75.1 ± 3.9	76.4 ± 3.8	75.6 ± 4.0	0.653 (0.01)*	0.001 (0.96)#	0.671 (0.01)*	
	CG	75.8 ± 4.1	76.1 ± 4.0	76.1 ± 4.0				
	TENS-PNF	84.2 ± 5.8	88.1 ± 5.9	88.7 ± 5.8				
SEBT anteromedial	PNF	83.1 ± 5.7	84.3 ± 5.7	84.2 ± 5.4	0.562 (0.01)*	$0.062 (0.15)^{\#}$	0.602 (0.01)*	
	CG	83.8 ± 5.7	84.1 ± 5.8	84.1 ± 5.8				
	TENS-PNF	95.1 ± 3.0	98.6 ± 2.4	98.9 ± 2.4				
SEBT posterolateral	PNF	95.6 ± 2.9	96.7 ± 3.2	96.3 ± 3.4	0.678 (0.01)*	0.118 (0.02)*	0.703 (0.01)*	
	CG	94.9 ± 2.8	95.1 ± 2.9	95.1 ± 2.9				
	TENS-PNF	96.9 ± 2.6	102.1 ± 4.0	102.3 ± 4.0				
SEBT posteromedial	PNF	96.8 ± 2.8	98.3 ± 3.2	97.7 ± 3.3	0.633 (0.01)*	0.181 (0.01)*	0.638 (0.01)*	
	CG	96.9 ± 3.3	97.2 ± 3.0	97.1 ± 3.0				

TABLE 3: Summary of statistical results of the mixed ANOVA and means and standard deviations of balance.

SEBT: Star Excursion Balance Test. *Significant effect ($p \le 0.05$). *Nonsignificant.

PNF stretching and the permanence of ROM gains. For example, one study reported that ROM improvements were not immediately significant 6 minutes after 5 repetitions of PNF stretching [47].

Another study, however, concluded that even after a single repetition of PNF stretching, ROM was significantly higher than baseline values. This improvement was evident 90 minutes after cessation of intervention for the muscle groups stretched [48]. Several other studies have also noted that ROM increments decrease quite sharply once intervention ceases [47, 49] and therefore recommend that PNF stretching should be conducted at least once or twice weekly. The present study's results show that ROM significantly increased when combining the TENS and PNF intervention 4 times per week for 3 weeks, and the gained ROM did not decline, which was observed in the follow-up assessment. Karasuno et al.'s [18] results support the present study; they concluded that TENS combined with stretching is effective in reducing pain and decreasing the muscle hardness, ultimately increasing the ROM.

TENS causes elicited muscle contractions and also allows for the activation of a greater proportion of type II muscle fibers compared to volitional exercise at comparable intensity [50–52]. Kang et al. [53] suggested that TENS, when applied directly to the skin overlying the gastrocnemius (calf muscle), is effective in improving balance for healthy adults, which concurs with the results of the present study. TENS not only improves strength but also increases joint position sense and balance [54]. The present study used TENS in combination with PNF stretching and found significant improvement in strength, balance, and proprioception compared to PNF and CG.

The results of a randomized controlled trial for children with hamstring syndrome who were given stretching combined with TENS indicated that the said combination produced better results than a protocol without TENS combinations [55]. A similar study also proved that TEN-PNF significantly improved flexibility of the hamstring muscles [39]. Another study applied TENS combined with PNF stretching for the hamstring muscles in volleyball players,



FIGURE 5: Mean values of the group and time interaction effect of the outcome variables measured at the pre, 3rd week, and 5th week for Star Excursion Balance Test (SEBT). A: anterior; P: posterior; M: medial; L: lateral; AM: anteromedial; AL: anterolateral; PM: posteromedial; PL: posterolateral.



FIGURE 6: Mean values of the group and time interaction effect of the outcome variables measured at pre, 3rd week, and 5th week for pain, flexibility, proprioception, range of motion, muscle strength, and functional limitation. VAS: Visual Analogue Scale; ROM: range of motion.

following a very similar design [56]. Similar results were found in a study conducted for healthy women to achieve flexibility gains on their hamstrings that found that there was no increase in muscle flexibility compared to the group which did not receive TENS; based on their findings, they concluded that the combination of TENS and stretching decreases the resistance imposed by neurological and viscoelastic properties and will significantly increase muscle flexibility compared to an isolated technique [57]. The present study results also concur with the previous studies, proving that flexibility significantly improved with combination of TEN-PNF. It can be held that TENS-PNF showed a significant difference and improvement attributable to the autogenic inhibition reflex, which is the reflex produced when a Golgi organ registers an increase in muscle tension. In our case, contraction in the PNF later provokes a reflex relaxation of the muscles [58]. This reflex may be triggered more when using the TENS because of its unique electrical stimulation that can trigger a tetanic contraction, simultaneously improving muscle strength and increasing tension in the Golgi organ [59]. Considering the evidence indicating that TENS could play an important role in stretching programs, the present study contributes to the existing evidence in favor of PNF combined with TENS for the triceps sural muscle, and the results of the present study support these earlier works.

The results of the present randomized controlled trial suggest that the use of TENS low-frequency currents improved the results of PNF stretching when applied directly to the triceps sural muscle and, therefore, that the results obtained with this stretching modality are significant. The study was conducted with male subjects only. A comparison study with females to understand the response to PNF stretching, with and without low-frequency electrical stimulation, should also be examined. The present study was only conducted for subjects participating in recreational sports; results may differ for professional athletes.

5. Conclusions

The present study showed that a 12-session treatment program, spread over 3 weeks, triceps sural muscle PNF stretching combined with TENS triggered muscle contraction during the muscle contraction phase of the PNF stretch, compared against PNF stretching, produced significant improvements in balance, proprioception, strength, and range of motion, while also yielding reducing pain for post ankle sprain subjects. It was also demonstrated that the treatment effect was sustained even after cessation of treatment to the follow-up assessment in the 5th week. For this reason, this treatment procedure will likely be helpful in rehabilitating post ankle sprain patients by improving overall function and helping build confidence in capacity for physical activity.

Data Availability

The datasets used and/or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Conflicts of Interest

All the authors declare that they have no conflicts of interests.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by King Khalid University, Saudi Arabia (Grant number: R.G.P1/167/41). The grant availed was for designing of the study, investigators, English editing services, and publication process of the manuscript. We sincerely thank the subjects who participated in our study.

References

- J. M. Hijmans, J. H. B. Geertzen, P. U. Dijkstra, and K. Postema, "A systematic review of the effects of shoes and other ankle or foot appliances on balance in older people and people with peripheral nervous system disorders," *Gait & Posture*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 316–323, 2007.
- [2] M. R. Safran, R. S. Benedetti, A. R. Bartolozzi 3rd, and B. R. Mandelbaum, "Lateral ankle sprains: a comprehensive review: part 1: etiology, pathoanatomy, histopathogenesis, and diagnosis," *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, vol. 31, 7 Supplement, pp. S429–S437, 1999.

- [3] H. Polzer, K. G. Kanz, W. C. Prall et al., "Diagnosis and treatment of acute ankle injuries: development of an evidencebased algorithm," *Orthopedic Reviews*, vol. 4, no. 1, p. 5, 2012.
- [4] P. A. F. H. Renström and S. A. Lynch, "Ankle ligament injuries," *Revista Brasileira de Medicina do Esporte*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 71–80, 1998.
- [5] J. Hertel, "Functional instability following lateral ankle sprain," Sports Medicine, vol. 29, no. 5, pp. 361–371, 2000.
- [6] C. G. Mattacola and M. K. Dwyer, "Rehabilitation of the ankle after acute sprain or chronic instability," *Journal of Athletic Training*, vol. 37, no. 4, pp. 413–429, 2002.
- [7] K. E. Wilk, C. Arrigo, J. R. Andrews, and W. G. Clancy, "Rehabilitation after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction in the female athlete," *Journal of Athletic Training*, vol. 34, no. 2, pp. 177–193, 1999.
- [8] J. M. van Ochten, M. van Middelkoop, D. Meuffels, and S. M. A. Bierma-Zeinstra, "Chronic complaints after ankle sprains: a systematic review on effectiveness of treatments," *Journal of Orthopaedic & Sports Physical Therapy*, vol. 44, no. 11, pp. 862–C23, 2014.
- [9] U. Sekir, Y. Yildiz, B. Hazneci, F. Ors, and T. Aydin, "Effect of isokinetic training on strength, functionality and proprioception in athletes with functional ankle instability," *Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy*, vol. 15, no. 5, pp. 654–664, 2007.
- [10] C. Kisner, L. A. Colby, and J. Borstad, *Therapeutic Exercise: Foundations and Techniques*, Fa Davis, 2017.
- [11] D. C. Funk, A. Swank, B. M. Mikla, T. A. Fagan, and B. K. Farr, "Impact of prior exercise on hamstring flexibility: a comparison of proprioceptive neuromuscular facilitation and static stretching," *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 489–492, 2003.
- [12] M. Knott and D. E. Voss, Proprioceptive Neuromuscular Facilitation: Patterns and Techniques, Harper & Row, 1968.
- [13] B. R. Etnyre and L. D. Abraham, "Gains in range of ankle dorsiflexion using three popular stretching techniques," *American Journal of Physical Medicine*, vol. 65, no. 4, pp. 189–196, 1986.
- [14] C. S. Cayco, A. V. Labro, and E. J. R. Gorgon, "Hold-relax and contract-relax stretching for hamstrings flexibility: a systematic review with meta-analysis," *Physical Therapy in Sport*, vol. 35, pp. 42–55, 2019.
- [15] E. J. Puentedura, P. A. Huijbregts, S. Celeste et al., "Immediate effects of quantified hamstring stretching: hold-relax proprioceptive neuromuscular facilitation versus static stretching," *Physical Therapy in Sport*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 122–126, 2011.
- [16] L. S. Chesterton, P. Barlas, N. E. Foster, T. Lundeberg, C. C. Wright, and D. G. Baxter, "Sensory stimulation (TENS): effects of parameter manipulation on mechanical pain thresholds in healthy human subjects," *Pain*, vol. 99, no. 1, pp. 253–262, 2002.
- [17] D. M. Walsh, A. S. Lowe, K. McCormack, J. C. Willer, G. D. Baxter, and J. M. Allen, "Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation: effect on peripheral nerve conduction, mechanical pain threshold, and tactile threshold in humans," *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, vol. 79, no. 9, pp. 1051–1058, 1998.
- [18] H. Karasuno, H. Ogihara, K. Morishita et al., "The combined effects of transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) and stretching on muscle hardness and pressure pain threshold," *Journal of Physical Therapy Science*, vol. 28, no. 4, pp. 1124–1130, 2016.

- [19] J. W. Youdas, D. A. Krause, K. S. Egan, T. M. Therneau, and E. R. Laskowski, "The effect of static stretching of the calf muscle-tendon unit on active ankle dorsiflexion range of motion," *Journal of Orthopaedic & Sports Physical Therapy*, vol. 33, no. 7, pp. 408–417, 2003.
- [20] H.-y. Cho, E.-h. Kim, B. Kim et al., "Effects of repetitive high frequency transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (HF-TENS) on spasticity and motor function following spinal cord injury in rats," *Journal of Physical Therapy Science*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 133–137, 2012.
- [21] S. S. M. Ng and C. W. Y. Hui-Chan, "Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation combined with task-related training improves lower limb functions in subjects with chronic stroke," *Stroke*, vol. 38, no. 11, pp. 2953–2959, 2007.
- [22] H.-Y. Cho, T. Sung in, K. Hun Cho, and C. Ho Song, "A single trial of transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) improves spasticity and balance in patients with chronic stroke," *The Tohoku Journal of Experimental Medicine*, vol. 229, no. 3, pp. 187–193, 2013.
- [23] H.-Y. Cho, S. H. Lee, T. S. In, K. J. Lee, and C. H. Song, "Effects of transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) on changes in postural balance and muscle contraction following muscle fatigue," *Journal of Physical Therapy Science*, vol. 23, no. 6, pp. 899–903, 2011.
- [24] J. Hopkins, C. D. Ingersoll, J. Edwards, and T. E. Klootwyk, "Cryotherapy and transcutaneous electric neuromuscular stimulation decrease arthrogenic muscle inhibition of the vastus medialis after knee joint effusion," *Journal of Athletic Training*, vol. 37, no. 1, pp. 25–31, 2002.
- [25] D. A. Delgado, B. S. Lambert, N. Boutris et al., "Validation of digital visual analog scale pain scoring with a traditional paper-based visual analog scale in adults," *JAAOS: Global Research and Reviews*, vol. 2, no. 3, p. e088, 2018.
- [26] P. J. Plisky, P. P. Gorman, R. J. Butler, K. B. Kiesel, F. B. Underwood, and B. Elkins, "The reliability of an instrumented device for measuring components of the star excursion balance test," *North American journal of sports physical therapy: NAJSPT*, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 92–99, 2009.
- [27] M. Hadadi and F. Abbasi, "Comparison of the effect of the combined mechanism ankle support on static and dynamic postural control of chronic ankle instability patients," *Foot & Ankle International*, vol. 40, no. 6, pp. 702–709, 2019.
- [28] J. Hertel, R. A. Braham, S. A. Hale, and L. C. Olmsted-Kramer, "Simplifying the star excursion balance test: analyses of subjects with and without chronic ankle instability," *Journal of Orthopaedic & Sports Physical Therapy*, vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 131–137, 2006.
- [29] M. C. Hoch and P. O. McKeon, "Normative range of weightbearing lunge test performance asymmetry in healthy adults," *Manual Therapy*, vol. 16, no. 5, pp. 516–519, 2011.
- [30] T. Willems, E. Witvrouw, J. Verstuyft, P. Vaes, and D. de Clercq, "Proprioception and muscle strength in subjects with a history of ankle sprains and chronic instability," *Journal of Athletic Training*, vol. 37, no. 4, pp. 487–493, 2002.
- [31] K. A. Alahmari, V. N. Kakaraparthi, R. S. Reddy et al., "Combined effects of strengthening and proprioceptive training on stability, balance, and proprioception among subjects with chronic ankle instability in different age groups: evaluation of clinical outcome measures," *Indian Journal of Orthopaedics*, vol. 54, pp. 1–10, 2020.
- [32] B. S. Uh, B. D. Beynnon, B. V. Helie, D. M. Alosa, and A. Renstrom, "The benefit of a single-leg strength training pro-

gram for the muscles around the untrained ankle: a prospective, randomized, controlled study," *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, vol. 28, no. 4, pp. 568–573, 2017.

- [33] P. Tavares, V. Landsman, and L. Wiltshire, "Intra-examiner reliability of measurements of ankle range of motion using a modified inclinometer: a pilot study," *The Journal of the Canadian Chiropractic Association*, vol. 61, no. 2, pp. 121–127, 2017.
- [34] A. Ancillao, E. Palermo, and S. Rossi, "Validation of ankle strength measurements by means of a hand-held dynamometer in adult healthy subjects," *Journal of Sensors*, vol. 2017, Article ID 5426031, 8 pages, 2017.
- [35] R. L. Martin and J. J. Irrgang, "A survey of self-reported outcome instruments for the foot and ankle," *Journal of Orthopaedic & Sports Physical Therapy*, vol. 37, no. 2, pp. 72–84, 2007.
- [36] M. C. Tanigawa, "Comparison of the hold-relax procedure and passive mobilization on increasing muscle length," *Physical Therapy*, vol. 52, no. 7, pp. 725–735, 1972.
- [37] V. L. Saliba, G. S. Johnson, and C. Wardlaw, "Proprioceptive neuromuscular facilitation," in *Rational manual therapies*, J. Basmajian and R. Nyberg, Eds., pp. 243–284, Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins, 1993.
- [38] M. Esnault and É. Viel, Stretching Estiramientos de las Cadenas Musculares, Elsevier, España, 2003.
- [39] A. Pérez-Bellmunt, O. Casasayas, R. Navarro et al., "Effectiveness of low-frequency electrical stimulation in proprioceptive neuromuscular facilitation techniques in healthy males: a randomized controlled trial," *The Journal of Sports Medicine and Physical Fitness*, vol. 59, no. 3, pp. 469–475, 2019.
- [40] E. A. Hall, C. L. Docherty, J. Simon, J. J. Kingma, and J. C. Klossner, "Strength-training protocols to improve deficits in participants with chronic ankle instability: a randomized controlled trial," *Journal of Athletic Training*, vol. 50, no. 1, pp. 36–44, 2015.
- [41] L. Lazarou, N. Kofotolis, P. Malliou, and E. Kellis, "Effects of two proprioceptive training programs on joint position sense, strength, activation and recurrent injuries after ankle sprains," *Isokinetics and Exercise Science*, vol. 25, no. 4, pp. 289–300, 2017.
- [42] P. Page, "Current concepts in muscle stretching for exercise and rehabilitation," *International Journal of Sports Physical Therapy*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 109–119, 2012.
- [43] S. Matsuo, S. Suzuki, M. Iwata et al., "Acute effects of different stretching durations on passive torque, mobility, and isometric muscle force," *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, vol. 27, no. 12, pp. 3367–3376, 2013.
- [44] R. Akagi and H. Takahashi, "Acute effect of static stretching on hardness of the gastrocnemius muscle," *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, vol. 45, no. 7, pp. 1348–1354, 2013.
- [45] J. E. Stevens-Lapsley, J. E. Balter, P. Wolfe, D. G. Eckhoff, and W. M. Kohrt, "Early neuromuscular electrical stimulation to improve quadriceps muscle strength after total knee arthroplasty: a randomized controlled trial," *Physical Therapy*, vol. 92, no. 2, pp. 210–226, 2012.
- [46] M. C. Valenza, I. Torres-Sánchez, I. Cabrera-Martos, G. Valenza-Demet, and M. Cano-Cappellacci, "Acute effects of contract-relax stretching vs. TENS in young subjects with anterior knee pain: a randomized controlled trial," *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, vol. 30, no. 8, pp. 2271– 2278, 2016.
- [47] S. G. Spernoga, T. L. Uhl, B. L. Arnold, and B. M. Gansneder, "Duration of maintained hamstring flexibility after a one-time,

modified hold-relax stretching protocol," *Journal of Athletic Training*, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 44–48, 2001.

- [48] M. Möller, J. Ekstrand, B. Öberg, and J. Gillquist, "Duration of stretching effect on range of motion in lower extremities," *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, vol. 66, no. 3, pp. 171–173, 1985.
- [49] P. W. McCarthy, J. P. Olsen, and I. H. Smeby, "Effects of contract-relax stretching procedures on active range of motion of the cervical spine in the transverse plane," *Clinical biomechanics*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 136–138, 1997.
- [50] S. A. Binder-Macleod, E. E. Halden, and K. A. Jungles, "Effects of stimulation intensity on the physiological responses of human motor units," *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, vol. 27, no. 4, pp. 556–565, 1995.
- [51] D. R. Sinacore, A. Delitto, D. S. King, and S. J. Rose, "Type II fiber activation with electrical stimulation: a preliminary report," *Physical Therapy*, vol. 70, no. 7, pp. 416–422, 1990.
- [52] M. Knaflitz, R. Merletti, and C. J. De Luca, "Inference of motor unit recruitment order in voluntary and electrically elicited contractions," *Journal of Applied Physiology*, vol. 68, no. 4, pp. 1657–1667, 1990.
- [53] M.-K. Kang, B.-R. Nam, Y.-S. Lee, and S.-H. Cheon, "Relationship between the application of TENS to the lower limbs and balance of healthy subjects," *Journal of Physical Therapy Science*, vol. 25, no. 9, pp. 1079–1081, 2013.
- [54] E. S. Demneh, S. F. Tyson, C. J. Nester, and G. Cooper, "The effect of transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) applied to the foot and ankle on strength, proprioception and balance: a preliminary study," *Clinical Research on Foot* & Ankle, vol. 3, no. 2, 2015.
- [55] F. Piqueras-Rodríguez, A. Palazón-Bru, and V. F. Gil-Guillén, "Effectiveness analysis of active stretching versus active stretching plus low-frequency electrical stimulation in children who play soccer and who have the short hamstring syndrome," *Clinical Journal of Sport Medicine*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 59–68, 2016.
- [56] M. d. H. Lora and F. d. B. S. Corrales, La Electroestimulación como Medio para la Mejora de la Flexibilidad, Efdeportes. com, 101, 2006.
- [57] A. Maciel and S. Câmara, "Influência da estimulação elétrica nervosa transcutânea (TENS) associada ao alongamento muscular no ganho de flexibilidade," *Brazilian Journal of Physical Therapy*, vol. 12, no. 5, pp. 373–378, 2008.
- [58] M. J. Sharman, A. G. Cresswell, and S. Riek, "Proprioceptive neuromuscular facilitation stretching," *Sports Medicine*, vol. 36, no. 11, pp. 929–939, 2006.
- [59] G. Deley and N. Babault, "Could low-frequency electromyostimulation training be an effective alternative to endurance training? An overview in one adult," *Journal of sports science* & medicine, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 444–450, 2014.



Research Article

Measurement of Bone Mineral Density in Children with Cerebral Palsy from an Ethical Issue to a Diagnostic Necessity

Jasmin S. Nurković,^{1,2} Pavle Petković,^{2,3} Danijela Tiosavljević,⁴ and Radiša Vojinović^{2,3}

¹Center for Regeneration and Rehabilitation, Novi Pazar, Serbia

²*Radiology Department, Faculty of Medical Sciences, University of Kragujevac, Serbia*

⁴Department of Humanities, Medical Faculty, University of Belgrade, Serbia

Correspondence should be addressed to Jasmin S. Nurković; jnurkovic@gmail.com

Received 14 June 2020; Revised 28 August 2020; Accepted 8 September 2020; Published 21 September 2020

Academic Editor: Danilo Sales Bocalini

Copyright © 2020 Jasmin S. Nurković et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Introduction. Due to concerns about cumulative radiation exposure in the pediatric population, it is not standard practice to perform dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) analysis in the diagnostic process of musculoskeletal disorders, such as cerebral palsy (CP). This study aimed to evaluate the bone mineral density (BMD) in children with CP and the ethical justification of applying DXA analysis in these children. *Material and Methods*. In this monocentric retrospective analysis, data were collected from children and adolescents with CP who were treated for a primary illness for three years. A clinical examination, which included a DXA analysis, recommended by the multidisciplinary team, was performed. After applying inclusion and exclusion criteria, 60 scans remained for statistical analysis. BMD and Z-scores for the lumbar spine (LS), and hip right and left femoral neck (RFN and LFN, respectively), and total hip (TH) were recorded. *Results*. The average age of children with CP when DXA analysis was first performed was about 7 years. The BMD (mean ± SD) at LS (LS-BMD) of all patients was 0.612 ± 0.12 , at RFN 0.555 ± 0.11 , at LFN 0.572 ± 0.1 , and at TH (TH-BMD) 0.581 ± 0.13 . The values of the Z-score (mean ± SD) at LS of all patients were -2.5 ± 0.22 , at RFN -2.2 ± 0.21 , at LFN -2.25 (SD = 0.2), and at TH -2.3 (SD = 0.23). There was no statistical significance between age and gender; however, BMI, walking ability, fracture history, and pattern of CP had a significant impact on BMD and Z-score values of these children. *Conclusion*. The results of our study clearly indicate that children with CP have a higher risk of low BMD, osteoporosis, and bone fractures, which makes it ethically justifiable to perform the DXA analysis in these children.

1. Introduction

The current standard for measuring bone mineral density (BMD) is dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA), due to its availability, accuracy, ease of repetition, and patients' low X-ray exposure [1]. Using DXA analysis in pediatric population is complex, because of the bone mineral density changes during the process of growth and development. Children have not achieved their final bone mineral density; thus, every obtained result needs to be compared to the average value for the same sex and age (*Z*-score), which means that the results vary at different ages, unlike adults, whose measured BMD value is compared to one standard, an "ideal" value for a grown, mature person (*T* score) [2]. Children of the same

age can differ in skeletal maturity, which further adds complexity to the interpretation of DXA results. In children who have musculoskeletal disorders, e.g., cerebral palsy (CP), DXA analysis becomes even more challenging [3, 4].

CP is a term used for describing abnormal motor development of central origin, and it is the most prominent neurological disorder that occurs in childhood and continues into adulthood [5]. In developed countries, the incidence of this disorder is about 2 per 1000 live births. 70-80% of cases have a prenatal, unknown cause, while a smaller percentage occurs due to labor complications and problems in the early neonatal period [6]. CP patients have lower life expectancy compared to the general population, especially when severe complications and comorbidities are present [7]. Children with CP face

³Radiology Department, Clinical Center Kragujevac, Serbia

nt: good bone structure and strengthe

numerous complications during their development: gastroesophageal reflux, aspiration syndromes, respiratory infections, seizures, and muscle contractures. In addition, aging-associated diseases like atherosclerosis, osteoporosis, sarcopenia, osteoarthritis, and dementia are more pronounced and occur earlier in CP patients, due to their static lifestyle. It is known that bone fractures are not a direct cause of death; however, their influence on morbidity is high [8]; therefore, measuring BMD is an important diagnostic procedure [9, 10]. For low BMD-related fracture risk, osteoporosis assessment, and therapeutic possibilities are less defined, compared to adult population. However, in the last years, there has been progress regarding diagnostics and diagnostic classification of reduced BMD in children. International Society of Clinical Densitometry (ISCD) defined parameters for osteoporosis in children in 2008 [11].

In children, osteoporosis diagnosis is based on two criteria: (1) the presence of low BMD with a Z-score lower than -2.0 and (2) presence of fracture history (long bones of the upper and lower extremities, compression fractures of the vertebrae) [11, 12]. Certain researchers consider that the term "osteopenia" should be avoided in children and that referring to Z-score results between 0 and -2 as "low BMD" is more appropriate [11]. Risk factors for low BMD values in children with CP are low weight, anticonvulsive therapy, poor nutrition, and inadequate sun exposure [10–12]. The incidence of bone fractures in children with a severe form of CP is 7-9.7% per year, with fractures of the lower extremity of the femur being the most common.

Every pediatric X-ray exam, especially in those with psychomotor development impairments, represents an ethical dilemma, and the benefit of a diagnostic or therapeutic procedure must outweigh the risks of the procedure itself [13]. Applying the principles of informed consent in pediatric healthcare involves consent by the parent/guardian, as well as the consent of a child older than 15. Consent should be the result of a continuous interactive communication between the health care providers, the child, and the parent/guardian. In the process of obtaining consent, health care providers are obliged to include the child in decision-making, according to its maturity and cognitive abilities, and provide the child, as well as the parent/guardian, with a form and amount of information that would be comprehensive and clear. Older children and adolescents, without cognitive deficits, have a right to independently consent to a suggested medical procedure, provided they are adequately informed about all the aspects of it by the health care provider. In the case of them declining the medical procedure, the health care provider is obliged to ask the patient's legal guardian for consent [13].

In case of DXA analysis, for spinal and femoral scanning, the effective radiation dose varies between $0.5 \,\mu$ Sv and $15 \,\mu$ S for adults, while, in children, these values are higher and can reach 20 μ S [14]. By comparison, the average effective dose acquired by each individual from natural sources is about 10 μ S. The usual duration of a scan for cooperative children is about 1 minute for the lumbar spine and 5-7 minutes for the whole body [10, 14].

Numerous studies have shown that physical exercise can improve bone metabolism, increase BMD and BMC, provide good bone structure and strengthen bone mass [15–17]. Therefore, physical and kinesitherapy treatment, which is an integral part of the treatment of these children, is very important, both because of the stimulation of motor development and the improvement of BMD.

This study aimed to evaluate the BMD in children with CP and ethical justification of applying DXA analysis in these children. Our hypothesis was that the obtained data would show significantly low values of BMD and Z-score, which increases the risk of bone fractures and that it would highlight the need for an adequate treatment, which is aimed at damage prevention. Our results may favor the need for exercise and kinesiotherapy in children with CP.

2. Material and Methods

2.1. Study Design and Population. The present study is a monocentric retrospective analysis. Data were collected from children and adolescents with CP who were treated for a primary illness in a Center for Regeneration and Rehabilitation at Novi Pazar, Serbia, during a three-year period, from March 2017 to March 2020. A detailed clinical and radiological examination, which included a DXA analysis, recommended by the multidisciplinary team, physiatrist, child neurologist, radiologist and pediatrician, was carried out prior to the start of physical treatment in these children. This study was approved by our local institutional review and ethical board. All patients/caregivers provided a written informed consent to participate. All of the investigations have been conducted according to the ethical principles suggested in the Declaration of Helsinki. Measures have been made to protect the privacy of research subjects and the confidentiality of their personal information.

During the course of three years, 70 children with CP were treated in our Center. 65 DXA scans were performed. In 5 children, the analysis could not be done due to poor compliance. The inclusion criteria were diagnosis of CP, Caucasian ethnicity, age 3 to 18 years, and written informed consent to full medical examination from patients, when possible, or from their parents/caregivers. The exclusion criteria were diseases primarily involving bone metabolism or familial history of bone metabolism disorders; chronic diseases with stunted growth, e.g., renal failure; and corticosteroid or growth hormone medication. The exclusion criteria were evaluated on the basis of patient records, due to the retrospective design of the study; this represents an important limitation of our study. After applying inclusion and exclusion criteria, 60 scans remained for statistical analysis. In 2 cases, kidney disease was the reason for exclusion from this study, 3 patients had previously received corticosteroid or growth hormone medication (Figure 1).

The CP patterns were classified as hemiplegic, diplegia, triplegia, or quadriplegic, in accordance with the criteria of the Surveillance of Cerebral Palsy in Europe [18].

2.2. Anthropometry. In children who were able to stand, body length was assessed with a stadiometer (SECA[®], model No. 213, Hamburg, Germany) in 0.1 cm increments. In children who were unable to stand, a retractable metal tape was used.



FIGURE 1: Participant flow diagram.

The body weight was measured by a digital scale in 0.1 kg increments. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as a person's weight in kilograms divided by the square of their height in meters (kg/m²).

2.3. DXA Measurement and Data Acquisition. DXA scans were obtained using a HOLOGIC densitometer, model Discovery Ci, by a single medical technician. Subjects' DXA scans over a 3-year period were utilized, as this corresponded to the time that studies at our institution were performed on a single machine, modeled on the study of our colleagues from Germany and USA [19, 20]. The lumbar spine and both hips were imaged, when possible, and analyzed with the manufacturer's software. A daily calibration of the machine was done with the spine and whole body phantom and weekly calibration with the tissue bar and air scan; DXA precision determination with current staff demonstrates a coefficient of variation of $\leq 1.0\%$ at the spine and $\leq 2.0\%$ at the femoral neck.

Quality control assurance measurements were performed according to the manufacturer's recommendations. Positioning on the device and clothing of the patients were executed according to the manufacturer's instructions (Figure 2). Only measurements that were considered evaluable, e.g., without movement artifacts, were included in the analysis. BMD and Z-scores for the lumbar spine (LS), and right and left femoral neck (RFN and LFN, respectively), and total hip (TH) were recorded.

2.4. Statistical Analyses. Descriptive statistics were obtained, and the Shapiro-Wilk test was used to evaluate the normal distribution of the data. Subjects' demographic, functional, and bone density characteristics were summarized by mean (SD) for continuous variables, frequency (percentage) for nominal variables, and rates for percentage change. For group comparison, two-sample *t*-test was used for continuous variables. For gender, differences in BMD and Z-scores between girls and boys were evaluated. One-way ANOVA analysis with Bonferroni correction of variance was used to evaluate if there is a significant difference in BMD or Z-scores among the BMI groups (underweight vs. health weight vs. overweight vs. obese) and walking ability groups. Morever, a comparison between quadriplegic and other patterns of CP was performed. Changes in BMD and Z-scores



FIGURE 2: Positioning on the device and clothing of the patient was executed according to the manufacturer's instructions. Photographing and publishing a photograph of a child in this scientific paper is approved by the parents. The principles of the United Nations "Convention on the Rights of the Child" (UNCRC) and "Reporting guidelines to protect at-risk children" were respected. The rights to the photo are reserved by the authors.

TABLE 1: Participants characteristics.

	Total ($N = 60$)
Age at first DXA, years M (range)	7.6 (3.9–10.1)
≤ 11 years—prepubertal, $N = 42$ (SD)	5.2 (2.4)
>11 years—pubertal, $N = 18$ (SD)	13.8 (4.2)
Sex	
Boys, N (%)	28 (46.67)
Girls, <i>N</i> (%)	32 (53.33)
Anthropometrics	
Weight (kg), M (SD)	25.4 (8.1)
Height (cm), M (SD)	125 (44)
BMI (kg/m ²), M (SD)	16.6 (5.6)
Underweight (less than 5^{th} percentile), N (%)	12 (20)
Healthy weight $(5^{\text{th}}-85^{\text{th}} \text{ percentile}), N (\%)$	31 (51.67)
Overweight (85^{th} - 95^{th} percentile), N (%)	14 (23.33)
Obesity (greater than 95 th percentile), N (%)	3 (5)
Walking ability	
Complete immobility, N (%)	41 (68.33)
Use of walking aids, N (%)	10 (16.67)
Independent walk, N (%)	9 (15)
Fracture history	
Yes, N (%)	14 (23.33)
No, N (%)	46 (76.67)

M: mean; N: number; SD: standard deviation; BMI: body mass index.

was calculated only in subjects who did not receive pharmacologic treatment (beyond optimization of vitamin D and calcium intake).

3. Results

Demographic and medical information is presented in Table 1. The average age of children with CP when DXA analysis was first performed was about 7 years. The youngest patient was 3, and the oldest was 17 years old. Puberty, as a crucial period in the growth and maturation of children, was used to classify the children in prepubertal and pubertal


FIGURE 3: BMD (g/cm²) and Z-score of all patients (a) and in relation to puberty (b).

groups, which were then compared by their BMD and Z-score values. The age of 11 years was taken as the limit [21], and there were 42 prepubertal children and 18 older than 11 years. Of the total number of children examined, there were 28 boys (46.67%) and 32 girls (53.33%). When it

comes to anthropometric measures, the average body weight of children was about 25 kg, height (or length in immobile patients) 125 cm, and BMI in 51.67% of patients was normal. Overweight (85^{th} - 95^{th} percentile) was present in 23.33% of the children tested, with several extreme cases, 12



FIGURE 4: Continued.



FIGURE 4: BMD (g/cm²) of children with CP according to patient characteristics: (a) sex, (b) weight, (c) walking ability, and (d) fracture history; *p < 0.05.

underweight children (less than 5th percentile) and 3 children with obesity (greater than 95th percentile).

Walking ability is an important factor for proper development of the musculoskeletal system. Unfortunately, as many as 68.33% of the surveyed children did not walk, 16.67% of the children had mobility with the help of various aids, and only 15% of the respondents walked independently. There were 14 (23.33%) children with a history of fracture, and 46 (76.67%) had no bone fracture before or during the study (Table 1).

In our study, the BMD (mean \pm SD) at LS (LS-BMD) of all patients was 0.612 \pm 0.12, at RFN 0.555 \pm 0.11, at LFN 0.572 \pm 0.1, and at TH (TH-BMD) 0.581 \pm 0.13. The values of the *Z*-score (mean \pm SD) at LS of all patients were -2.5 \pm 0.22, at RFN -2.2 \pm 0.21, at LFN -2.25 (SD = 0.2), and at TH -2.3 (SD = 0.23) (Figure 3(a)). These values did not significantly deviate from previous literature data ^(8, 10, 15). A comparison of the obtained values at LS and TH regions with respect to puberty is shown in Figure 3(b). It can be seen that there was no statistically significant difference between children in prepubertal and pubertal period (Figure 3(b)).

Likewise, a comparison of BMD with respect to gender was done. There was also no statistical significance between boys and girls (Figure 4(a)). In underweight children, LS-BMD (0.388 ± 0.12) was significantly lower than that in children with healthy, overweight, and obesity values (p < 0.05) (Figure 4(b)). Similar values were observed for the TH region. Complete immobility has proven to be an important parameter for BMD values. Children who were not mobile had significantly lower LS-BMD (0.433 ± 0.12) and TH-BMD (0.431 ± 0.12) than children who used aids or were walking independently (p < 0.05) (Figure 4(c)). Statistical significance between the LS-BMD and TH-BMD values in children who had fractures (0.45 ± 0.12 and 0.46 ± 0.12 , respectively) and those without fractures (0.71 ± 0.11) was expected and is shown in Figure 4(d) (p < 0.05).

Analyzing the obtained values of Z-score against the same parameters, there was also statistical significance in patients with reduced BMI and immobility, as with those who have had fractures in the past. There was no statistically significant difference in Z-scores between boys and girls (Figure 5(a)-5(d)).

Finally, we compared values of BMD and Z-score in patients who had different clinical patterns of CP. Figure 6(a) shows that most were children with quadriplegia, as much as 56%. Diplegia was present in 20% of cases, hemiplegia was 14%, and triplegia was only 10%. Statistical analysis showed that the BMD and Z-score values were lower in children with quadriplegia (LS-BMD 0.388 \pm 0.12; TH-BMD 0.389 \pm 0.12; and LS-Z-score -2.55 ± 0.22 ; TH-Z-score -2.45 ± 0.25), compared to children with hemiplegia (p < 0.05), and there was no difference in comparison with triplegia and diplegia (Figure 6(b)).

4. Discussion

Reduction in BMD was first reported in 1994, in nine nonambulant patients with CP [22]. Several further studies have shown low BMD values in children with CP, with results ranging from 68% to 97% of the examined children [23–27]. In our study, based on the latest recommended diagnostic criteria [23, 26, 27], all of the examined children had osteopenia, i.e., reduced BMD, and 23.33% of them had osteoporosis. A percentage this high could be explained, by the families of the patients living in less-developed areas of our country, and that the majority of patients grew in poor conditions, which had a significant impact on nutrition and care of the children [28, 29].

In childhood and adolescence, around 50% of the complete adult bone mass is formed [30]. In a 2015 Chinese child and adolescent health study, insufficient bone mineral content (BMC) is a result of insufficient physical activity and inadequate nutrition [31]. Calcium, as the main component of BMC, is one of the most-researched nutrients related to bone health [32]. Children with CP have various difficulties breastfeeding, swallowing, and/or chewing, which reflect



(0)

FIGURE 5: Continued.



FIGURE 5: Z-score of children with CP according to patient characteristics: (a) sex, (b) weight, (c) walking ability, and (d) fracture history; *p < 0.05.

itself on quality and adequate food intake and BMI. Alternative feeding methods are often used: nasogastric tube or gastrostomy [33]. Our results have shown that 20% of children had a reduced body mass and total BMI (below 5th percentile for - underweight), which significantly affected the BMD and our results.

Increasing evidence shows that BMD is related to muscle function in healthy children [16]. Physical activity is of extreme importance when it comes to bone mass accumulation in children and adolescents, and it is observed that, in a certain degree, physical exercise can compensate for the lack of calcium intake [34]. Regular medium to high-intensity physical activity has a positive impact on bone health in young population [35, 36]. In a recent American Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee Report, it is recommended that children and adolescents, ages 6-17 years, have 60 minutes or more of medium to high-intensity physical activity on a daily basis [37]. The 2016 Chinese physical activity guideline for children recommends at least 60 minutes of mediumhigh intensity physical activity per day, as well [38]. It is noted that the degree of physical activity is in direct correlation with BMD level [27, 34], which our study confirms. Children with quadriplegia had very low values of BMD and Z-score, and there was a statistical significance even when compared to children with only a certain degree of motor skills. Chen et al. [16] compared the results of two studies in which the results indicate that high-level physical activity with antigravity muscle training under safety control (such as jumping under supervising and necessary support), probably produces greater bone strains (≥1,500-2,500 microstrains) or eight times the body weight in ambulatory children with CP [39, 40]. Our finding supports the hypothesis that lower motor capacity and lesser mobility existing in this group of pediatric patients can affect BMD independently of the other risk factors. In addition, weakened muscle function and lack of mechanical load, present in our patients, result in inadequate forming and modeling of the muscle tissue, which consequently leads to reduced muscular strength and abnormal bone geometry and mineral content [41]. The meta-analysis published in late 2017 shows that weightbearing exercise significantly improved the BMD in the femur compared with pretreatment values but had no effect on the BMD of the lumbar spine [42]. Mechanical stress on bone is a determinant of bone morphology, BMD, and bone strength [42, 43]. In children with CP who have difficulties in maintaining an upright position, less mechanical force is transmitted to the femurs than the lumbar spine, because mechanical stress can be imposed on the lumbar spine in a seated position.

Low BMD is asymptomatic by itself. However, fractures that can occur cause pain and significantly contribute to the comorbidity present in this pediatric population [8]. The most common location for these is the diaphysis of long bones, e.g., the distal extremity of the femur. In our study, 14 children had fractures in their medical history, which classified them as children with osteoporosis. Considering the existing issues regarding insufficient drug efficiency and difficulties in establishing optimal dosage, as well as potential adverse reactions to drugs, pathological fractures add even more complexity to the already challenging treatment course [44].

In our study population, we found no correlation between the gender and age of children with low BMD results (Figures 3–5). On the contrary, in previous studies, it was often reported that the sex and age (prepubertal and pubertal period) were correlated with low BMD in children with CP [45, 46], most probably due to differences in sex hormone levels. We have no other explanation for these characteristics having no impact on BMD in our study population, except that the hormone effect (at this age) probably had not yet begun.

Taking into account the abovementioned facts, as well as the results of our study, it is clear that children with CP have a higher risk of low BMD, osteoporosis, and bone fractures. Children with CP require radiologic diagnostic procedures more often, due to the need to monitor their hip migration in order to prevent dislocation, frequent injury, and bone/joint deformities. However, exposing them



FIGURE 6: Percent of pattern of CP (a), and BMD (g/cm²) and Z-score of all patients and in relation to pattern of CP (b); *p < 0.05.

to additional X-radiation during nonstandard procedures, such as DXA analysis, represents an ethical question. Exposure to X-radiation carries a greater risk of malignancy, especially leukemia and thyroid cancer, in children than in adult population [47]. Previous studies have shown that many healthcare providers, including clinicians, even radiologists, are unaware of potential radiation-related risks in case of excessive and unnecessary diagnostic tests [48]. In practice, the patients often undergo tests before or without consenting to a procedure. In addition, alternative diagnostic procedures intentionally remain undiscussed. The fact that it takes the effects of the procedures 5 to 20 years to manifest them adds even more complexity to the issue [49]. Medical situations most frequently provoke multiple medical and ethical principles simultaneously and require moral and ethical judgment and commitment. Given that this study adequately and in line with the legislation of the Republic of Serbia [47] applies the ethical concept of informed consent in the pediatric patient population, the medical situation involving the diagnostic application of DXA analysis in this group of pediatric patients is ethically analysed here through the double effect phenomenon, due to the above highlighted concerns about cumulative radiation exposure in the pediatric population. The "double effect" of syntagm in medical ethics describes those practices of medical professionals that are known to have, in addition to the positive, simultaneously or successively negative consequences [50]. Led by the results of this study, which open the door to great and significant therapeutic opportunities in the field of practical prevention in this patient population, we can conclude that the benefit of this diagnostic procedure outweighs the risks of the procedure itself.

According to that, the use of DXA analysis in the pediatric population of patients with CP for the purpose of determining BMD is considered as one of those medical situations where the ethical principle of beneficence (*Salus aegroti suprema lex*—well-being of the patient is the supreme law) becomes more binding than the principle of no maleficence (*Primum non nocere*—do no harm), which were simultaneously provoked.

Its rational application in this patient population, as a positive balance of benefits and harms from it, opens the possibilities for further significant action of medical professionals who achieve the best final results for their health. It is an active action of medicine towards the prevention and reduction of the risk of further damage to health, the onset of pain and suffering, a significant deterioration in the quality of life and an additional shortening of the life expectancy of vulnerable pediatric patients with CP. Therefore, according to the result of our study, we strongly recommend this diagnostic procedure in the clinical monitoring of children with CP.

There are several limitations to our study. As in similar studies of this kind [19], the present study is a retrospective analysis of data obtained as part of a standard clinical care during an intensive rehabilitation treatment. There may be selection bias because the sample of all children with CP is not representative. In addition, anamnestic or heteroanamnestic fracture data could not be fully verified. Lower limb contractures and deformities, a common finding in children with CP, can affect the height measurement and thus the BMI calculation in the study.

5. Conclusion

The present study has confirmed that CP may worsen bone health in children and adolescents. BMD and Z-score values in children with CP were significantly lower than the reference limits. Furthermore, BMI, walking ability, fracture history, and pattern of CP had a significant impact on BMD and Z -score values of these children. All this confirms our hypothesis that CP increases the risk of bone fractures and that timely diagnosis and ensuring regular and persistent kinesiotherapy would be necessary in this pediatric population. Therefore, the use of DXA analysis outweighs the potential detrimental effect of X-radiation and we strongly recommend it in the clinical monitoring of children with CP.

Data Availability

The data that support the findings of this study are available on request from the corresponding author. The data are not publicly available due to restrictions, their containing information that could compromise the privacy of research participants.

Conflicts of Interest

All authors state that they have no conflicts of interest.

References

- C. Messina, G. Maffi, J. A. Vitale, F. M. Ulivieri, G. Guglielmi, and L. M. Sconfienza, "Diagnostic imaging of osteoporosis and sarcopenia: a narrative review," *Quantitative Imaging in Medicine and Surgery*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 86–99, 2018.
- [2] N. S. Ma and C. M. Gordon, "Pediatric osteoporosis: where are we now?," *The Journal of Pediatrics*, vol. 161, no. 6, pp. 983– 990, 2012.
- [3] E. A. Szalay and A. Cheema, "Children with spina bifida are at risk for low bone density," *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research*, vol. 469, no. 5, pp. 1253–1257, 2011.
- [4] S. Stagi, L. Cavalli, C. Iurato, S. Seminara, M. L. Brandi, and M. de Martino, "Bone health in children and adolescents: the available imaging techniques," *Clinical Cases in Mineral and Bone Metabolism*, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 166–171, 2013.
- [5] K. W. Krigger, "Cerebral palsy: an overview," American Family Physician, vol. 73, no. 1, pp. 91–100, 2006.
- [6] C. P. Panteliadis, C. Hagel, D. Karch, and K. Heinemann, "Cerebral palsy: a lifelong challenge asks for early intervention," *The Open Neurology Journal*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 45–52, 2015.
- [7] J. U. Crichton, M. Mackinnon, and C. P. White, "The lifeexpectancy of persons with cerebral palsy," *Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology*, vol. 37, no. 7, pp. 567–576, 1995.
- [8] R. C. Henderson, R. K. Lark, M. J. Gurka et al., "Bone density and metabolism in children and adolescents with moderate to severe cerebral palsy," *Pediatrics*, vol. 110, no. 1, p. e5, 2002.
- [9] Y. Uziel, E. Zifman, and P. J. Hashkes, "Osteoporosis in children: pediatric and pediatric rheumatology perspective: a

review," *Pediatric Rheumatology Online Journal*, vol. 7, no. 1, p. 16, 2009.

- [10] C. M. Houlihan and R. D. Stevenson, "Bone density in cerebral palsy," *Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Clinics of North America*, vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 493–508, 2009.
- [11] C. F. J. Munns and C. T. Cowell, "Prevention and treatment of osteoporosis in chronically ill children," *Journal of Musculoskeletal & Neuronal Interactions*, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 262–272, 2005.
- [12] R. D. Stevenson, M. Conaway, J. W. Barrington, S. L. Cuthill, G. Worley, and R. C. Henderson, "Fracture rate in children with cerebral palsy," *Pediatric Rehabilitation*, vol. 9, pp. 396– 403, 2009.
- [13] Communicating radiation risks in paediatric imaging: information to support health care discussions about benefit and risk., World Health Organization, 2016, WHO website - http:// www.who.int.
- [14] J. Damilakis, J. E. Adams, G. Guglielmi, and T. M. Link, "Radiation exposure in X-ray-based imaging techniques used in osteoporosis," *European Radiology*, vol. 20, no. 11, pp. 2707– 2714, 2010.
- [15] E. Y. Han, J. H. Choi, S. H. Kim, and S. H. Im, "The effect of weight bearing on bone mineral density and bone growth in children with cerebral palsy: a randomized controlled preliminary trial," *Medicine (Baltimore)*, vol. 96, no. 10, p. e5896, 2017.
- [16] C. L. Chen, K. C. Lin, C. Y. Wu, J. Y. Ke, C. J. Wang, and C. Y. Chen, "Relationships of muscle strength and bone mineral density in ambulatory children with cerebral palsy," *Osteoporosis International*, vol. 23, no. 2, pp. 715–721, 2012.
- [17] J. Nurkovic, Z. Dolicanin, F. Mustafic et al., "Mesenchymal stem cells in regenerative rehabilitation," *Journal of Physical Therapy Science*, vol. 28, no. 6, pp. 1943–1948, 2016.
- [18] Surveillance of Cerebral Palsy in Europe (SCPE), "Surveillance of cerebral palsy in Europe: a collaboration of cerebral palsy surveys and registers," *Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology*, vol. 42, no. 12, pp. 816–824, 2000.
- [19] I. Duran, J. Katzmann, K. Martakis, C. Stark, O. Semler, and E. Schoenau, "Individualized evaluation of lumbar bone mineral density in children with cerebral palsy," *Archives of Osteoporosis*, vol. 13, no. 1, p. 120, 2018.
- [20] C. Marciniak, J. Gabet, J. Lee, M. Ma, K. Brander, and N. Wysocki, "Osteoporosis in adults with cerebral palsy: feasibility of DXA screening and risk factors for low bone density," *Osteoporosis International*, vol. 27, no. 4, pp. 1477–1484, 2016.
- [21] N. Brix, A. Ernst, L. L. B. Lauridsen et al., "Timing of puberty in boys and girls: a population-based study," *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology*, vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 70–78, 2019.
- [22] N. J. Shaw, C. P. White, W. D. Fraser, and L. Rosenbloom, "Osteopenia in cerebral palsy," *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, vol. 71, no. 3, pp. 235–238, 1994.
- [23] H. Tasdemir, M. Buyukavci, F. Akcay, P. Polat, A. Yildiran, and C. Karakelleoglu, "Bone mineral density in children with cerebral palsy," *Pediatrics International*, vol. 43, no. 2, pp. 157–160, 2001.
- [24] I. Esen, F. Demirel, A. Güven, A. Değerliyurt, and G. Köse, "Assessment of bone density in children with cerebral palsy by areal bone mineral density measurement," *The Turkish Journal of Pediatrics*, vol. 53, no. 6, pp. 638–644, 2011.
- [25] G. Coppola, D. Fortunato, C. Mainolfi et al., "Bone mineral density in a population of children and adolescents with cere-

bral palsy and mental retardation with or without epilepsy," *Epilepsia*, vol. 53, no. 12, pp. 2172–2177, 2012.

- [26] C. Jacob Junior, I. Machado Barbosa, J. L. Batista Júnior, R. B. Leonel, L. G. Lopes Perim, and T. G. Silva Oliveira, "Assessment of bone density in patients with scoliosis neuromuscular secondary to cerebral palsy," *Coluna/Columna*, vol. 13, no. 3, pp. 193–195, 2014.
- [27] A. Tosun, S. Erisen Karaca, T. Unuvar, Y. Yurekli, C. Yenisey, and I. K. Omurlu, "Bone mineral density and vitamin D status in children with epilepsy, cerebral palsy, and cerebral palsy with epilepsy," *Child's Nervous System*, vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 153–158, 2017.
- [28] P. R. Fischer, T. D. Thacher, and J. M. Pettifor, "Pediatric vitamin D and calcium nutrition in developing countries," *Reviews in Endocrine & Metabolic Disorders*, vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 181–192, 2008.
- [29] C. G. Neumann, C. Gewa, and N. O. Bwibo, "Child nutrition in developing countries," *Pediatric Annals*, vol. 33, no. 10, pp. 658–674, 2004.
- [30] I. M. van der Sluis and S. M. de Muinck Keizer-Schrama, "Osteoporosis in childhood: bone density of children in health and disease," *Journal of Pediatric Endocrinology & Metabolism*, vol. 14, no. 7, pp. 817–832, 2001.
- [31] "Chinese Association for Student nutrition & Health Promotion Report on nutrition and health of Chinese children and adolescents 2014," *Chinese Association for Student nutrition* & Health Promotion, Beijing, 2014.
- [32] V. Tai, W. Leung, A. Grey, I. R. Reid, and M. J. Bolland, "Calcium intake and bone mineral density: systematic review and meta-analysis," *BMJ*, vol. 351, p. h4183, 2015.
- [33] J. Moreno, M. Galiano, M. Valero, and M. León, "Alimentación en el paciente con parálisis cerebral," Acta Pediátrica Española, vol. 59, pp. 17–25, 2001.
- [34] X. Yang, Y. Zhai, J. Zhang, J. Y. Chen, D. Liu, and W. H. Zhao, "Combined effects of physical activity and calcium on bone health in children and adolescents: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials," *World Journal of Pediatrics*, vol. 16, no. 4, pp. 356–365, 2020.
- [35] A. Gómez-Bruton, Á. Matute-Llorente, A. González-Agüero, J. A. Casajús, and R. G. Vicente, "Plyometric exercise and bone health in children and adolescents: a systematic review," *World Journal of Pediatrics*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 112–121, 2017.
- [36] S. I. Braun, Y. Kim, A. E. Jetton, M. Kang, and D. W. Morgan, "Prediction of bone mineral density and content from measures of physical activity and sedentary behavior in younger and older females," *Preventive Medical Reports*, vol. 2, pp. 300–305, 2015.
- [37] 2018 Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee. Physical activity guidelines advisory committee scientifc report, Department of Health and Human Services, Washington, DC: U.S., 2018.
- [38] Y. Yang, X. Yang, F. Zhai, and Y. Cheng, "Dietary guidelines for Chinese (2016)," *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, vol. 116, no. 9, p. A37, 2016.
- [39] H. M. Frost, "Defining osteopenias and osteoporoses: another view (with insights from a new paradigm)," *Bone*, vol. 20, no. 5, pp. 385–391, 1997.
- [40] R. K. Fuchs, J. J. Bauer, and C. M. Snow, "Jumping improves hip and lumbar spine bone mass in prepubescent children: a randomized controlled trial," *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 148–156, 2001.

- [41] N. Akhter, A. Khan, and A. Ayyub, "Motor impairment and skeletal mineralization in children with cerebral palsy," *The Journal of the Pakistan Medical Association*, vol. 67, no. 2, pp. 200–203, 2017.
- [42] S. J. Kim, S. N. Kim, Y. N. Yang, I. S. Lee, and S. E. Koh, "Effect of weight bearing exercise to improve bone mineral density in children with cerebral palsy: a meta-analysis," *Journal of Musculoskeletal & Neuronal Interactions*, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 334–340, 2017.
- [43] S. Takata and N. Yasui, "Disuse osteoporosis," *The Journal of Medical Investigation*, vol. 48, no. 3-4, pp. 147–156, 2001.
- [44] A. M. Boyce, L. L. Tosi, and S. M. Paul, "Bisphosphonate treatment for children with disabling conditions," *PM & R : The Journal of Injury, Function, and Rehabilitation*, vol. 6, no. 5, pp. 427–436, 2014.
- [45] A. M. Boot, M. A. de Ridder, H. A. Pols, E. P. Krenning, and S. M. de Muinck Keizer-Schrama, "Bone mineral density in children and adolescents: relation to puberty, calcium intake, and physical activity," *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology* and Metabolism, vol. 82, no. 1, pp. 57–62, 1997.
- [46] M. Horlick, J. Thornton, J. Wang, L. S. Levine, B. Fedun, and R. N. Pierson Jr., "Bone mineral in prepubertal children: gender and ethnicity," *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, vol. 15, no. 7, pp. 1393–1397, 2000.
- [47] M. S. Linet, K. P. Kim, and P. Rajaraman, "Children's exposure to diagnostic medical radiation and cancer risk: epidemiologic and dosimetric considerations," *Pediatr Radiol*, vol. 39, Supplement 1, pp. S4–S26, 2009.
- [48] G. Alzen and G. Benz-Bohm, "Radiation protection in pediatric radiology," *Deutsches Ärzteblatt International*, vol. 108, no. 24, pp. 407–414, 2011.
- [49] Government of Republic of Serbia, *Health Protection Act, Law on Healt Care (Zakon o zdravstvenoj zaštiti)*, "Official Gazette of RS", no. 25/2019, Serbian.
- [50] K. Turza, Medicine and Society Introduction to Medical Ethics. Libri Medicorum, CIBID, Faculty of Medicine, University of Belgrade, Belgrade, Serbian, 2009.



Research Article

Computer Kinesiology: New Diagnostic and Therapeutic Tool for Lower Back Pain Treatment (Pilot Study)

Pavla Honcu¹,¹ Petr Zach,^{2,3} Jana Mrzilkova¹,² Dobroslava Jandova,^{4,5} Vladimir Musil¹,⁶ and Alexander Martin Celko⁷

¹Department of Rehabilitation Medicine, Third Faculty of Medicine, Charles University, Prague, Czech Republic

²Department of Anatomy, Third Faculty of Medicine, Charles University, Prague, Czech Republic

³Institute of Physiotherapy and Selected Medical Disciplines, Faculty of Health and Social Studies, University of South Bohemia in

České Budějovice, České Budějovice, Czech Republic

⁴*MediCentrum JONA Ltd., Prague, Czech Republic*

⁵Department of Rehabilitation Medicine, University Hospital Kralovske Vinohrady, Prague, Czech Republic

⁶Centre of Scientific Information, Third Faculty of Medicine, Charles University, Prague, Czech Republic

⁷Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Third Faculty of Medicine, Charles University, Prague, Czech Republic

Correspondence should be addressed to Vladimir Musil; vladimir.musil@lf3.cuni.cz

Received 26 March 2020; Accepted 29 July 2020; Published 24 August 2020

Guest Editor: Danilo Sales Bocalini

Copyright © 2020 Pavla Honcu et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

The aim of this study was to demonstrate the effectiveness of the diagnostic and therapeutic medical information system Computer Kinesiology in physiotherapy in patients with low back pain who were not responding to conventional therapy. Computer Kinesiology is primarily intended for the diagnostics and therapy of functional disorders of the locomotor system. This pilot study population included 55 patients (Group 1) with acute and chronic back pain and 51 persons (Group 2) without back pain. The third group was a control group of 67 healthy volunteers with no evidence of musculoskeletal pathologies and no back pain. All 173 subjects were examined three times by the diagnostic part of the Computer Kinesiology method. Groups 1 and 2 were treated after every diagnostics. Group 3 was not treated. The effect was evaluated by H score. Improvements after therapy were defined by reducing the H score by at least 1 point. In Group 1, the H score decreased by at least 1 point in 87.3% (95% CI: 75.5-94.7) and in Group 2 in 78.4% (95% CI: 64.7-88.7). There was no change of distribution of H Score grade in Group 3. The improvement neither depended on gender, age, and BMI nor was it influenced by the length of the therapy. This study demonstrated a high therapeutic efficacy of the Computer Kinesiology system in patients with back pain (Group 1) and in persons without back pain (Group 2) who used the Computer Kinesiology system for primary and secondary prevention of back pain.

1. Introduction

The issue of back pain is currently a worldwide epidemic. In the United States of America, up to 100 million adults suffer from chronic back pain and their care including work incapacity and disability costs 635 billion US dollars per year [1]. Traditionally, back pain can be divided into an acute, subacute, and chronic. Nevertheless, epidemiological data show that back pain has usually a recurrent, intermittent, episodic character [2]. Prevalence and incidence of the difficulties are as follows: 50-80% of adults have their own experience with back pain during their life, and 40% of the population suffer from back pain once a year. Back pain is one of the most frequent reasons for work incapacity. Currently, back pain appears also in 12% of adolescents at the age of 11. At the age of 15, the number increases up to 50% [2].

In medicine, back pain is referred to by different names or diagnoses such as vertebrogenic algic syndrome, lumbago, sciatica, and degenerative changes of spine. The disease may have motor, sensitive, and vegetative symptoms. The stage of the disease is crucial for every condition. Acute pain lasts up to four weeks, subacute pain lasts for 4-12 weeks, and chronic pain lasts for more than 12 weeks [1, 2]. The latest recommendation of the NIH Task Force on Chronic Back Pain Standard 2015 suggests that after 40 years of examining the causes of LBP (low back pain), the diagnosis according to pathophysiological and/or pathoanatomic criteria are not beneficial [1].

In an acute phase, an accurate diagnosis can be made in less than 15% of patients. This means that 85% of back pain in the past was usually treated with nonspecific care. Simultaneous division of back pain into three groups seems sufficient. These are severe spinal pathologies, nerve root problems, and mechanical back pain-this include 85% of the patients with nonspecific back pain (©The McKenzie Institute International). Thanks to precise subjective and objective examination, an educated physiotherapist is able to distinguish this nonspecific back pain more precisely. Specification is easier thanks to the so-called centralization phenomenon which appears in 70% of acute patients and in 50% of chronic patients with LBP. The use of the centralization phenomenon for the determination of the preferred direction of movement in the therapy testifies to the quality of the care. Terminologically, *centralization phenomenon* is defined as migration of the pain from a distal segment into a proximal one, while centralization is defined as a complete removal of peripheral radicular pain as a reaction to applied therapy (position, movements, and mobilization) [3-11].

Conservative treatment of back pain can take a variety of forms, from therapy procedures of spinal manipulative therapy [12, 13], motor control exercises [14], and stabilization exercises [15] to directional preference therapy based on the abovementioned centralization phenomenon, which is a basis of McKenzie's therapy. Classification of patients according to McKenzie's system is based on motion analysis, identification of centralization, directional preference, and mechanical diagnosis [16-19]. If a physiotherapist suspects structural causes of LBP, it is necessary to refer the patient to a consultant or another specialist. Functional blockades of segments [20], muscle imbalance, postural problems, and other problem subgroups are the most frequent problems with the vertebral column [21-23]. Preference of the stabilization exercises against other therapies is not fully justified because their higher efficiency has not been demonstrated [24, 25].

Given the increasing incidence of back pain, the following general recommendations should be taken as a form of prevention: reduction of hypomobility and diversion from passive treatment methods to a patient's motivation to participate actively in prevention and treatment programs, including maintenance of daily regimen measures (drinking regimen, weight maintenance or weight reduction, and sleep patterns, as well as ergonomics of daily activities and work processes).

The aim of the current approach to address LBP growth is primary prevention and secondary prevention of back pain. Primary prevention (educational programs) is focused mainly on endangered adolescents, risk groups with postural difficulties associated with one-sided work and sport load. Secondary prevention is focused mainly on patients with recurrent back pain.

The basic characteristics of the physiotherapy discipline consist in focusing on diagnostics, treatment, and prevention of functional disorders of the motor apparatus and prevention of the development of structural disorders. Physiotherapy uses two basic principles: a good functional form of an organ and long-term disorders of a function (dysfunction) may lead to structural disorders [26–28]. In the current era of evidence-based medicine (EBM), it is necessary in physiotherapy to cope with the critical opinions of clinical medical disciplines towards subjective evaluation of disorders of the motor system functions. These facts are the prompt for searching the options of objectivization and quantification of reflex changes in the locomotor system soft tissues.

Currently, Medical Expert Information System Computer Kinesiology (MEIS CK) seems to be a new and suitable therapeutic aid for the treatment of low back pain (described in our study) that is not responding to conventional therapy (e.g., hospitalization in departments like neurology, orthopedics, and rehabilitation; complex pharmacotherapy treatment; infusion therapy; local injection under CT control; contraindications for operations; and patient's preference of conservative treatment). Primarily, this system is used for the therapy of functional locomotor disorders. Medical MEIS CK meets in a validated manner the EBM requirements for diagnostics of the motor apparatus. MEIS CK supports LBP NICE guidelines for a patient's autotherapy and individual workout [29].

Evaluation of functions in the locomotor system results in numerical outputs and graphs. The procedure of data collection in the MEIS CK system includes examination of a patient mostly in a postural load, but a part of the examinations of lower limbs is performed in a supine position on a bed. Diagnostics include 46 standard physiotherapeutic tests in total (23 on the right and 23 on the left), out of which 10 are active movements, 16 are passive movements with the limbs [30], and 20 examinations are focused on soft tissues (HAZ and trigger points) (for a more detailed description, see Materials and Methods) [31, 32]. Results of examinations were written manually in a computer application as three grades, and each test was graded with one grade (A = normal function; B = less than 50% dysfunction (slight dysfunction); or C = more than 50% dysfunction (severe dysfunction) (significant limitation of movement extent, wrong moving stereotype or inability to perform a movement, or significant changes in soft tissues). After entering all values of the tests (n = 46) into a computer, these were processed by a mathematical model included in the software program of Computer Kinesiology. The outputs of the analyses were represented by numerical values and graphs interpreting the number of reflexes coupled with a single spinal segment (the so-called horizontal concatenation of dysfunctions) and at the same time by the movement of muscular chains (the so-called vertical concatenation of dysfunctions) [31-36]. Based on the diagnostic part output, the MEIS CK system suggests therapy by manual correction (massage-performed by a trained physiotherapist) and an individual combination of daily home exercises for the patient.

In 2001, teaching MEIS CK in the postdoctoral study of physiotherapists and physicians in the Institute for Postgraduate Medical Education (Prague, Brno) was approved by the Czech Medical Chamber. MEIS CK is suitable for locomotor system dysfunction objectivization and statistical data processing. It is also used for the evaluation of spa therapy effect in spa Bohdaneč, Františkovy Lázně, Jeseník, Košumberk, Luhačovice, Mariánské Lázně, and Slatinice. In the long term, repeated examinations could be used for the evaluation of treatment progress/regress [37]. In 2017, this was done in the spa Jeseník study evaluating the effect of spa rehabilitation care. In this study, in order to evaluate our findings before and after treatment, we used a diagnostic part of MEIS CK. The results of CK diagnostics were correlated to neurohormonal levels and to Knobloch N5 questionnaire results [38-41].

The aim of this study was to demonstrate the effectiveness of the diagnostic and therapeutic Medical Expert Information System Computer Kinesiology in physiotherapy in patients with low back pain who were not responding to conventional therapy. This was carried out in two selected groups, i.e., patients with acute and chronic back pain and healthy participants without back pain. It is the first study that evaluates the effectiveness of the MEIS CK therapy in low back pain.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Characteristics of the File. The study was realized during years 2014-2018. The Ethics Committee of the Third Faculty of Medicine approved the study, and written informed consent was obtained from all participants (no. 20190001/H/1). The patients with acute or chronic back pain who were previously treated by physicians and physiotherapists without any effect (reported in the patient's medical history) and who actively sought a Computer Kinesiology (CK) workplace were placed in Group 1. The persons without back pain, who chose MEIS CK for primary prevention of musculoskeletal disorders and actively sought a CK workplace were included in Group 2. The control group, Group 3, was composed of healthy volunteers who actively sought a CK workplace. All persons were from the Czech Republic population.

A total number of 173 participants (57 men and 116 women) in this study was divided into three groups. Group 1 consisted of 55 patients with acute and chronic back pain who were treated with MEIS CK. From this group, 23 patients suffered from radicular syndrome unilaterally in the lower limbs, and 17 had evidence of intervertebral disc prolapse on MRI or CT. In Group 1, there were 24 men and 31 women; the average age was 43.7 ± 9.7 ; BMI was 26.4 ± 4.5 ; and the duration of therapy/follow-up was 70.5 ± 51.7 days. The participants from Group 2 (51 persons) chose MEIS CK for primary prevention of LBP and were treated by it. In Group 2, there were 12 men and 39 women; the average age was 47.4 ± 13.5 ; BMI was 25.6 ± 5.3 ; and the duration of therapy/follow-up was 140.9 ± 90.3 days. Group 3 consisted of 67 healthy volunteers (control group) who were not treated during this study. In Group 3, there were 21 men and 46 women; the average age was 36.5 ± 15.7 ; BMI was 25.0 ± 4.5 ; and the duration of follow-up 99.8 ± 65.4 days (Table 1).

Exclusion criteria for the participation in the study covered the following spinal conditions: infection, fracture, tumor, cauda equina syndrome, spinal cord compression and/or inflammatory disease, pregnancy, history of stroke or infarction, and multiple sclerosis. Anamnesis of all participants was acquired during the first entrance examination by a physiotherapist. Subjective assessment of the efficacy of the treatment by VAS (Visual Analogue Scale) was not performed because it could not be applied in Groups 2 and 3 (there was no LBP).

2.2. Medical Expert Information System Computer Kinesiology (MEIS CK). MEIS CK is primarily designed for the diagnostics and design of the treatment of functional disorders of the musculoskeletal system while respecting the fact that each person has its own individual norm.

The organism responds integrally to external and internal stimuli. MEIS CK depicts current disorders not only of the locomotor system itself but also reflective and segmental projection and associated distant reflex symptoms of visceral organ disorders and motor system response and metabolic response to endocrine disorders and psychosomatic effects [27, 42, 43].

MEIS CK consists of a diagnostic part and a therapeutic part. The diagnostic part was performed in all of the three groups by means of specialized tests (further on referred to as tests). The individualized therapeutic part was done only in Groups 1 and 2 according to CK principles.

2.2.1. Diagnostic Part. Numerical and graphical outputs of the diagnostic section served in designing the treatment process and checking its effectiveness. The decisive indicator of the effect of treatment is the dynamics of changes in the monitored parameters. CK diagnostics use 46 standard physiotherapy tests: ten tests of active movements (head rotation in the eye horizontal plane without head tilting or lateroflexion, trunk of body lateroflexion, and abduction and elevation of an extended upper limb-for each separately), 16 tests of passive movements (hip joint flexion with knee joint bend, hip joint flexion with extended knee joint, hip joint abduction, hip joint adduction, foot plantar flexion, foot dorsal flexion, knee joint flexion, and hip joint extension) [44], and 20 tests of palpation of reflexive changes-trigger points in selected muscles (flexor digitorum profundus, deltoid, pectoralis major, transverse part of trapezius, ascending part of trapezius, erector spinae, gluteus maximus, gracilis, iliotibial tract, and soleus) [27, 31, 32]. Each test was assessed by 3 grades: A, B, or C (such as the shortened muscle tests by Janda) [45]. Grade A is normal function, grade B is a slight dysfunction, and grade C is severe dysfunction. Evaluation of active and passive movements corresponds to Cyriax and Cyriax [46] and Kendall et al. [47]: A-range of movement is normal; B-range of movement is limited till 50%; and C-range of movement is limited by more than 50%. Similarly, we evaluated the findings of the trigger points (TP) in the muscles: A-no TP; B-muscle belly increased tension; C-presence of increased muscle belly tension and TP.

TABLE 1: Characteristics of participants in the study.

		Ch	aracteristics	
	Sex (M/F)	Age ± SD (years)	$\frac{BMI \pm SD}{(kg/m^2)}$	Follow-up ± SD (days)
Group 1	24/31	43.7 ± 9.7	26.4 ± 4.5	70.5 ± 51.7
Group 2	12/39	47.4 ± 13.5	25.6 ± 5.3	140.9 ± 90.3
Group 3	21/46	36.5 ± 15.7	25.0 ± 4.5	99.8 ± 65.4

Evaluation of TP palpation corresponds to examination rules by Travell, Simons, and Simons [48].

Each test is processed by a mathematical model included in the software program of Computer Kinesiology, version Profi Complex Start 14.1. Values were determined experimentally in correlation with spinal cord segment reflex projections and myofascial chains. The numerical outputs and graphs of the CK subroutines could thus provide information about the peaks of the faults of the locomotor system. The CK test section helps to find parts of the locomotor system that deviate the most from the physiological norm in their functions, and the diagnostic part helps to detect early functional disorders. Values of individual limits were determined experimentally. The diagnostic part of the MEIS CK system both provides the summary of numerical values of the motor system dysfunction as a whole, and predicates dysfunctions of body systems and organs. The MEIS CK system does not replace auxiliary medical examinations (laboratory tests, EMG, X-ray, CT, MRI, etc.) or classical medical differential diagnostics of organ pathology. The result of the software processing of numbers and graphs could help to consider potential causes of functional disorders of the motor system in the area of biomechanics, internal medicine, disorders of movement control, and psychosomatic causes [35].

2.2.2. Therapeutic Part. Therapy in Groups 1 and 2 always included two parts-a manual correction of reflexive changes of soft tissues according to MEIS CK on the day of diagnostics and an individual set of exercises with a special breathing regime according to MEIS CK performed by a participant twice a day (till the next check-up-selected breathing regime was second's rhythm, i.e., inspiration through the nose for 3 seconds, 2-second pause, expiration through the nose for 4 seconds, and 2-second pause. The breathing cycle was repeated 3-6 times in each position. The reason for the use of breathing exercises comes from the physiology of the brain stem reticular formation. Briefly, inspirium facilitates activity so that muscle tonus increases, while expirium facilitates an inhibitory effect on muscle tonus. This is a relatively safe method compared to other movements and could be performed even in the acute states.

Length of the therapy/follow-up was not the same for each group. In patients with acute back pain (Group 1), the time between two visits was usually shorter (according to clinical findings in the back or the leg) than in patients with chronic pain. Average therapy duration was 10 weeks. In Group 2, the interval between check-ups was usually longer than in Group 1 because the participants of this group had no clinical symptoms. Average therapy duration was 20 weeks. It was necessary to visit and treat patients with pain (from Group 1) manually and also to actualize individual exercises earlier than for participants from Group 2 (who were without pain). Time of follow-up in Group 3 was planned in between times for Groups 1 and 2. Follow-up was planned at 15 weeks (based on the MEIS system setup recommendations), but in reality, based on the discipline and circumstances of the patients, it was 14 weeks.

2.3. H Score. H Score parameter was the assessment tool of MEIS CK therapy efficacy. H Score was defined from the Total Dysfunction parameter (TD) and the presence/absence of the symptoms (lower back pain). TD is a useful marker for therapy effectiveness, and it expresses the overall sum of functional problems of the locomotor system (especially postural and biomechanical ones). Total Dysfunction is a single numerical value that shows the sum of the failures of the locomotor system, especially the posture, and the biomechanical ratios. The MEIS CK software evaluates the functional relationships of the right and left body parts in the frontal plane, the sagittal functional relations in the anterior-posterior plane, and the horizontal relations between the upper and lower body parts. The Total Dysfunction colored band graph was based on the results of the abovementioned tests and individual test results (degree of examination: A, B, or C). The TD parameter was divided into 4 different color zones (yellow, ≤59; green, 60-119; blue, 120-179; and red, ≥180-240). Three consecutive examinations were needed to evaluate the effectiveness of therapy over the course of days or weeks.

In the yellow zone (zone of ideal values), there can be persons who had almost all the test results within degree of examination A (normal function). Upon entering the study, there were no participants in the yellow zone. In the green zone, lighter functional disorders were present and tests were rated mostly A and sometimes B, and for exceptional cases, C. In the blue zone, which is represented by healthy people with functional deficits and minimal structural changes, there is a predominance of degree B and may contain degrees A and C. In the red zone, there are persons with most tests graded C (having more severe musculoskeletal disorders, e.g., acute problems and structural changes) (Figure 1).

H Score grades (0-3) were introduced because of the clinical significance of the study. The yellow zone is represented by H Score grade 0 (TD 0-59), the green zone is represented by H Score grade 1 (TD 60-119), the blue zone is represented by H Score grade 2 (TD 120-179), and the red zone is represented by H Score grade 3 (TD 180-240).

2.4. Statistical Analysis. An overview of demographic variables at baseline was presented using descriptive statistics and their 95% confidence intervals. For the baseline values of these criteria, the parametric test (Student's *t*-test or oneway ANOVA) was used for continuous variables and the Fisher's exact or chi-square tests were applied for dichotomous variables.

The improvement rate (IR), defined by at least a onepoint decrease of the H Score (improvement in one color zone of TD (see paragraph above) that corresponds to a decrease by one H Score grade (one color zone), was adopted



FIGURE 1: Illustrative graph of TD (an example of improving a person treated with MEIS CK therapy).

as the primary endpoint. This score was established for the purpose of this study, and it was composed of an objective parameter (TD, obtained from the MEIS CK) and a subjective parameter (absent or present back pain in subject).

The primary objective of the study was to confirm that the improvement rate (IR) of Group 1 (p) was not worse than Group 2 (h). The sample size was derived from the null hypothesis that the difference in the improvement rate between Group 1 (p) and healthy subjects was equal to or lower than -20%, i.e., $IR_p - IR_h \le -20\%$, including the lower limit of the 95% confidence interval at the probability of a type 1 error of 0.05 at the statistical power of 80%. The number of subjects achieved at least 50 for each group to demonstrate the aim of the study.

Effect size was considered as an "effect of the time change" with p values of effect sizes between Groups 1, 2, and 3 included in the last row of Table 2.

The sample size of 173 subjects was justified for logistic regression using 5 covariates according to Peduzzi et al. [49]. McFadden's *R*-squared approach was higher than 0.4 indicating a good predictive ability of this model for the selected predictors. The continuous variables of predictors were assessed according to the median of the entire study population. The association was evaluated with the odds ratio mutually adjusted for all selected predictors, including a 95% confidence interval.

All tests were two-tailed, and the level of significance was set at 0.05. Statistical analyses and logistic regression were performed with Prism 8 (GraphPad Software, Inc., La Jolla, California, USA) and STATA version 15.1 software (Stat-Corp, Lakeway Drive, Texas, USA), respectively.

3. Results

The average TD in all three groups before and after the therapy/follow-up is shown in Table 2. We found significant improvement of dysfunction in Groups 1 and 2 after therapy/follow-up. The average TD remained different in all three groups before the therapy/follow-up (p = 0.0003), and after (p < 0.0001). Moreover, there was a statistically significant difference between Groups 1 and 2 before (p = 0.0023), and after the therapy (p = 0.0096).

The distribution of H Score in all three groups before and after the therapy/follow-up is shown in Figure 2. A significant improvement of H Score grade was generally observed in Groups 1 and 2. The distribution of H Score in Group 1 before the therapy was grades 2 and 3; after the therapy, there was a rearrangement to grades 1 (p < 0.0001), 2 (p < 0.0001), and 3 (p < 0.0001). Out of 40 patients in grade 3 before the therapy, only 2 remained within the same grade after the therapy; a significant improvement was even observed in 17 patients after therapy, so that they moved to grades 1 and 2, respectively. Group 2 had H Score grades of 1, 2, and 3 before the therapy, but after the therapy, it only had grades 1 (p < 0.0001) and 2 (p = 0.4270); out of 25 participants who were formerly in grade 3, none remained within grade 3 after the therapy (p < 0.0001). In Group 3, H Score grades before the follow-up were 1, 2, and 3; after the follow-up, the grades were still 1 (p = 0.8161), 2 (p = 0.8571), and 3 (p = 0.6040). Obviously, in Group 1, there was a rearrangement from a higher H Score grade to a lower one. Similarly, the same thing happened in Group 2. There was no change of distribution of H Score grade in Group 3 (Figure 2).

Table 3 documents that the improvement rate was 87.3% (95% Cl: 75.5 to 94.7%) for Group 1 and 78.4% (95% Cl: 64.7 to 88.7%) for Group 2. The primary objective of this study was achieved because the difference of improvement rates between Group 1 and Group 2 reached 8.8% (95% Cl: -5.5 to 23.2%), and therefore, the null hypothesis had to be rejected. The CK therapy in Group 1 was not worse than that in Group 2.

Furthermore, the 11.9% improvement rate in Group 3 confirmed the superiority of both groups with CK therapy; the difference of the IR was 75.3% (95% Cl: 63.6 to 87.1%) between Group 1 and Group 3 and 66.5% (95% Cl: 52.8 to 80.2%) between Group 2 and Group 3.

Results in Table 4 confirmed that the other factors (gender, age, and BMI) have not influenced the result of the CK therapy.

4. Discussion

Our pilot study offers verification of the efficiency of the MEIS CK method in acute and chronic low back pain. In

	Group 1	Groups Group 2	Group 3	ANOVA	Student's <i>t</i> -test (p)
TD before	190.8 ± 23.39	176.3 ± 24.29	167.8 ± 39.52	(<i>p</i>) 0.0003 (<i>F</i>) 8.417 (DF) 172	0.0023
TD after	134.6 ± 26.06	121.9 ± 23.03	173.4 ± 40.27	(p) < 0.0001 (F) 43.4 (DF) 172	0.0096
Effect size*	56.2	54.4	-5.6	n/a	n/a
p (Student's t-test)	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.0420	n/a	n/a

TABLE 2: Mean total dysfunction.

*The difference between TD before and TD after.



FIGURE 2: Proportion of H Score before and after CK therapy (Group 1, Group 2)/follow-up (Group 3), *** *p* < 0.0001.

Predictor		Ν	п	Proportions (%)	cOR (95% CI)	aOR (95% CI)	P(LR)
	2	51	40	78.4 (64.7-88.7)	1.0	1.0	
Group	1	55	48	87.3 (75.5-94.7)	1.89 (0.67-5.32)	2.05 (0.65-6.43)	0.318
	3	67	8	11.9 (5.3-22.2)	0.04 (0.01-0.10)	0.04 (0.01-0.11)	< 0.0001

TABLE 3: Proportions and the gross and adjusted ratios of chances of improvement depending on group.

N: total number in the group; n: number of improvements in the group, proportion of improvements; cOR: rough ratio of chances; aOR: adjusted ratio of chances; P (LR): p value determined by logistic regression.

T 1 Duran sufficient sur	1 4 L			1		ſ.	1	. <u> </u>		1 1			- 41	f
I ABLE 4' Proportions and	1 TI	ne gross and	1 20	inistec	ramos o	τс	nances (m m	provement a	iene	maine	r on	orner	tactors
THELE I. TTOPOTHONO WIN		ie groot une	uu	juotee	144100 0	· ·	inanieco (JI 1111		ACP.	Junanite	, 011	ouner	incloid

Predictor		Ν	п	Proportions (%)	cOR (95% CI)	aOR (95% CI)	P(LR)
0	Male	57	35	61.4 (47.6-74.0)	1.0	1.0	
Sex	Female	116	61	52.6 (43.1-61.9)	0.70 (0.37-1.33)	0.61 (0.22-1.67)	0.509
Age	<43.7 years	86	42	48.8 (37.9-59.9)	1.0	1.0	
	≥43.7 years	87	54	62.1 (51.0-72.3)	1.71 (0.94-3.14)	0.97 (0.38-2.47)	0.991
D) (I	$<24.3 \text{ kg/m}^2$	85	44	51.8 (40.7-62.7)	1.0	1.0	
BMI	\geq 24.3 kg/m ²	88	52	59.1 (48.1-69.5)	1.35 (0.74-2.46)	0.90 (0.34-2.36)	0.716
Follow-up/therapy	<84 days	79	41	51.9 (40.4-63.3)	1.0	1.0	
	≥84 days	94	55	58.5 (47.9-68.6)	1.31 (0.72-2.39)	1.53 (0.61-3.85)	0.170

N: total number in the group; n: number of improvements in the group, proportion of improvements; cOR: rough ratio of chances; aOR: adjusted ratio of chances; P(LR): p value determined by logistic regression.

our study, 55 patients with acute and chronic back pain (secondary prevention) were treated, with an average treatment period of 71 days, and 51 healthy participants without LBP (primary prevention) were also treated, with an average treatment period of 141 days.

Treatment improvements in Groups 1 and 2 were due solely to the effect of the MEIS CK therapy. In Group 2, we treated 50% fewer men (N = 12) compared to Group 1 (N = 24) because women's interest in preventing back pain was higher.

We were successful in the improvement of conditions in 87% (48 of 55) of Group 1: 17 of 48 patients were completely deprived of back pain. In Group 1, redistribution of the H score from grade 3 to grades 1 and 2 seems to be a very important result—it means that participants were without symptoms (back pain) or functional disorders of the locomotor system were gone. Improvement in Group 2 was observed in 78.4% (i.e., 40 participants of the total number 51). Surprisingly, the H score of all 25 participants with grade 3 got better minimally by 1 grade. Participants from Group 2 with grades 1 and 2 were not patients with back pain, so MEIS CK could act as a primary means of prevention for back pain and a means of prevention for functional disorders of the locomotor system. Effect size analysis showed that treated Groups 1 and 2 had significant improvement in time.

MEIS CK is appropriate as a valid objectification tool in physiotherapy for early diagnostics and treatment of functional disorders of the motor system. Advantages of MEIS CK are as follows: standardization of tests, integral individual approach, and adequacy of the therapy considering the current condition of the patient.

Treatment of precisely selected muscles and soft tissues according to the MEIS CK algorithm helps to achieve fast reflexes and long-term therapeutic effects without adverse negative stress to the patient. Thanks to the visualization of actual findings in well-arranged charts, the patient is educated and motivated to performing everyday exercises selected individually by the MEIS CK software. Utilization of the diagnostic part of the MEIS CK system meets the WHO requirements for evidence by the EBM concept, and it can be used for the evaluation of the effectiveness of physiotherapeutic treatment procedures. MEIS CK is mostly used in outpatient practices of physiotherapists. It is also used in the frame of hospitalization in physiotherapeutic facilities and in the spa care [38–41].

Conservative treatment of back pain is subject to various physiotherapy methods worldwide. We failed to identify any single study that would deal with the treatment of low back pain similarly as the MEIS CK method, i.e., a combination of a manual correction of reflexive changes of soft tissues and physical exercise with a specific breathing regime in the second's rhythm. Next in Discussion, we present different methods that are more often used for the treatment of back pain. Unfortunately, we cannot compare our therapy results with the results of studies below.

Nonspecific low back pain is a large and costly problem. It has a lifetime prevalence in 80% of the workforce and is associated with high levels of fear avoidance and kinesiophobia. Although exercise is considered a modest effective treatment for chronic LBP, current evidence suggests that no single form of exercise is superior to another [25]. Nevertheless, stabilization exercises have been suggested to reduce symptoms of pain and disability and form an effective treatment. Meta-analysis showed the significant benefit of stabilization exercises versus any other treatment for control of long-term pain and disability with a mean difference of -6.39 (95% CI: -10.14 to -2.65) and -3.92 (95% CI: -7.25 to -0.59), respectively. There is strong evidence that stabilization exercises are not more effective than any other form of active exercise in the long term [25].

Among the other commonly used exercise interventions is motor control exercise (MCE). In 29 trials (N = 2431) with study samples ranging from 20 to 323 participants, pain intensity and disability were monitored as primary outcomes and function, quality of life, return to work, and recurrence were monitored as secondary outcomes. The overall results of the studies were that MCE is not superior to other forms of exercise and that the choice of exercise for chronic LBP should probably depend on patient or therapist preferences, therapist training, costs, and safety [50].

Motor control exercises to improve control and coordination of trunk muscles and graded activity under the principles of cognitive-behavioral therapy are examples of another 2 commonly used exercise therapies. The participants (172 patients) with chronic (>12 weeks) nonspecific LBP were randomly assigned to receive either motor control exercises or graded activity. Primary outcomes were average pain over the previous week (numeric rating scale) and function (Patient-Specific Functional Scale); secondary outcomes were disability (the 24-Item Roland-Morris Disability Questionnaire), global impression of change (Global Perceived Effect Scale), and quality of life (36-Item Short-Form Health Survey Questionnaire (SF-36)). Results of this study suggest that motor control exercises and graded activity have similar effects for patients with chronic nonspecific LBP [14].

The Back School consists of a therapeutic programme given to groups of people that includes both education and exercise. A study evaluating the effect of the Back School approach in patients with acute and subacute LBP came to the following conclusions: it is more effective than no treatment (MD: -6.10; 95% CI: -10.18 to -2.01); it has no difference at the intermediate term (MD: -4.34; 95% CI: -14.37 to 5.68) or long-term follow-up (MD: -12.16; 95% CI: -29.14 to 4.83); it reduces pain at a short-term follow-up compared to medical care (MD: -10.16; 95% CI: -19.11 to -1.22); and there are similarly many other instances showing that it has a questionable effect compared to other systems [51].

Concerning treatment effect, spinal manipulative therapy (SMT) is one of the many therapies for the treatment of LBP. There is a high-quality evidence that SMT has a small, significant, but not clinically relevant, short-term effect on pain relief (MD: -4.16; 95% CI: -6.97 to -1.36) and functional status (SMD: -0.22; 95% CI: -0.36 to -0.07) in comparison with other interventions. There is a very low-quality evidence that SMT has a significant short-term effect on pain relief and functional status when added to another intervention. Data were particularly sparse for recovery, return to work, quality of life, and costs of care. High-quality evidence suggests that

there is no clinically relevant difference between SMT and other interventions for reducing pain and improving function in patients with chronic LBP [12].

McKenzie's method is the most widely supported physiotherapeutic method by numerous studies at present. Studies on McKenzie's method (e.g., [3, 52]) reported a greater decrease in pain and disability in the short-term follow-up, while was there was no documented difference between McKenzie's method and other standard treatments in the intermediate-term follow-up. This is a similar situation with that of a study focused on the results of the Back School mentioned above [51]. Unfortunately, data on the long-term effects of McKenzie's approach are not known yet. Also, it is mentioned in both studies that there is a lack of relevant data for McKenzie's method in patients with neck pain [3, 52].

Another review showed that for LBP patients, McKenzie's therapy does result in a greater decrease in pain and disability in the short term compared to other standard therapies. But making a firm conclusion on LBP treatment effectiveness is difficult because there are insufficient data on long-term effects on outcomes other than pain and disability, and no trial has yet compared McKenzie's method to placebo or no treatment. There are also insufficient data available on neck pain patients [3].

The first limitation of this study is the duration of treatment length: we were unable to perform three consecutive MEIS CK diagnostics and therapy at the same time intervals in all treated patients (Group 1) and participants (Group 2), because patients from Group 1 with LBP came for visits earlier than healthy participants from Group 2.

Subjective pain assessment using the Visual Analogue Scale (VAS) was not utilized because it was applicable in Group 1 only (Groups 2 and 3 were with no LBP). These patients had different lengths of pain duration, and chronic patients had different recurrence rates.

Finally, despite that smoking was not in the exclusion criteria, only four out of the total 173 persons admitted history of smoking in their anamnesis. For this reason, we could not evaluate the impact of smoking on the result of MEIS CK therapy, although its negative effect on the therapy is well recognized. Therefore, we have decided to neglect this factor in our study. In addition to physiotherapy, we also checked other factors (gender, age, and BMI) that could affect the outcome of therapy. It was shown that none of these factors influenced the outcome of MEIS CK therapy.

5. Conclusion

In our pilot study, we have focused on the therapy of acute and chronic back pain by Medical Expert Information System Computer Kinesiology. Patients with back pain did not respond to the conventional treatment prior to the onset of our therapy. Apart from the group of patients treated by physiotherapy, also a group without any pain underwent the CK therapy. To them, the therapy was a primary means of prevention for back pain. We also had a healthy control group. People in this group were only diagnosed and followed in time. The dissimilar length of the therapy in treated groups was caused by the presence or absence of symptoms (i.e., back pain or radicular pain in lower limb).

The effect of CK therapy was objectively assessed by the primary H Score parameter. H Score was derived from Total Dysfunction of the motor system and the presence or absence of symptoms at the beginning and end of therapy/follow-up. Subjective assessment of the efficacy of the treatment by VAS (Visual Analogue Scale) was not performed. Apart from physiotherapy, we focused also on checking other factors (gender, age, and BMI), but none of these factors have influenced the result of the therapy. The improvement in treated Groups 1 and 2 was caused exclusively by CK therapy.

On the basis of our study, we can postulate that Medical Expert Information System Computer Kinesiology may serve as the useful diagnostic tool for functional disorders that expands visualization methods alike X-ray, CT, MRI, and also other examinations.

Data Availability

The data (two figures and four tables) used to support the findings of this study are included within the article.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

Acknowledgments

This project was supported by Charles University (Grants nos. Q16, Q35, Q41, and 260388/SVV/2019).

References

- R. A. Deyo, S. F. Dworkin, D. Amtmann et al., "Report of the NIH task force on research standards for chronic low back pain," *International Journal of Therapeutic Massage & Bodywork: Research, Education, & Practice*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 16– 33, 2015.
- [2] A. L. Nachemson and E. Jonsson, Neck and Back Pain: The Scientific Evidence of Causes, Diagnosis, and Treatment, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia, 2000.
- [3] H. A. Clare, R. Adams, and C. G. Maher, "A systematic review of efficacy of McKenzie therapy for spinal pain," *The Australian Journal of Physiotherapy*, vol. 50, no. 4, pp. 209–216, 2004.
- [4] A. Aina, S. May, and H. Clare, "The centralization phenomenon of spinal symptoms—a systematic review," *Manual Therapy*, vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 134–143, 2004.
- [5] A. Long, R. Donelson, and T. Fung, "Does it matter which exercise? A randomized control trial of exercise for low back pain," *Spine*, vol. 29, no. 23, pp. 2593–2602, 2004.
- [6] C. Hefford, "McKenzie classification of mechanical spinal pain: profile of syndromes and directions of preference," *Manual Therapy*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 75–81, 2008.
- [7] M. Werneke and S. May, "The centralization phenomenon and fear-avoidance beliefs as prognostic factors for acute low back pain," *Journal of Orthopaedic & Sports Physical Therapy*, vol. 35, no. 12, pp. 844–847, 2005.
- [8] M. W. Werneke, D. L. Hart, G. Cutrone et al., "Association between directional preference and centralization in patients

with low back pain," *Journal of Orthopaedic & Sports Physical Therapy*, vol. 41, no. 1, pp. 22–31, 2011.

- [9] S. May, N. Runge, and A. Aina, "Centralization and directional preference: an updated systematic review with synthesis of previous evidence," *Musculoskeletal Science and Practice*, vol. 38, pp. 53–62, 2018.
- [10] E. Novakova, S. May, M. Riha, and P. Kral, "Direction specific or stabilisation exercises for chronic low back pain patients," in *Random Study*, vol. 1, pp. 1–7, MDT World Press, 2012.
- [11] S. L. Edmond, G. Cutrone, M. Werneke et al., "Association between centralization and directional preference and functional and pain outcomes in patients with neck pain," *Journal* of Orthopaedic & Sports Physical Therapy, vol. 44, no. 2, pp. 68–75, 2014.
- [12] S. M. Rubinstein, M. van Middelkoop, W. J. Assendelft, M. R. de Boer, and M. W. van Tulder, "Spinal manipulative therapy for chronic low-back pain: an update of a Cochrane review," *Spine*, vol. 36, no. 13, pp. E825–E846, 2011.
- [13] S. M. Rubinstein, C. B. Terwee, W. J. Assendelft, M. R. de Boer, and M. W. van Tulder, "Spinal manipulative therapy for acute low-back pain," *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, no. 9, article CD008880, 2012.
- [14] L. G. Macedo, J. Latimer, C. G. Maher et al., "Effect of motor control exercises versus graded activity in patients with chronic nonspecific low back pain: a randomized controlled trial," *Physical Therapy*, vol. 92, no. 3, pp. 363–377, 2012.
- [15] C. Richardson, G. Jull, P. Hodges, and J. Hides, *Therapeutic Exercise for Spinal Segmental Stabilization in Low Back Pain: Scientific Basis and Clinical Approach*, Churchill Livingstone, Edinburgh, 1999.
- [16] R. A. McKenzie, *The Lumbar Spine : Mechanical Diagnosis and Therapy*, Spinal Publications, Waikanae, 1981.
- [17] R. A. McKenzie and S. May, *The Cervical and Thoracic Spine-Mechanical Diagnosis and Therapy. 2 Vol*, Spinal Publications, Waikanae, 2nd edition, 2006.
- [18] R. A. McKenzie and S. May, *The Lumbar Spine: Mechanical Diagnosis and Therapy (2 Volumes)*, Spinal Publications, Waikanae, 2nd edition, 2003.
- [19] R. A. McKenzie and S. May, *The Human Extremities: Mechanical Diagnosis and Therapy*, Spinal Publications, Waikanae, 2000.
- [20] S. May and R. Rosedale, "Prescriptive clinical prediction rules in back pain research: a systematic review," *The Journal of Manual & Manipulative Therapy*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 36–45, 2013.
- [21] K. M. Smart, C. Blake, A. Staines, and C. Doody, "Clinical indicators of "nociceptive", "peripheral neuropathic" and "central" mechanisms of musculoskeletal pain. A Delphi survey of expert clinicians," *Manual Therapy*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 80–87, 2010.
- [22] M. K. Nicholas, S. J. Linton, P. J. Watson, and C. J. Main, "Early identification and management of psychological risk factors ("yellow flags") in patients with low back pain: a reappraisal," *Physical Therapy*, vol. 91, no. 5, pp. 737–753, 2011.
- [23] A. T. Apeldoorn, H. Bosselaar, R. W. Ostelo et al., "Identification of patients with chronic low back pain who might benefit from additional psychological assessment," *The Clinical Journal of Pain*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 23–31, 2012.
- [24] P. O'Sullivan, "It's time for change with the management of non-specific chronic low back pain," *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, vol. 46, no. 4, pp. 224–227, 2012.

- [25] B. E. Smith, C. Littlewood, and S. May, "An update of stabilisation exercises for low back pain: a systematic review with meta-analysis," *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, vol. 15, no. 1, article 416, 2014.
- [26] V. Janda, Základy Kliniky Funkčních/Neparetických/Hybných Poruch, Brno, IDVSZP, 1982.
- [27] K. Lewit, Manuelle Medizin, J.A.Barth Verlag, Heidelberg, 1997.
- [28] F. Véle, Kineziologie Přehled Klinické Kineziologie a Patokineziologie pro Diagnostiku a Terapii Poruch Pohybové Soustavy, Praha, Triton, 2006.
- [29] NICE, Low back pain, NICE, 2019, August 2019, https://www .nice.org.uk/guidance/conditions-and-diseases/musculoskeletalconditions/low-back-pain.
- [30] D. A. Neumann, Kinesiology of the Musculoskeletal System. Foundations for Rehabilitation, Elsevier Inc., St. Lous, 3rd edition, 2017.
- [31] J. Dommerholt and P. Huijbregts, *Myofascial Trigger Points: Pathophysiology and Evidence-Informed Diagnosis and Management*, Jones and Bartlett Publishers, Sudbury, 2009.
- [32] D. G. Simons, "New aspects of myofascial trigger points: etiological and clinical," *Journal of Musculoskeletal Pain*, vol. 12, no. 3-4, pp. 15–21, 2010.
- [33] E. Schwarz, "Viszerale Organe und Bewegungsapparat (Wirbelsäule)," (Manuelle Medizin in Rahmen der Inneren Medizin) Rehabilitace a fyzikální lékařství, vol. 2, no. 4, pp. 152– 154, 1995.
- [34] D. Jandova, "Existence expertnich informacnich systemu ve fyzioterapii," *Rehabilitace a fyzikální lékařství*, vol. 16, no. 4, pp. 150–154, 2009.
- [35] D. Jandova, "Vertebrovisceralni a viscerovertebralni vztahy," in *Manual Rehabilitacni a Fyzikalni Terapie*, J. Vacek, Ed., pp. A4.1–A4.2, Nakladatelstvi Dr. Josef Raabe, Praha, 2011.
- [36] P. Richter and E. Hebgen, Spouštěcí Body a Funkční Svalové Řetězce v Osteopatii a Manuální Terapii, Praha, Pragma, 2011.
- [37] O. Moravek, Co Mohou Ukazat Vysledky Diagnostik Computer Kinesiology Profi Complex Start. Pracovni Material Urcen Absolventum Kurzu CK, Pardubice, JONA, 2012.
- [38] M. Bicikova, L. Macova, L. Kolatorova et al., "Physiological changes after spa treatment—a focus on endocrinology," *Physiological Research*, vol. 67, Supplement 3, pp. S525–S530, 2018.
- [39] M. Bicikova, L. Kolatorova, L. Macova et al., "Steroidal metabolomic biomarkers as an indicator of the effect of spa therapy and balneotherapy," *Rehabilitace Fyzikální Lékarství*, vol. 25, no. 3, pp. 99–108, 2018.
- [40] D. Jandova, P. Formanova, and O. Moravek, "Pre-senium as preparing period for senium—benefits of spa stay in the Priessnitz's Spa, Ltd. in Jesenik for clients 50," Acta Salus Vitae, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 42–50, 2018.
- [41] P. Honců, M. Hill, M. Bičíková et al., "Activation of adrenal steroidogenesis and an improvement of mood balance in postmenopausal females after spa treatment based on physical activity," *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, vol. 20, no. 15, article 3687, 2019.
- [42] P. R. Brumovsky and G. F. Gebhart, "Visceral organ crosssensitization—an integrated perspective," *Autonomic Neuroscience*, vol. 153, no. 1-2, pp. 106–115, 2010.
- [43] R. D. Gerwin, "Myofascial and visceral pain syndromes: visceral-somatic pain representations," *Journal of Musculo-skeletal Pain*, vol. 10, no. 1-2, pp. 165–175, 2010.

- [44] J. M. Gross, J. Fetto, and E. Rosen, *Musculoskeletal Examination*, Chichester, Wiley & Blackwell, 2015.
- [45] V. Janda, Muscle Function Testing, Elsevier Science, 2013.
- [46] J. H. Cyriax and P. J. Cyriax, *Cyriax's Illustrated Manual of Orthopaedic Medicine*, Elsevier Health Sciences, London, 3rd edition, 1996.
- [47] F. P. Kendall, E. K. McCreary, P. G. Provance, M. M. Rodgers, and W. A. Romani, *Muscles Testing and Function with Posture and Pain*, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Baltimore, 5th edition, 2005.
- [48] J. M. Donelly, C. Fernández-de-Las-Peñas, M. Finnegan, and J. L. Freeman, *Travell, Simons & Simons' Myofascial Pain* and Dysfunction: The Trigger Point Manual, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Baltimore, 3rd edition, 2018.
- [49] P. Peduzzi, J. Concato, E. Kemper, T. R. Holford, and A. R. Feinstein, "A simulation study of the number of events per variable in logistic regression analysis," *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, vol. 49, no. 12, pp. 1373–1379, 1996.
- [50] B. T. Saragiotto, C. G. Maher, T. P. Yamato et al., "Motor control exercise for chronic non-specific low-back pain," *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, no. 1, article CD012004, 2016.
- [51] P. Parreira, M. W. Heymans, M. W. van Tulder et al., "Back Schools for chronic non-specific low back pain," *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, vol. 8, no. 8, article CD011674, 2017.
- [52] B. M. Busanich and S. D. Verscheure, "Does McKenzie therapy improve outcomes for back pain?," *Journal of Athletic Training*, vol. 41, no. 1, pp. 117–119, 2006.



Research Article

Improving Physical Fitness of Children with Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities through an Adapted Rhythmic Gymnastics Program in China

Chenchen Xu^(b),¹ Mingyan Yao^(b),¹ Mengxue Kang,² and Guanting Duan¹

¹College of Physical Education and Sports, Beijing Normal University, Beijing, China ²Department of Psychology, Rutgers University, New Brunswick, NJ, USA

Correspondence should be addressed to Mingyan Yao; 3416203756@qq.com

Received 27 May 2020; Accepted 28 July 2020; Published 10 August 2020

Guest Editor: Danilo Sales Bocalini

Copyright © 2020 Chenchen Xu et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Background. Health-related physical fitness is vital for children with intellectual and developmental disabilities (IDD) to gain healthier lives. The adapted rhythmic gymnastics (ARG) program was designed for children with IDD and is aimed at testing the effects of the exercise program on children's physical fitness. *Methods.* Participants were recruited from two special needs schools in Beijing of China. Twenty-two children with IDD were assigned to an ARG experimental group or a traditional control group. The experimental group took part in a 16-week ARG program consisting of three 50 min sessions each week. And children's body composition, aerobic capacity, and musculoskeletal functioning were measured by the Brockport Physical Fitness Test (BPFT) before and after the program. *Results.* The between-group analysis revealed great improvements for the experimental group in abdominal strength (curl-up test: p = 0.025 < 0.05) and upper limb strength (dumbbell press test: p = 0.038 < 0.05). Compared to the pretest, most of the physical fitness parameters improved significantly in the experimental group except BMI, and flexibility of the experimental group children showed a substantial increase. *Conclusions.* Most of the physical fitness parameters of children with IDD in the experimental group improved significantly, especially on abdominal strength and upper limb muscle strength when comparing to the control group.

1. Introduction

It is recognized that children with IDD are poorer at all kinds of physical activities than typical development children, which in turn renders them to be less active, to have poor motor abilities, and to attempt a sedentary lifestyle. Such conditions will lead them to many chronic diseases, such as obesity or cardiovascular disease. Low physical fitness also brings negative impacts on one's ability to integrate into society [1]. However, reasons for low levels of participation in physical activity among children with IDD are complicated including physical, social, cultural, and environmental elements [2]. IDD children are unable or unwilling to attend any physical training [3]. They prefer a passive lifestyle [4]; the psychological or physiological barriers also prevent them from exerting their bodies freely [5]. Due to the lack of awareness of the positive physical effects, they have low motivation in participating in exercise [6] [7]. Children with IDD are heterogeneous, which means different children may show different responses to a training program. Therefore, it is difficult to find the feasible exercise for them. Meanwhile, social supports for participation in exercise programs are not enough, which means children with IDD have little chance to acquire the adapted exercise programs [8].

Since poor fitness seems to be the threatening factor for exacerbating the disabilities associated with children with IDD [9], aerobic physical exercise can improve fitness through ameliorating motor performance that may positively affect participants' general health and life quality [10]. Research has demonstrated that [1] aerobic physical fitness can reduce the risk of gaining weight [11], reduce the chances of metabolic risk elements [12], and improve the cognitive function of individuals with intellectual disabilities [13, 14]. Nowadays, considerable work has been tried to promote

these individuals' physical fitness through a variety of physical exercises. However, there is no standardized exercise program; the availability of recreational programs that aim at children with IDD is limited and not widely accessible [15], not to mention school-based physical exercise programs for IDD children. In China, the special needs school is the main compulsory education place for children with IDD. The special needs school enrolls various IDD forms, including children with autism spectrum disorders (ASD), intellectual disabilities (ID), Down's syndrome (DS), cerebral palsy (CP), and other multiple disabilities; the IQ scores of the school children with IDD are less than 40 points; and they are facing many cognitive problems, such as behavioral problems and health problems. Hence, school-based exercise programs are important for children with IDD to ameliorate their health-related problems in special needs schools. School-based exercise often includes the functional movements or postural tasks, such as quantities of squats, situps, long-distance running, and repeated functional movements. However, these exercises are not attractive to children with IDD and may cause antipathy. Considering this point, the exercise program in this study was deliberately designed to adapt to the physical and psychological features of IDD children to inspire their motivation by doing interesting exercise.

The ARG program was designed based on the basic gymnastics exercise and dance elements with small apparatus, which was used to develop participants' self-control, motor skills, and physical fitness. Simple, single, and combined aerobic rhythmic movements are more suitable for children with different abilities to learn, because the sense of rhythm is children's innate ability, which makes each movement more natural. It is easy to master the ARG program for young-aged participants, which makes them become confident and initiative. The most valuable finding is that the rhythmic movements combined with music are more appealing to encourage the participants to engage in various kinds of movements than other activities. None of these programs have been designed or included children with IDD before.

The purpose of our study is to examine whether participation in an ARG program could have a positive impact on levels of physical fitness among children with IDD.

2. Methods

2.1. Participants. In this study, the participants included 22 children (13 boys and 9 girls) from two special needs schools in Beijing of China (School A: 12 participants; School B: 10 participants). Participants were identified as active and healthy. They did not have cardiac respiratory conditions that could be dangerous during aerobic rhythmic exercise, and they were able to understand basic visual and verbal instructions. The experimental group (N = 12; ASD = 4, ID = 5, and DS = 3; mean age = 7.2 years; and IDD level moderate) came from School A; through the fundamental motor skill test (FMS: stationary tests, locomotor skill tests, and objects controlled tests), 12 children out of 25 who performed higher scores got chosen. The FMS test indicates children's retardation of gross motor abilities and of a sufficient

TABLE 1: Descriptive characteristics of participants.

Characteristic		Experimental group $(N = 12)$	Control group $(N = 10)$
Age		7.2	7.5
	Autism	4	4
Diagnosis	Down's syndrome	3	3
	Intellectual disability	5	3
Weight (kg)		26.28	25.67
Height (cm)		122.53	122
BMI		17.37	15.69

cognitive competence to adapt to the ARG program. In this study, the FMS test was only used to select participants, hence no FMS data analysis in this study. In School B, the FMS test was also executed to select 10 participants for the control group. The control group (N = 10; ASD = 4, ID = 3, and DS = 3; mean age = 7.5 years; and IDD level moderate) was matched for age, IDD level, and disability types with the experimental group (see Table 1).

2.2. Procedures

2.2.1. Adapted Rhythmic Gymnastics Program. The ARG movements were designed by professors who were gymnastics specialists from Beijing Normal University (BNU). Considering IDD children's low levels of moderate to vigorous physical activities (MVPA), this program was designed to be stimulating, interesting, and easy to manipulate and is based on children's motor skills and cognition. Because of the program is fun, understanding and mastering the exercise could overcome the children's participation barriers affecting their physical fitness [16]. The ARG program included music, rhythms, rhythmic movements, and dance elements with apparatus, which contributes to the development of children's motor abilities through crawling in different directions. For example, when children were passing and catching the ball, their brain started to work and their hands and eyes cooperated to determine the direction of the ball and to grasp the ball in a moment without long hesitation. In the process, children's upper limb strength, hand-eye coordination, and sense of direction were improved. Combined rhythmic movements could cultivate children's sense of balance; children acquired dynamic balance through dynamic displacements. The contents of the ARG program were separated into three categories: controlled movements, uncontrolled movements, and locomotor skills. Program details are shown in Table 2. Any gymnastics movements that would cause negative effects such as dizziness or injured were excluded.

The Delphi technique used to testify the appropriateness of the ARG movements was used to collect data from experts [17]. Experts included the special needs schools' physical education teachers (N = 3), rehabilitation teachers (N = 2), dance teachers (N = 2), and university professors (N = 3) whose research field was adapted physical education and who had ample knowledge about children with IDD. After

Fundamental movement skills	Program categories	Contents	Functions
Uncontrolled movements	Rhythmic gymnastics exercises	Single rhythmic movements; combined rhythmic movements; complete rhythmic movements	To develop big muscle groups, promote neural and muscular coordination, enhance the body control and displacement ability through low-impact rhythmic movements of the limbs in multiple dimensions and movements. To evoke the automatic postural control by vertical and horizontal jumps. To achieve the visual and kinesthetic stimuli and to improve the balance via combining with the auditory, tactile, visual, and vestibular stimuli
Controlled movements	Rhythmic movement with small apparatus	Ball, hoop, elastic band exercises	Through the completion of different forms of apparatus control movements: throwing, catching, racking, and rolling the ball and the tension of elastic band, to develop control of small muscles, to improve the orientation and neural sensitivity and to train the sensory ability
Locomotor skills	Rhythmic exercises on mats	Crawl, roll, rotate, tumble without passing through the cervical vertebra	Through crawling, rolling, and turning in different forms and directions, to promote the development of neural organs, to enhance the perception, to improve the ability of coordination and exertion of the whole body, and to increase the trunk muscle strength
Uncontrolled movements	Functional training exercises	Strength, aerobic, flexibility, agility; body coordination exercise	Enhance the physical fitness and acquire various technical motors skillfully through repeated muscle strength exercises, stretch exercise, and core power training exercise

TABLE 2: The ARG program contents and functions.

three rounds of questionnaire, the adapted motors identified by experts got chosen. To further confirm the feasibility of the ARG program, the preexperiment was conducted before the program. The teachers taught the experimental group children with expert-identified ARG movements for about seven 20 min classes and judged their acceptance of the contents from children's learning states. Finally, 96% expertidentified contents got chosen for the final program. Music acted as an important element in the ARG program. Music offered children both amusement and comfort. Researchers suggested that music was the signal to guide children's movements [18] and also attracted children's attention to complete tasks [19]. All movements were coordinated with the rhythm. Fast-tempo music such as Zunea-Zunea was chosen to stimulate children's enthusiasm and cue them to step on the tempo. Children could shake their heads and bend their knees consistently within the rhythm. Slow-paced music was played while stretching and relaxing.

After the preexperiment, the ARG program was finalized. Teachers (N = 4) of the ARG program, majoring in gymnastics from Beijing Normal University, were supervised by an instructor with expertise in working with disabilities. Children in the experimental group participated three times a week in a 50 min class for 16 weeks, each class (Table 3) included the following stages: *stage one*, class routines (3 minutes) to promote the interaction between children and teachers; *stage two*, warm-up (5 minutes) to reduce the possibility of injury and keep up to speed at the exercise; *stage three*, core activities (35 min) including basic rhythmic gymnastics skills such as imitating animals and several exercise games such as crawling to compete with other peers; *stage four*, cool-down (5 min) to explore the children's satisfaction level; and *last stage*, feedback (3 min) to end up the class.

The ARG program was delivered from September 2019 to January 2020. All activities were performed in the children's familiar classroom to lessen their anxiety and reduce their distractions. Participants should be involved in at least 90% of the program to ensure the results of the program were convincing. The control group children adhered to their regular school schedule, which means traditional physical education classes at a frequency of three times per week, for 50 minutes in each class. No instruction in rhythmic gymnastics was given to the control group children during the period of the intervention program.

Teachers provided both visual and verbal clues when taught the ARG contents to motivate children's participation. Children were able to increase the intensity of rhythmic activities when the teacher gave the cues and made the exaggerated demonstrations to attract children's attention. Participants could imitate the teacher's actions most of the time. The ratio of teachers and students was no more than 1:3 for the whole program, ensuring each child can receive personalized guidance and have the opportunity to interact socially with teachers and peers. During the class, teachers created a direct and interesting learning atmosphere.

The parents or guardians of the children in the experimental group have signed an informed consent form, agreeing to the child's participation in the activity, and all procedures are in line with Helsinki's statement.

2.2.2. Measurements. The BPFT was a criterion-referenced test of the health-related physical fitness test, appropriate for children of all abilities [20]. This research tested the physical fitness levels of children with IDD using seven parameters in BPFT: body mass index (BMI), 10 m PACER run, curl-ups, dumbbell press, trunk lift, standing long jump,

Stages	Activities	Time (minutes)
(1) Routine	Greeted to teachers and peers and conducted regular routines (assemble, attention, and straddle) to promote the relationship between teacher and children	3
(2) Warm-up	Children followed the rhythm of medium-speed music for warm-up (running, marking time, and joint mobility) to increase muscle temperature, prevent injury, and gradually enter the learning state	5
(3) Core exercise	Basic rhythmic exercise (12 minutes) Children followed the fast-tempo music to imitate the rhythmic movements of animals (frog, rabbit, goose, and monkey) and to practice the rhythmic combination exercises Mat rhythmic exercise and games (15 minutes) Children learned crawling, rolling, and other mat exercises and competed in drilling circle and jumping circle Children passed the ball with the teachers to promote hand-eye coordination and to enhance interaction between teachers and children Functional training exercise (8 minutes) Children performed 10 times*2 groups sit-ups and 8 times*2 groups supine leg lifts to promote the strength of the waist and abdomen Children performed dynamic and static stretching to promote flexibility of the back and limbs Children performed push-ups for 8 times*2 groups to improve the strength of limbs	35
(4) Cool-down	Children performed breathing exercises to rest and calm the body back	5
(5) Summary	Teacher summarized children's performance and said farewell	2

TABLE 3: Model of the ARG training program.

and sit-and-reach test. Verbal instruction and demonstration were showed to participants before each test item until they understood the tasks. Continuous motivation was given to all participants [21]. Tests were all performed in a large classroom with nonslip mats to keep from disturbances. Given that the subjects in this research were under the age of 10, it was reasonable to modify the tests (BPFT were usually used for 10-17 children) and to use each participant as their own comparison by examining the change between pre- and postprogram assessments.

Body composition was reflected by BMI. BMI was calculated as the weight (kg) divided by the square of height (m²). Participants' weights and heights were measured using a standard protocol. Body composition would unlikely be changed in a short period of time; there were no disabilityspecific standards for body composition [18].

Aerobic functioning was reflected by the achieved level on the 10 m PACER run test. Considering that children in this research were under 10 years old, the distance was modified from the original 20 meters to 10 meters as a recommended distance. The test required children to run between two cones 10 meters apart at a steady pace; the test ended when the child failed to reach the end destination when time is up; the final distance the children ran was recorded.

The musculoskeletal function included muscular strength, endurance, and flexibility. The abdominal endurance was assessed using a curl-up test. The test was to perform as many curl-ups as one can in 30 s; the number of complete curl-ups performed in the prescriptive time was recorded.

The upper limb's strength and endurance were measured by the dumbbell press. Participants used one hand to lift a 1 kg dumbbell as many times as possible in 30 s; the exercise continued at a steady pace until the participants were no longer able to lift the weight up. The sum numbers of the two hands were recorded. The back strength was tested by trunk lift. Participants used the muscles of the back to lift the upper body up and to hold the position for at least 1 s; after three trials, the best score was recorded.

The standing long jump tested the children's lower limbs' explosive strength, which requires speed, coordination, and explosive movement. Children were asked to jump as far as possible with two feet from a standing position. The performance was tested and measured as the distance jumped in centimeters. After 3 trials, the best score was recorded.

Flexibility was assessed by the modified sit-and-reach test (flexibility of the hamstring and lower back); participants sat down at the test apparatus. One leg was fully extended with the foot flat against the testing instruments; the other knee was bent. The participants reached directly forward with both hands and held the position for at least 1 s. After 3 trials, the maximum value was used to reflect flexibility. Each leg's flexibility was tested separately.

The pretest was performed one week prior to the initiation of the study, and the posttest was completed within one week of its conclusion. All tests were undertaken by the students of the Department of Physical Education from BNU, who were trained in the administration of the BPFT and supervised by an instructor expert in adapted physical education.

2.3. Data Analysis. Data were analyzed using the SPSS 20.0 statistical software. The statistical significance level was set at 0.05. Descriptive statistics were conducted to describe the participants in this study and to calculate the mean and standard deviation. Paired-samples *t*-tests were used to test the pre- and postperformances of the two groups, which are aimed at finding if there were some progress made by children in the two groups after physical exercise. Independent-samples *t*-tests were used to test whether there were significant differences in pre- and postperformances

Variable	Pre- :	and posttests of t	he experiment	al group	Pre	e- and posttests o	f the control g	oup
variable	Mean	Std. dev.	t	<i>p</i> value	Mean	Std. dev.	t	<i>p</i> value
BMI	0.051	0.369	0.477	0.642	-0.033	0.070	-1.492	0.17
CU	-1.25	1.765	-2.454	0.032*	0.3	1.494	0.635	0.541
TL (cm)	-6.167	5.686	-3.757	0.003 *	-1.2	4.826	-0.786	0.452
DP	-7.917	7.621	-3.598	0.004 *	-0.1	4.458	-0.071	0.945
$S\&R_{(L)}$ (cm)	-1.5	4.89	-1.063	0.311	3.2	4.566	2.216	0.054
$S\&R_{(R)}$ (cm)	-1.083	4.379	-0.857	0.41	2.9	5.705	1.608	0.142
SLJ	-8.25	4.351	-6.568	≤0.001 *	-8.2	7.036	-3.685	0.005 *
10 m R (cm)	-27.42	30.077	-3.158	0.009 *	-17.4	53.217	-1.034	0.328

*Significant difference between pre- and posttest of the two groups, p < 0.05. CU: curl-up; TL: trunk lift; DP: dumbbell press; S&R_(R): sit&reach (right); S&R_(L): sit&reach (left); SLJ: standing long jump; 10 m R: 10 m PACER run; Std. dev.: standard deviation.

between the two groups. The assumption of homogeneity of variances (Levene's test) was violated for the 10 m PACER run test; the assumption of normality (Wilcoxon) was violated for the standing long jump test and the 10 m PACER run test; hence, the standing long jump test and the 10 m PACER run test were assessed by the Mann Whitney U test. There were no significant differences between groups before the intervention.

3. Results

The attendance rate of the two groups of children in the program was 97% (experimental group) and 95.5% (control group) separately, which made the results convincing.

3.1. Paired-Samples t-Test Results. From Table 4, it can be figured out that the experimental group children had greater improvements in five dependent variables of physical fitness (p < 0.05). The curl-up test (t = -2.454, p = 0.032 < 0.05), trunk lift test (t = -3.757, p = 0.003 < 0.05), dumbbell press test (t = -3.598, p = 0.004 < 0.05), standing long jump test $(t = -6.568, p \le 0.001)$, and 10 m PACER run test (t = -3.158, p = 0.009 < 0.05) had significant differences compared to pretest, except the BMI test and sit-and-reach test (p > 0.05). Only the standing long jump test (t = -3.685, p = 0.005 < 0.05) was significantly improved in the control group, while other parameters were not significantly different from the pretest. The curl-up test (t = 0.635, p = 0.541 > 0.05) and sit-and-reach test ($t_{(L)} = 2.216$, $p_{(L)} = 0.054 > 0.05$; $t_{(R)}$ = 1.608, $p_{(R)} = 0.142 > 0.05$) even decreased slightly from the pretest.

3.2. Independent-Samples t-Test Results. In order to eliminate the interference of other factors on the experimental results, the physical fitness between the two groups was compared. At pretest, there was no significant difference in all parameters of physical fitness between the two groups. (p > 0.05). Hence, it could be concluded that participants in both groups were similar in relevant variables before the intervention began (Table 5). At posttest, there were significant differences between the two groups on the curl-up test (p = 0.025 < 0.05), dumbbell press test (p = 0.038 < 0.05), and sit-and-reach

test ($p_{(L)} = 0.043 < 0.05$, $p_{(R)} = 0.047 < 0.05$). However, the BMI test (p = 0.109 > 0.05), trunk lift test (p = 0.957 > 0.05), standing long jump test (p = 0.346 > 0.05), and 10 m PACER run test (p = 0.674 > 0.05) showed no significant differences between the two groups.

From Tables 4 and 5, it can be found that muscle strength, especially abdominal strength, upper limb strength, and flexibility of the experimental group participants, improved significantly, compared with the control group.

4. Discussion

The aim of this study was to determine whether a welldesigned ARG program had positive effects on IDD children's physical fitness. The program should be feasible and adaptable for children with IDD. Rhythmic gymnastics contained the elements of music, dance, and physical exercise. First, children could control their bodies freely in different directions through basic gymnastics movements. In addition, when manipulating with the apparatus, children could acquire dynamic balance and practice their hand-eye coordination. Furthermore, music plays an important role in rhythmic gymnastics. It can ease children's anxiety, promote the completion of sports tasks, and play a guiding role in the entire process of sports learning. For IDD children, more feasible artistic gymnastics programs are needed to promote their physical and mental health.

4.1. Promoting Children's Participation. All children love games. Children in the experimental group participated in multiple games, such as racing games and various animalimitating actions, which made the ARG program more attractive and could induce children to participate in sports activities according to their own wishes. Music is used to satisfy children's attention needs. Previous research has shown that music or rhythm can help increase the attention of IDD children [22] and also make them more interested in what they are doing [23]. Lasma and Rachman's research found that due to the rhythm and fun that accompanies music, the daily training of artistic gymnastics can improve mood [24]. When the music starts playing, the children focus on the teacher and shake their body spontaneously following

Maniah la	C		Pre			Post	
variable	Groups	Mean	Std. dev.	<i>p</i> value	Mean	Std. dev.	<i>p</i> value
DMI	Experimental	17.37	2.128	0.107	17.32	1.958	0 100
DIVII	Control	15.79	2.249	0.107	15.83	2.228	0.109
CU	Experimental	7.42	2.275	0.818	8.67	1.67	0.025 *
	Control	7.2	2.044		6.9	1.729	0.025
TL	Experimental	18.833	7.998	0.057	25	6.12	0.059
	Control	19	5.85	0.937	20.2	4.803	0.058
DP	Experimental	15.08	7.192	0.85	23	11.552	0.038 *
	Control	14.5	6.964		14.6	5.232	0.000
SPD (cm)	Experimental	1.892	6.457	0.20	3.433	8.426	0.043 *
$Sak_{(L)}$ (cm)	Control	-0.63	7.913	0.39	-3.85	7.502	
S&D (cm)	Experimental	-0.275	7.376	0.415	0.8	7.56	0.047 *
$San_{(R)}$ (CIII)	Control	-3.01	7.549	0.415	-6.03	6.97	0.047
CI I	Experimental	32	13.778	0 291	40.25	17.5	0.246
SLJ	Control	30.1	23.106	0.381	38.3	29.522	0.540
10 m R (cm)	Experimental	121.75	33.987	0.629	149.17	40.43	0.674
	Control	127.8	51.592	0.628	145.2	66.661	0.674

TABLE 5: Comparison of pre- and postphysical fitness tests between the two groups.

* Significant difference between pre- and posttest of the two groups, p < 0.05. CU: curl-up; TL: trunk lift; DP: dumbbell press; S&R_(R): sit&reach (right); S&R_(L): sit&reach (left); SLJ: standing long jump; 10 m R: 10 m PACER run; Std. dev.: standard deviation.

the music. During competitions, each child was actively encouraged by the teacher and showed enthusiasm in the company of his companion. In an interesting learning atmosphere, children's emotions have gradually stabilized, and learning efficiency has also improved.

4.2. Positive Impacts of the Two Different Courses. The results showed that after 16 weeks of physical training, the physical health parameters of most children in both groups showed an upward trend. It can be concluded that different forms of exercise can have a positive effect on physical health. These results also indicate that exercise may result in increased physical activities to make people with intellectual disabilities healthier, which is consistent with Heller's research [25]. Research studies of Wu et al., Hayakawa and Kobayashi, and Halle et al. also show that physical exercise and sports have a positive effect on the physical health of participants in special needs groups [26–28]. In our study, IDD children from the experimental group had significantly improved upper limb strength and endurance compared with the pretest. Part of the reason may be that ARG courses are more interesting than traditional functional exercises. Therefore, the motivations of children were stimulated and they were willing to exercise for a long time. IDD children's motivations are hard to inspire, but it is important to complete a large amount of exercise tasks. In the ARG program, the core strength training of children was arranged to promote the growth of core muscles and deep small muscle groups of the bodies, which they usually cannot exercise. In order to improve children's upper limb strength, abdominal strength, and back muscle strength, various types of crawling competitions are set up. Therefore, after the experiment, the curl-ups and dumbbell press results of the children in the experimental group improved more than the control group.

4.3. Effects of the ARG on Improving the Physical Fitness Seemed Better. The results showed that the muscle strength, explosive power, and aerobic exercise capacity of the children in the experimental group were greatly improved, compared with the pretest. This may be promoted by aerobic gymnastics, because basic gymnastics has a positive effect on the children's muscular strength and endurance and the explosive power of the upper and lower limbs. Previous studies have shown that aerobic gymnastics has a positive effect on balance ability [29-31], body coordination [32-35], muscle strength, muscle endurance, and flexibility [30, 36, 37] of the practitioner. Strength, balance, and body coordination contribute to the development of participants' motor skills and physical fitness, which is essential for building a healthier life. Mehrtash et al. explain that special aerobic gymnastics training can affect young boys' explosiveness, dynamic and static muscle endurance, flexibility, and exercise frequency [38]. Akyol and Pektas's research shows that the combination of gymnastics training and music can effectively improve the balance ability, coordination, and flexibility of DS and ASD children [39]. At present, the topic of how gymnastics improves the fitness of special children is relatively new, and research in this area is not much.

4.3.1. Aerobic Capacity. Aerobic capacity is one of the qualities to be developed in rhythmic gymnastics which requires a long time of technical and physical exercises. The muscular endurance and aerobic capacity of children in the experimental group were improved. Through continuous vertical and horizontal jumping in different directions in the ARG program, children's lower limb strength and dynamic balance have been improved, and standing long-distance jumping has also been improved. In addition, long-term aerobic exercise can promote children's aerobic function. Compared with routine tests, children can run longer distances at a stable speed. Studies have shown that moderate to intense aerobic exercise can improve the cardiovascular system and respiratory system [40]. In the ARG courses, children with IDD carried out the aerobic exercise in rhythm continuously to improve their aerobic capacity. The data in our experiment is consistent with the result of Silva et al.'s research. In her study, gymnastics participants achieved better results than nonparticipants on the six-minute walk test, indicating that participants in gymnastics events had better aerobic endurance [41]. Research studies of Dowdy et al., Lestari et al., and Montosa et al. have shown that the aerobic capacity and maximal oxygen uptake (VO₂Max) of participants can be improved through aerobic activities such as aerobic dance [42–44]. The above studies have demonstrated the improvement effect of aerobic exercise on cardiorespiratory fitness for different populations. Their research supports to a certain extent the conclusion in this paper that gymnastics may enhance the cardiorespiratory fitness of special children.

4.3.2. Muscle Strength. Muscle strength is related to intelligence. Usually, children with IDD shows weak muscle strength, but muscle strength is important for health, for keeping good body shape, and for gaining independence in activities of daily living [45]. In our study, muscle strength and endurance of the experimental group improved significantly compared to pretest. The data is consistent with studies of Zaharia et al. and Batista et al. that aerobics is a great help for strength [46, 47]. Upper limb motor function is an essential component to complete the fundamental motors required in daily life, such as moving, lifting, and holding stuffs. In our study, the upper limb strength (dumbbell press test) of children in the experimental group may be improved by crawling using the upper limbs to control the body. The muscles of the extremities continuously overcome resistance and contract continuously through repeated exercise. Through rhythmic exercise and manipulation of equipment, the muscles can be contracted to increase the strength of the upper limbs. Abdominal strength can be enhanced by imitating animal movements, such as frog balance, monkey jumping, and various core strength training exercises. Stimulating abdominal strength will also make the child's motor skills more proficient. Lower limb explosive strength can be measured by the standing long jump test. Both groups of children improved significantly in this test, which reflected the increased control, coordination, and explosive movement of the children. It can be inferred that various functional motor skills in the control group, such as squats, standing vertical jumps, and other simple body movements, can enhance children's lower limbs. Skopal et al.'s and Douda's research studies show that gymnastics has a positive effect on participants' lower limb strength [48, 49]. Abalo et al.'s research shows that aerobic gymnastics participants perform better in vertical jumping strength, which means that their lower extremity explosion intensity has been significantly improved through gymnastics exercises [50]. Piazza et al.'s also concluded that practicing rhythmic gymnastics can improve athletes' lower limb strength [51]. Douda and Tokmakidis believe that the reason why gymnastics improves the strength of lower limbs is that gymnastics could strengthen participants' musculoskeletal and nervous systems through systematic, repetitive, and progressive exercises [52]. Although the research object is not children with special needs, the above research provides theoretical support for our research.

4.3.3. Flexibility. The sit-and-reach test was used to determine the flexibility. The results showed that the children in the experimental group performed better than those in the control group, and there were significant differences between the two groups. Although the progress of the children in the experimental group was small, the control group children were less flexible than before. This means that according to ARG practice, the experimental group children kept their flexibility stable and had a substantial increase. Gymnastics plays an important role in promoting the flexibility of the participants' body [53, 54]. Various forms of limb stretching and basic gymnastics movements in gymnastics can increase the flexibility of the muscles and spine. In Batista et al.'s study, gymnasts' lower limbs exhibited higher active and passive flexibility [53]. Hence, in the 1960s, Ohyama's research showed that participants' flexibility (trunk flexion, extension, and lateral bending) developed after two weeks of gymnastics training, which is similar to our research findings [55].

4.3.4. BMI. At present, most of the studies on BMI and aerobic fitness mainly target nondisabled groups. In the study of Montosa et al., girls and adolescents had low BMI, waist circumference, and body fat percentage after aerobic exercises [56]. Gerstl et al.'s research also shows that rhythmic gymnastics has a positive effect on girls' BMI [57]. Miteva et al.'s research shows that gymnasts have a low percentage of body fat and a high percentage of muscle mass [58]. For IDD children, Bo et al. believe that aerobic exercise could reduce their BMI index [59], while Pitetti et al. and Hinckson et al. believe that aerobic exercise has little effect on the BMI of IDD children [60, 61]. The conclusion in this study is consistent with the research of Pitetti et al. and Hinckson et al., which is different from the other abovementioned research studies. One possible reason lies in the particularity of the research object in this study. IDD children are inferior to nondisabled groups in physical strength, motor skills, and intelligence, which prevents IDD children from reaching maximum exercise intensity in each class. Furthermore, the intervention duration of the ARG program in this study was relatively short (4 months) to evaluate the changes of body composition in IDD children.

Results of our ARG program support the idea that properly selected exercise can improve the development of physical fitness in children with IDD. Our study has limitations. First, the sample size is small. In order to distinguish between different forms of disability that may exist between accurate diagnoses, a larger sample size is required, and the popularization of the results requires further examination through a large sample size. Second, there are not many schools with special needs participating in the program. It is necessary to verify the promotion of the ARG program in more schools, and when all schools have obtained the same effect, this can reflect more stable and reliable conclusions.

5. Conclusion

This research demonstrated that after participating in a 16week ARG program which targeted the development of rhythmic movement skills and basic gymnastics exercise, the levels of health-related physical fitness of children with IDD improved. Moreover, significant improvements were reported for most of the physical fitness parameters, such as muscle strength, aerobic capacity, and explosive strength when compared to the pretest. The ARG program provided rhythmic movements that were safe and feasible for children with IDD as evidenced by the progress participants made. Long-term and feasible exercise participation needs to be emphasized to promote physical fitness. However, future research could be needed to examine how well these physical fitness improvements are maintained.

Data Availability

The data was collected from the pretest and the posttest of the experiment.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors certify that there is no conflict of interest with any financial organization regarding the material discussed in the manuscript.

Authors' Contributions

Chenchen XU was in charge of the literature review and conducted the experiment, data collection, and writing of the manuscript; Mengxue KANG was responsible for data analysis and interpretation and for editing the draft of the manuscript; Mingyan YAO was in charge of the research concept and teaching instruction. Guanting DUAN was responsible for teaching courses.

Acknowledgments

This research was supported by the Beijing Normal University Interdisciplinary Research Foundation for the First-Year Doctoral Candidates. The grant number is BNUXKJC1825. We acknowledge all the children for their participation and their parents' support. We show great thanks to the two special needs schools' managers and to the teachers' help.

References

- B. B. Cutts, K. J. Darby, C. G. Boone, and A. Brewis, "City structure, obesity, and environmental justice: an integrated analysis of physical and social barriers to walkable streets and park access," *Social Science & Medicine*, vol. 69, no. 9, pp. 1314–1322, 2009.
- [2] N. Shields and A. Synnot, "Perceived barriers and facilitators to participation in physical activity for children with disability: a qualitative study," *BMC Pediatrics*, vol. 16, no. 1, 2016.
- [3] K. H. Pitetti, J. A. Jackson, N. B. Stubbs, K. D. Campbell, and S. S. Battar, "Fitness levels of adult special Olympic partici-

pants," Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly, vol. 6, no. 4, pp. 354–370, 1989.

- [4] K. E. N. N. E. T. H. H. PITETTI and S. H. A. H. A. R. BONEH, "Cardiovascular fitness as related to leg strength in adults with mental retardation," *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 423–428, 1995.
- [5] B. Fernhall and G. T. Tymeson, "Validation of cardiovascular fitness field tests for adults with mental retardation," *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 49–59, 1988.
- [6] A. K. Chanias, G. Reid, and M. L. Hoover, "Exercise effects on health-related physical fitness of individuals with an intellectual disability: a meta-analysis," *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, vol. 15, no. 2, pp. 119–140, 1998.
- [7] K. Collins and K. Staples, "The role of physical activity in improving physical fitness in children with intellectual and developmental disabilities," *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, vol. 69, pp. 49–60, 2017.
- [8] G. C. Frey and B. Chow, "Relationship between BMI, physical fitness, and motor skills in youth with mild intellectual disabilities," *International Journal of Obesity*, vol. 30, no. 5, pp. 861– 867, 2006.
- [9] M. Lotan, "Quality physical intervention activity for persons with Down syndrome," *The Scientific World Journal*, vol. 7, Article ID 634215, 19 pages, 2007.
- [10] P. N. Walsh, "Ageing and health issues in intellectual disabilities," *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 502– 506, 2005.
- [11] C. Moreira, R. Santos, J. C. de Farias Júnior et al., "Metabolic risk factors, physical activity and physical fitness in Azorean adolescents: a cross-sectional study," *BMC Public Health*, vol. 11, no. 1, 2011.
- [12] R. Jago, K. Froberg, A. R. Cooper, S. Eiberg, and L. B. Andersen, "Three-year changes in fitness and adiposity are independently associated with cardiovascular risk factors among young Danish children," *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 37–44, 2010.
- [13] T. Vogt, S. Schneider, V. Abeln, V. Anneken, and H. K. Strüder, "Exercise, mood and cognitive performance in intellectual disability–A neurophysiological approach," *Behavioural Brain Research*, vol. 226, no. 2, pp. 473–480, 2012.
- [14] R. M. Pastula, C. B. Stopka, A. T. Delisle, and C. J. Hass, "Effect of moderate-intensity exercise training on the cognitive function of young adults with intellectual disabilities," *The Journal* of Strength & Conditioning Research, vol. 26, no. 12, pp. 3441– 3448, 2012.
- [15] A. N. Bhat, R. J. Landa, and J. C. (. C.). Galloway, "Current perspectives on motor functioning in infants, children, and adults with autism spectrum disorders," *Physical Therapy*, vol. 91, no. 7, pp. 1116–1129, 2011.
- [16] J. Mahy, N. Shields, N. F. Taylor, and K. J. Dodd, "Identifying facilitators and barriers to physical activity for adults with Down syndrome," *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, vol. 54, no. 9, pp. 795–805, 2010.
- [17] C.-C. Hsu and B. A. Sandford, "The Delphi Technique: Making Sense of Consensus," *Practical Assessment, Research, and Evaluation*, vol. 12, no. 1, 2007.
- [18] F. Bertapelli, K. Pitetti, S. Agiovlasitis, and G. Guerra-Junior, "Overweight and obesity in children and adolescents with Down syndrome- prevalence, determinants, consequences, and interventions: A literature review," *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, vol. 57, pp. 181–192, 2016.

- [19] D. Gregory, "Four decades of music therapy behavioral research designs: a content analysis of journal of music therapy articles," *Journal of Music Therapy*, vol. 39, no. 1, pp. 56–71, 2002.
- [20] J. Winnick and F. X. Short, Brockport Physical Fitness Test Manual: A Health-Related Assessment for Youngsters with Disabilities, Human Kinetics, 2014.
- [21] A. Waninge, W. van der Weide, I. J. Evenhuis, R. van Wijck, and C. P. van der Schans, "Feasibility and reliability of body composition measurements in adults with severe intellectual and sensory disabilities," *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, vol. 53, no. 4, pp. 377–388, 2009.
- [22] A. B. LaGasse, R. C. B. Manning, J. E. Crasta, W. J. Gavin, and P. L. Davies, "Assessing the Impact of Music Therapy on Sensory Gating and Attention in Children With Autism: A Pilot and Feasibility Study," *Journal of Music Therapy*, vol. 56, no. 3, pp. 287–314, 2019.
- [23] S. M. Srinivasan, I. K. Park, L. B. Neelly, and A. N. Bhat, "A comparison of the effects of rhythm and robotic interventions on repetitive behaviors and affective states of children with Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD)," *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, vol. 18, pp. 51–63, 2015.
- [24] Y. Lasma and F. Rachman, "Effects of Rhythmic Gymnastics Exercise Based on Chair Media to Physical Fitness of Students," in *Proceedings of the 2nd International Conference on Sports Sciences and Health 2018 (2nd ICSSH 2018)*, The Faculty of Sport Sciences of Universitas Negeri Malang hosted 2nd ICSSH 2018, 2019.
- [25] T. Heller, J. A. McCubbin, C. Drum, and J. Peterson, "Physical activity and nutrition health promotion interventions: what is working for people with intellectual disabilities?," *Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, vol. 49, no. 1, pp. 26–36, 2011.
- [26] C.-L. Wu, J.-D. Lin, J. Hu et al., "The effectiveness of healthy physical fitness programs on people with intellectual disabilities living in a disability institution: Six-month short- term effect," *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 713–717, 2010.
- [27] K. Hayakawa and K. Kobayashi, "Physical and motor skill training for children with intellectual disabilities," *Perceptual* & Motor Skills, vol. 112, no. 2, pp. 573–580, 2011.
- [28] J. W. Halle, D. Gabler-Halle, and Y. B. Chung, "Effects of a peer-mediated aerobic conditioning program on fitness levels of youth with mental retardation: two systematic replications," *Mental Retardation*, vol. 37, no. 6, pp. 435–448, 1999.
- [29] E. Puszczałowska-Lizis and J. Omorczyk, "The level of body balance in standing position and handstand in seniors athletes practicing artistic gymnastics," *Acta of Bioengineering and Biomechanics*, vol. 21, no. 2, 2019.
- [30] E. Bressel, J. C. Yonker, J. Kras, and E. M. Heath, "Comparison of static and dynamic balance in female collegiate soccer, basketball, and gymnastics athletes," *Journal of Athletic Training*, vol. 42, no. 1, pp. 42–46, 2007.
- [31] J. Omorczyk, P. Bujas, E. Puszczałowska-Lizis, and L. Biskup, "Balance in handstand and postural stability in standing position in athletes practicing gymnastics," *Acta of Bioengineering and Biomechanics*, vol. 20, no. 2, pp. 139–147, 2018.
- [32] T. Boraczyński, M. Boraczyński, S. Boraczyńska, and A. Michels, "Changes in body composition and physical fitness of 7-year-old girls after completing a 12-month artistic gymnastics training program," *Human Movement*, vol. 14, no. 4, 2013.

- [33] R. H. Ahmed, "Impact of coordination abilities program on accuracy and speed in rhythmic gymnastics," Ovidius University Annals, Series Physical Education & Sport/Science, Movement & Health, vol. 16, no. 2, 2016.
- [34] D. Stošić, S. Uzunović, S. Pantelić, S. Veličković, M. Đurović, and D. Piršl, "Effects of exercise program on coordination and explosive power in university dance students," Facta Universitatis, Series: Physical Education and Sport, 2019.
- [35] S. Barbara and D. Francesca, "Rhythmic gymnastics and dyslexia: a two-year preliminary case study," *Journal of Physical Education and Sport*, vol. 18, article 2122, 2018.
- [36] J. Bencke, R. Damsgaard, A. Saekmose, P. Jorgensen, K. Jorgensen, and K. Klausen, "Anaerobic power and muscle strength characteristics of 11 years old elite and non-elite boys and girls from gymnastics, team handball, tennis and swimming," *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 171–178, 2002.
- [37] P. H. Werner, *Teaching children gymnastics*, human kinetics, 2011.
- [38] M. Mehrtash, H. Rohani, E. Farzaneh, and R. Nasiri, "The effects of 6 months specific aerobic gymnastic training on motor abilities in 10 – 12 years old boys," *Science of Gymnastics Journal*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 51–60, 2015.
- [39] B. Akyol and S. Pektaş, "The effects of gymnastics training combined with music in children with autism spectrum disorder and Down syndrome," *International Education Studies*, vol. 11, no. 11, p. 46, 2018.
- [40] D. A. Santos, A. M. Silva, F. Baptista et al., "Are cardiorespiratory fitness and moderate-to-vigorous physical activity independently associated to overweight, obesity, and abdominal obesity in elderly?," *American Journal of Human Biology*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 28–34, 2012.
- [41] T. C. L. da Silva, E. C. Costa, and R. O. Guerra, "Aerobic endurance and lower limbs strength of elderly practitioners and non-practitioners of recreational gymnastics in adult daycare center," *Revista Brasileira de Geriatria e Gerontologia*, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 535–542, 2011.
- [42] D. B. Dowdy, K. J. Cureton, H. P. Duval, and H. G. Ouzts, "Effects of aerobic dance on physical work capacity, cardiovascular function and body composition of middle-aged women," *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, vol. 56, no. 3, pp. 227–233, 1985.
- [43] L. IAP, M. Fitri, and K. Sultoni, "The impact of water aerobics program on cardiorespiratory fitness," in *Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on Sport Science, Health, and Physical Education (ICSSHPE 2019)*, pp. 295–298, The Faculty of Sport and Health Education, Universitas Pendidikan Indonesia, Indonesia hosted the 4th ICSSHPE 2019, 2020.
- [44] I. Montosa, M. Vernetta, and J. López-Bedoya, "Cardiorespiratory capacity and body composition in girls and adolescents practitioners of rhythmic gymnastics," *Archivos de Medicina del Deporte*, vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 151–156, 2018.
- [45] N. Shields, N. F. Taylor, and B. Fernhall, "A study protocol of a randomised controlled trial to investigate if a community based strength training programme improves work task performance in young adults with Down syndrome," *BMC Pediatrics*, vol. 10, no. 1, p. 17, 2010.
- [46] A. Zaharia, T. Dobrescu, and R. Dumitru, "Aspects regarding the contribution of aerobic gymnastics means in influencing the strength indices in teenagers," *Gymnasium*, vol. 13, no. 1, 2017.

- [47] A. Batista, R. Garganta, and L. Ávila-Carvalho, "Strength in young rhythmic gymnasts," *Journal of Human Sport and Exercise*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 1162–1175, 2017.
- [48] L. Skopal, K. Netto, B. Aisbett, A. Takla, and T. Castricum, "The effect of a rhythmic gymnastics-based power-flexibility program on the lower limb flexibility and power of contemporary dancers," *International Journal of Sports Physical Therapy*, vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 343–364, 2020.
- [49] H. Douda, "Adaptations on physical performance characteristics after a 6-month specific training in rhythmic gymnasts," *Medical Problems of Performing Artists*, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 10–17, 2007.
- [50] R. Abalo, M. Vernetta, and A. Gutiérrez-Sánchez, "Prevention of injuries to lower limbs using logistic regression equations in aerobic gymnastics," *Medicina Dello Sport Rivista di Fisiopatologia Dello Sport*, vol. 66, no. 2, pp. 265–276, 2013.
- [51] M. Piazza, C. Battaglia, G. Fiorilli et al., "Effects of resistance training on jumping performance in pre-adolescent rhythmic gymnasts: a randomized controlled study," *Archivio Italiano di Anatomia ed Embriologia*, vol. 119, no. 1, pp. 10–19, 2014.
- [52] H. Douda and S. P. Tokmakidis, *Muscle strength and flexibility* of the lower limbs between rhythmic sports and artistic female gymnasts, second annual congress of the European college of sport science, 1997.
- [53] A. Batista Santos, M. E. Lemos, E. Lebre, and L. Ávila Carvalho, "Active and passive lower limb flexibility in high level rhythmic gymnastics," *Science of Gymnastics Journal*, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 55–66, 2015.
- [54] P. Gymnasts, "Flexibility and strength," European Journal of Human Movement, vol. 42, pp. 138–154, 2019.
- [55] Y. Ohyama, "The experimental study on the effect of the gymnastic training to the human flexibility," *Japanese Journal of Physical Fitness and Sports Medicine*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 57– 68, 1967.
- [56] I. Montosa, M. Vernetta, and J. López-Bedoya, "Assessment of health-related fitness by the alpha-fitness test battery in girls and adolescents who practise rhythmic gymnastics," *Journal* of Human Sport and Exercise, vol. 13, no. 1, 2018.
- [57] S. Gerstl, A. Maieron, A. Ziachehabi, M. Gschwendtner, and R. Schöfl, "Artistic versus rhythmic gymnastics: effects on bone and muscle mass in young girls," *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, vol. 28, pp. 386–393, 2006.
- [58] S. Miteva, I. Yanev, S. Kolimechkov et al., "Nutrition and body composition of elite rhythmic gymnasts from Bulgaria," *International Journal of Sports Science & Coaching*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 108–116, 2020.
- [59] F. Bo, K. H. Pitetti, M. D. Vukovich, N. Stubbs, and F. X. Short, "Validation of cardiovascular fitness field tests in children with mental retardation," *American Journal of Mental Retardation*, vol. 102, no. 6, pp. 602–612, 1997.
- [60] K. H. Pitetti, D. A. Yarmer, and B. Fernhall, "Cardiovascular fitness and body composition of youth with and without mental retardation," *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 127–141, 2001.
- [61] E. A. Hinckson, A. Dickinson, T. Water, M. Sands, and L. Penman, "Physical activity, dietary habits and overall health in overweight and obese children and youth with intellectual disability or autism," *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 1170–1178, 2013.



Research Article

Which Neighborhood Destinations Matter in the Asian Context? The Role of Destinations in Older Adults' Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviors

Jong-Hwan Park¹, Jung-Hoon Park¹,² Seunghwan Song,^{1,3} Ting-Fu Lai,⁴ and Yung Liao^{4,5}

¹*Health Convergence Medicine Laboratory, Biomedical Research Institute, Pusan National University Hospital, 179, Gudeok-Ro, Seo-Gu, Busan 49241, Republic of Korea*

²Department of Healthcare Management, Youngsan University, 288, Junam-Ro, Yangsan, Gyeongnam 50510, Republic of Korea ³Department of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery, Pusan National University School of Medicine,

Busan 49241, Republic of Korea

⁴Department of Health Promotion and Health Education, National Taiwan Normal University, 162, Heping East Road Section 1, Taipei 106, Taiwan

 5 Faculty of Sport Sciences, Waseda University, 2-579-15 Mikajima, Tokorozawa, Saitama 359-1192, Japan

Correspondence should be addressed to Yung Liao; liaoyung@ntnu.edu.tw

Received 16 April 2020; Accepted 17 July 2020; Published 30 July 2020

Guest Editor: Danilo Sales Bocalini

Copyright © 2020 Jong-Hwan Park et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Background. Neighborhood destinations play important roles in daily activity levels of older adults. However, little is known about how specific destinations are associated with these activities and/or sedentary behaviors, especially in Asia. This study investigated how neighborhood destinations were associated with physical activity recommendations and excessive sedentary time among older adults. *Methods.* A telephone-based survey was conducted to collect cross-sectional data on the sociodemographic variables, residential neighborhoods, physical activities, and sedentary behaviors of 1,040 adults aged 65 years and above. Using data derived from Geographic Information Systems (GIS), an adjusted logistic regression was performed to examine the relationships between five neighborhood destination types (i.e., recreational facilities, utilitarian destinations, transit stops, temples, and schools) and both overall physical activity level and sedentary behavior. *Results.* Significant interactions related to physical activity and sedentary behavior were observed based on both gender and neighborhood destinations. After adjusting for potential confounders, older men living in neighborhoods containing higher numbers of temples were more likely to achieve physical activity recommendations (OR = 1.85; 95% CI: 1.16–2.96). On the other hand, older women living in neighborhoods containing higher numbers of utilitarian destinations were more likely to achieve physical activity recommendations. In Asia, the presence of favorable local neighborhood temples may support physical activity levels for older men, while utilitarian destinations (which have previously been found to support activeness) may be related to excessive sedentary behaviors in older women.

1. Background

The older adult population is now increasing on a global scale. A United Nations report indicates that Taiwan is expected to be among the top 10 most-aged countries by 2050 (with more than 40% of the population aged 60 or over) [1]. A key aspect of promoting healthy and active aging in these societies is to ensure that older adults maintain the functional abilities necessary to facilitate health and well-being [2]. Research has shown that physical inactivity and sedentary behavior are the two modifiable behavioral risk factors related to daily physical function in older adults [3, 4]. In addition to the adverse impacts on physical independence, physical inactivity and prolonged sedentary time are related to higher risks of mortality and noncommunicable diseases in older adults [5, 6]. In order to make long-term changes in larger populations, it is critical to develop effective strategies for older adults through urban design and environmental initiatives.

Ecological models provide theoretical bases for understanding the role of environmental walkable attributes on physical activity [7] and sedentary behavior [8]. These models can thus inform initiatives designed to promote healthy and active ageing. In particular, neighborhoods with good access to destinations within walkable distances may support daily resident activity [9]. Previous studies have emphasized that physical activity among older adults can positively be influenced by the presence of neighborhood destinations, including utilitarian facilities (i.e., local stores and services), recreational areas (i.e., parks and sports facilities), and transit stops [9-11]. However, few studies have examined how a variety of neighborhood destination options relates to sedentary behaviors in older adults. In addition to utilitarian, recreational, and public transit destinations, neighborhood schools can also serve as public open spaces to provide opportunities for older adults to engage in daily physical activity. Based on local cultural and environmental contexts, temples can be considered distinct neighborhood destinations in a number of Asian countries, as well. Most of the Taiwanese population (around 70%) practices Buddhism, Dao, or a folk religion (i.e., superstitious beliefs) [12]. There is also a considerable density of temples in Taiwan (i.e., more than 12,000 total; one for every 2,000 people in 2018) [13, 14]. Neighborhood temples thus play a central role in everyday religious and social activity for Taiwanese seniors. We therefore hypothesized that neighborhoods containing a variety of destinations (e.g., recreational facilities, utilitarian destinations, transit stops, temples, and schools) were positively associated with physical activity levels in older adults (i.e., more physical activity resulting from trips between the home and destination), but negatively related to sedentary behavior (i.e., less sedentary time spent in the home). This study strengthened the evidence base and examined age-friendly environments in Asian contexts to investigate how a broad range of neighborhood destinations were related to physical activity levels and sedentary behaviors in older adults.

2. Methods

2.1. Participants and Procedures. A cross-sectional telephone survey using a computer-assisted telephone interviewing (CATI) technique was conducted among older Taiwanese adults in 2017. We acquired a representative sample that closely matched the characteristics of the older adult population in Taiwan using a two-phase sampling procedure. The first phase involved dividing Taiwan into four geographic areas (i.e., northern, southern, western, and eastern). The second phase involved randomly selecting respondents of the desired sex and age attributes. Well-trained interviewers (at least 8 hours of training for research ethics, questionnaire, and interviewing skills) then conducted a standardized questionnaire during each telephone survey. A total of 3,282 older adults were reached. Of these, 1,068 completed the survey (a response rate of 32.5%). No incentives were provided. Verbal informed consent was obtained at the beginning of each phone survey. All procedures used in this study were reviewed and confirmed by the Research Ethics Committee of National Taiwan Normal University (REC number: 201706HM020).

2.2. Self-Reported Physical Activity and Sedentary Behavior

2.2.1. Physical Activity. The total amount of physical activity among older adults was assessed using the International Physical Activity Questionnaire-short version (IPAQ-SV). The test-retest reliability and criterion validity of the Taiwanese IPAQ-SV was both high (r = 0.78) and acceptable (r = 0.31 - 0.41) [15]. The Taiwanese IPAQ-SV is available for use via telephone survey and is thus widely utilized in phone surveys among older adult populations in Taiwan [16, 17]. Three physical activity types were determined as follows: (1) vigorous-intensity physical activity, (2) moderate-intensity physical activity (excluding walking), and (3) walking. The time spent in each of these three physical activities was calculated by multiplying frequency (i.e., how many times per week) by duration (i.e., how many hours and minutes per day). The sum indicated total physical activity. According to the recommended levels of physical activity for older adults [5], we categorized physical activity into two levels (i.e., "not achieving the physical activity recommendation (less than 150 min/week)" and "achieving the physical activity recommendation (equal to or greater than 150 min/week)".

2.2.2. Sedentary Behavior. The total time spent in sedentary behavior was measured using the validated Sedentary Behavior Questionnaire for the Elderly in Taiwan [18]. Total sedentary time was calculated for a seven-day period prior to taking the survey by adding the time spent on the following activities: screen-based sedentary time, reading, chatting with others, eating, sitting for hobbies, sitting while working or volunteering, and other sedentary activities. We categorized overall sedentary time into "less than eight hours/day" and "more than eight hours/day" using the cut-off point for heightened risk for all-cause mortality in older adults [19].

2.3. Objective Neighborhood Destinations. This study examined five types of neighborhood destinations (i.e., recreational facilities, utilitarian destinations, temples, schools, and public transportation). The data used for these destinations were obtained from the National Land Surveying and Mapping Center and Ministry of the Interior in Taiwan [20, 21]. Neighborhood destinations were assessed using geographic information systems (GIS) software (ArcGIS Pro; ESRI, Redlands, CA). The sum of each destination was computed for each participant's geocoded residential neighborhood. Each destination was categorized into "high" and "low" categories according to median value. The following five neighborhood destination types were revealed:

(i) Recreational facilities. The total number of parks and sports facilities. The sum of recreational facilities was categorized into "high $(N \ge 1)$ " and "low (N = 0)."

(iii) Temples. The total numbers of temples related to Buddhist, Daoist, and folk religions (churches and chapels were not included). The sum of temples was categorized into "high $(N \ge 2)$ " and "low (N < 2)."

(iv) Schools. The total numbers of elementary schools, junior high schools, high schools, colleges, and universities. The sum of schools was categorized into "high $(N \ge 2)$ " and "low (N < 2)."

(v) Public transportation. The total number of stations and bus stops. The sum of public transportation was categorized into "high $(N \ge 12)$ " and "low (N < 12)."

2.4. Sociodemographic Variables. Participants were asked to report their age, gender, current marital status, living status, educational level, employment status, health behaviors (i.e., smoking status, alcohol consumption, and diet), height, weight (i.e., body mass index (BMI)), and self-rated health.

2.5. Statistical Analyses. Data were analyzed from 1,040 respondents who had no missing data. Binary logistic regression models were used to analyze the relationships between the five types of destinations and both physical activity levels and sedentary behaviors for the total sample (adjusted for potential confounders). Likelihood ratio tests were then conducted to examine the interaction terms for the outcome variables (i.e., physical activity and sedentary behavior) between objective neighborhood destinations and gender. The sample was divided according to gender when significant interactions were found. Finally, subgroup analyses were conducted based on gender. Odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were computed for each variable using IBM SPSS 25.0 (significance was set at P < 0.05).

3. Results

3.1. Participant Characteristics. Table 1 shows the basic characteristics for the total sample and according to gender. Mean respondent age (SD) was 73.04 (\pm 6.13) years (50.5% were men, 64.3% were aged 65–74 years, 30.6% had tertiary degrees, 10.3% had full-time jobs, 75.9% were married, 85.7% were living with others, 7.0% were current smokers, 9.7% consumed alcohol, 82.3% had healthy diets, 12.3% reported poor health status, and 52.8% were of normalweight). A total of 79.3% respondents completed at least 150 minutes of weekly physical activity, while 30.9% engaged in daily sedentary behavior for more than eight hours. Chisquare tests revealed that older men were more likely to be married, have full-time jobs, tertiary educations, smoke, and consume alcohol.

3.2. Objective Neighborhood Destinations Associated with Physical Activity and Sedentary Behavior (Total Sample). For the total sample, older adults living in neighborhoods with higher numbers of temples were more likely to engage in physical activity adding up to at least 150 minutes/week (OR = 1.71

; 95% CI: 1.21–2.41). Older adults living in neighborhoods with greater numbers of utilitarian destinations were more likely to engage in sedentary time lasting more than eight hours/day (OR = 1.48; 95% CI: 1.12–1.95) (Table 2).

3.3. Interactions between Gender and Objective Neighborhood *Environment*. Significant interactions relating to physical activity were observed between gender and temples (P = 0.03). Significant interactions relating to sedentary behavior were found between gender and utilitarian destinations (P = 0.04) (Table 3).

3.4. Objective Neighborhood Destinations Associated with Physical Activity and Sedentary Behavior in Older Men and Women. A gender stratification revealed that neighborhoods with higher numbers of temples were positively associated with the achievement of physical activity recommendations in older men (OR = 1.85; 95% CI: 1.16–2.96). On the other hand, neighborhoods with higher numbers of utilitarian destinations were related to excessive sedentary time in older women (OR = 1.70; 95% CI: 1.12–2.56) (Tables 4 and 5).

4. Discussion

This is the first study to examine a range of objective neighborhood destinations and their relationships with both physical activity levels and sedentary behaviors among older populations in an Asian context. Results revealed that different neighborhood destinations had specific behavioral effects according to gender. This is consistent with previous findings [17]. Our results showed that a higher number of neighborhood temples aided older men in meeting their daily physical activity recommendations, while a greater number of utilitarian destinations was associated with excessive sedentary time in older women. These findings may provide two critical implications for urban policy and planning initiatives designed to promote "Active Aging" in Asian countries. First, neighborhood temples should be considered prominent local destinations for promoting daily physical activity levels for older men. Second, although previous studies have found that utilitarian destinations were related to increased walking time [9, 22] (in the Asian context, see [23, 24], walking-supportive environmental attributes may increase sedentary behavior for older adults in Asian countries.

This study uniquely found that higher numbers of neighborhood temples were positively associated with older men meeting the recommended 150 minutes of total weekly physical activity. It is traditionally assumed that men and women have distinct gender roles in a number of Asian cultures (e.g., Japanese, Korean, and Chinese). Here, women are more likely to be responsible for housework [25, 26]. On the other hand, older men may have more free time. Here, temples may provide a "Third Place (social surroundings separate from the usual social environments)" [27] in which older men can engage in social events and religious activities in the Taiwanese cultural context. Easy access to neighborhood temples can thus motivate older men to engage in increased physical activity while traveling to these locations from home. Previous studies have found that environmental

	Total sample $(N = 1040)$		Older m	en ($N = 525$)	Older (N	women = 515)	
	N	%	N	%	N	%	P value ^a
Age group (years)							0.26
65-74	669	64.3%	329	62.7%	340	66.0%	
75+	371	35.7%	196	37.3%	175	34.0%	
Marital status							< 0.001*
Married	789	75.9%	428	81.5%	361	70.1%	
Unmarried	251	24.1%	97	18.5%	154	29.9%	
Employment status							0.001*
Full-time job	107	10.3%	71	13.5%	36	7.0%	
No full-time job	933	89.7%	454	86.5%	479	93.0%	
Educational level (years)							< 0.001*
<13	722	69.4%	336	64.0%	386	75.0%	
≥13	318	30.6%	189	36.0%	129	25.0%	
Living status							0.83
Alone	149	14.3%	74	14.1%	75	14.6%	
With others	891	85.7%	451	85.9%	440	85.4%	
Current smoking status							< 0.001*
Yes	73	7.0%	66	12.6%	7	1.4%	
No	967	93.0%	459	87.4%	508	98.6%	
Alcohol consumption							< 0.001*
Yes	101	9.7%	89	17.0%	12	2.3%	
No	939	90.3%	436	83.0%	503	97.7%	
Healthy diet							0.04^{*}
Yes	856	82.3%	420	80.0%	436	84.7%	
No	184	17.7%	105	20.0%	79	15.3%	
BMI (kg/m ²)							0.52
Normal weight	549	52.8%	272	51.8%	277	53.8%	
Not normal weight	491	47.2%	253	48.2%	238	46.2%	
Self-rated health							0.07
Good	493	47.4%	266	50.7%	227	44.1%	
Fair	419	40.3%	194	37.0%	225	43.7%	
Poor	128	12.3%	65	12.4%	63	12.2%	
Physical activity							0.49
150+ min/week	825	79.3%	412	78.5%	413	80.2%	
<150 min/week	215	20.7%	113	21.5%	102	19.8%	
Sedentary behavior							0.35
8+ hours/day	321	30.9%	169	32.2%	152	29.5%	
<8 hours/day	719	69.1%	356	67.8%	363	70.5%	

TABLE 1: Characteristics of the study participants (N = 1,040).

^aChi-square tests.

**P* < .05.

settings (e.g., shopping malls [28] and parks [29]) can be used for community-level physical activity programs or interventions. Our results also suggest that neighborhood temples can serve as important environmental settings for effective community-based physical activity interventions among older men. In this regard, urban planners in Taiwan may consider how religious spaces can be used to support aging populations. Contrary to our hypothesis, we also found that neighborhoods with more utilitarian destinations were associated with excessive sedentary time among older women. This is consistent with previous findings in the Asian context asserting that walkable neighborhood attributes were positively associated with sedentary behaviors [23, 24]. Here, it is possible that neighborhoods with higher numbers of utilitarian destinations

TABLE 2: Associations of objectively measured neighborhood destinations with physical activity and sedentary behavior in the total sample.

	Odds	of meeting	physical	Odds of excessive			
	OR	95% CI	95% CI P OR 95%			P	
		Recrea	ational fac	cilities			
Low		1.00 (ref.))		1.00 (ref.)		
High	1.06	0.77-1.47	0.72	1.32	0.98-1.77	0.07	
		Utilitai	rian destii	nations			
Low		1.00 (ref.)	1.00 (ref.)				
High	1.01	0.74-1.39	0.92	1.48	1.12-1.95	0.006*	
			Temple				
Low		1.00 (ref.))		1.00 (ref.)		
High	1.71	1.21-2.41	0.002*	1.10	0.76-1.34	0.96	
			Schools				
Low		1.00 (ref.))		1.00 (ref.)		
High	1.23	0.90-1.68	0.19	1.17	0.89-1.53	0.27	
		Public	transpor	tation			
Low		1.00 (ref.))		1.00 (ref.)		
High	0.91	0.66-1.24	0.54	1.21	0.92-1.59	0.18	

Adjusted for gender, age, current marital status, living status, educational level, employment status, smoking status, alcohol consumption, healthy diet, BMI, and self-rated health. *Statistically significant (P < .05).

TABLE 3: Statistical significance of the interactions between gender and variables related to destinations using binary logistic regression models.

	<i>P</i> value for interaction term with gender			
destinations	Physical activity <i>P</i> value	Sedentary behavior <i>P</i> value		
Recreational facilities	0.82	0.15		
Utilitarian destinations	0.81	0.04^{*}		
Temple	0.03*	0.92		
Schools	0.35	0.38		
Public transportation	0.72	0.20		

Adjusted for age, current marital status, living status, educational level, employment status, smoking status, alcohol consumption, healthy diet, BMI, and self-rated health.

*Statistically significant (P < .05).

reduce the time it takes older women to complete daily errands. Such individuals would thus have increased time to engage in sedentary behaviors. First, these results suggest that the possible negative impacts of favorable neighborhood destinations on sedentary behavior should be considered when planning intervention programs. Second, an increasing number of studies are finding different environmental/behavioral associations between Western and Asian countries. Our results thus suggest the importance of further examining these relationships in the Asian context.

This study had several limitations. First, it employed a cross-sectional design that may have limited the causal infer-

 TABLE 4: Associations of the objectively measured neighborhood destinations with physical activity by gender.

Odds of meeting physical activity recommendation								
	Older men			Older women				
	OR	95% CI	Р	OR	95% CI	P		
Temple								
Low		1.00 (ref.)			1.00 (ref.)			
High	1.85	1.16-2.96	0.01^{*}	1.52	0.91-2.54	0.11		

Adjusted for age, current marital status, living status, educational level, employment status, smoking status, alcohol consumption, healthy diet, BMI, and self-rated health.

* Statistically significant (P < .05).

TABLE 5: Associations of the objectively measured neighborhood destinations with sedentary behavior by gender.

Odds of excessive sedentary behavior								
	Older men			Older women				
	OR	95% CI	P	OR	95% CI	Р		
Utilitarian destinations								
Low		1.00 (ref.)			1.00 (ref.)			
High	1.33	0.91-1.97	0.14	1.70	1.12-2.56	0.01*		

Adjusted for age, current marital status, living status, educational level, employment status, smoking status, alcohol consumption, healthy diet, BMI, and self-rated health.

* Statistically significant (P < .05).

ences between neighborhood destinations and active/sedentary behaviors among older adults. Second, respondents self-reported their physical activities and sedentary behaviors. Responses were thus subject to recall bias. Further studies should thus attempt to objectively measure these factors among older adults. Finally, older adults in Taiwan may be reluctant to report their exact residential addresses [23]. The neighborhood destinations used in this study were thus obtained according to participant residential neighborhood rather than exact residential addresses. Nevertheless, residential neighborhood units have widely been used as validated geographic areas when measuring walkability attributes [30].

5. Conclusions

Gender is a potential moderator between neighborhood destinations and physical activity/sedentary behavior among older adults. In Asia, conveniently located neighborhood temples may support older men in reaching their daily physical activity requirements, while utilitarian destinations (which have previously been found as activity-supportive attributes) may be related to excessive sedentary behavior among older women.

Data Availability

The dataset supporting the conclusions of this article is available in the laboratory of Dr. Yung Liao (corresponding author).

Disclosure

The Ministry of Science and Technology of Taiwan was not involved in the study design, data collection process, analysis, interpretation, or writing of this manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

The author declares no conflicts of interest.

Authors' Contributions

Jong-Hwan Park and Jung-Hoon Park contributed equally to this work.

Acknowledgments

This study used personal grant received from the Ministry of Science and Technology of Taiwan (MOST 107-2410-H-003-117-MY2). This work was supported by the National Research Foundation of Korea grant funded by the Korean Government (NRF-2017R1C1B5017549).

References

- United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, World population ageing 2017, New York, 2018https://www .un.org/en/development/desa/population/publications/pdf/ ageing/WPA2017_Highlights.pdf.
- [2] F. Sun, I. J. Norman, and A. E. While, "Physical activity in older people: a systematic review," *BMC Public Health*, vol. 13, no. 1, 2013.
- [3] S. Dogra and L. Stathokostas, "Sedentary behavior and physical activity are independent predictors of successful aging in middle-aged and older adults," *Journal of Aging Research*, vol. 2012, Article ID 190654, 8 pages, 2012.
- [4] K. P. Gennuso, R. E. Gangnon, C. E. Matthews, K. M. Thraen-Borowski, and L. H. Colbert, "Sedentary behavior, physical activity, and markers of health in older adults," *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, vol. 45, no. 8, pp. 1493–1500, 2013.
- [5] M. E. Nelson, W. J. Rejeski, S. N. Blair et al., "Physical activity and public health in older adults: recommendation from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association," *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, vol. 39, no. 8, pp. 1435–1445, 2007.
- [6] L. F. M. de Rezende, J. P. Rey-López, V. K. R. Matsudo, and O. do Carmo Luiz, "Sedentary behavior and health outcomes among older adults: a systematic review," *BMC Public Health*, vol. 14, no. 1, 2014.
- [7] J. F. Sallis, R. B. Cervero, W. Ascher, K. A. Henderson, M. K. Kraft, and J. Kerr, "An ecological approach to creating active living communities," *Annual Review of Public Health*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 297–322, 2006.
- [8] N. Owen, T. Sugiyama, E. E. Eakin, P. A. Gardiner, M. S. Tremblay, and J. F. Sallis, "Adults' sedentary behavior," *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, vol. 41, no. 2, pp. 189–196, 2011.
- [9] T. Sugiyama, M. Neuhaus, R. Cole, B. Giles-Corti, and N. Owen, "Destination and route attributes associated with

adults' walking: a review," *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, vol. 44, no. 7, pp. 1275–1286, 2012.

- [10] T. Sugiyama, E. Cerin, M. Mridha, M. J. Koohsari, and N. Owen, "Prospective associations of local destinations and routes with middle-to-older aged adults' walking," *Gerontologist*, vol. 58, no. 1, pp. 121–129, 2018.
- [11] M. J. Koohsari, T. Sugiyama, K. E. Lamb, K. Villanueva, and N. Owen, "Street connectivity and walking for transport: role of neighborhood destinations," *Preventive Medicine*, vol. 66, pp. 118–122, 2014.
- [12] National Science Council, *Taiwan Social Change Survey*, 2007, https://www2.ios.sinica.edu.tw/sc/en/home2.php.
- [13] Cultural Resources Geographic Information System Temples of Taiwan, 2019, http://crgis.rchss.sinica.edu.tw/temples#c1= Temple&b_start=0.
- [14] Department of stastics Ministry of the Interior, 2019, http:// statis.moi.gov.tw/micst/stmain.jsp?sys=100.
- [15] Y. M. Liou, C. J. C. Jwo, K. G. Yao, L.-C. Chiang, and L.-H. Huang, "Selection of appropriate Chinese terms to represent intensity and types of physical activity terms for use in the Taiwan version of IPAQ," *Journal of Nursing Research*, vol. 16, no. 4, pp. 252–263, 2008.
- [16] M. C. Hsueh, Y. Liao, and S. H. Chang, "Associations of total and domain-specific sedentary time with type 2 diabetes in Taiwanese older adults," *Journal of Epidemiology*, vol. 26, no. 7, pp. 348–354, 2016.
- [17] Y. Liao, I. T. Wang, H. H. Hsu, and S. H. Chang, "Perceived environmental and personal factors associated with walking and cycling for transportation in Taiwanese adults," *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 2105–2119, 2015.
- [18] P.-W. Ku, "Development of the Sedentary Behavior Questionnaire for the Elderly," *Sports & Exercise Research*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 41–55, 2016.
- [19] H. P. van der Ploeg, "Sitting Time and All-Cause Mortality Risk in 222 497 Australian Adults," *Archives of Internal Medicine*, vol. 172, no. 6, pp. 494–500, 2012.
- [20] National Land Surveying and Mapping Center, Ed, 2019.
- [21] Department of Civil Affairs National Religious Information System Information-Temples, 2019.
- [22] R. C. Brownson, C. M. Hoehner, K. Day, A. Forsyth, and J. F. Sallis, "Measuring the built environment for physical activity: state of the science," *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, vol. 36, no. 4, pp. S99–S123.e12, 2009.
- [23] Y. Liao, C.-Y. Lin, T.-F. Lai, Y.-J. Chen, B. Kim, and J.-H. Park, "Walk Score[®] and Its Associations with Older Adults' Health Behaviors and Outcomes," *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, vol. 16, no. 4, p. 622, 2019.
- [24] Y. Liao, A. Shibata, K. Ishii, M. J. Koohsari, and K. Oka, "Cross-sectional and prospective associations of neighbourhood environmental attributes with screen time in Japanese middle-aged and older adults," *BMJ Open*, vol. 8, no. 3, p. e019608, 2018.
- [25] S. Amagasa, N. Fukushima, H. Kikuchi, T. Takamiya, K. Oka, and S. Inoue, "Light and sporadic physical activity overlooked by current guidelines makes older women more active than older men," *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, vol. 14, no. 1, p. 59, 2017.
- [26] W. S. Babakus and J. L. Thompson, "Physical activity among South Asian women: a systematic, mixed-methods review,"

International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity, vol. 9, no. 1, p. 150, 2012.

- [27] R. Oldenburg, *The Great Good Place: Cafes, Coffee Shops, Bookstores, Bars, Hair Salons, and Other Hangouts at the Heart of a Community, Da Capo Press, 1999.*
- [28] L. Farren, B. Belza, P. Allen et al., "Mall walking program environments, features, and participants: a scoping review," *Preventing Chronic Disease*, vol. 12, 2015.
- [29] D. A. Cohen, B. Han, K. P. Derose, S. Williamson, T. Marsh, and T. L. McKenzie, "Physical activity in parks: a randomized controlled trial using community engagement," *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, vol. 45, no. 5, pp. 590–597, 2013.
- [30] E. Leslie, B. Saelens, L. Frank et al., "Residents' perceptions of walkability attributes in objectively different neighbourhoods: a pilot study," *Health & Place*, vol. 11, no. 3, pp. 227–236, 2005.


Research Article

Impact of Acute Eccentric versus Concentric Running on Exercise-Induced Fat Oxidation and Postexercise Physical Activity in Untrained Men

Shaea Alkahtani⁽⁾,¹ Osama Aljuhani,² Nasser Alkhalidi,¹ Naif Almasuod,¹ Omar Hezam,¹ Ibrahim Aljaloud,¹ Haitham Abdel Hamid Dawoud⁽⁾,³ and Ahmed Abdusalam⁴

¹Department of Exercise Physiology, College of Sport Sciences and Physical Activity, King Saud University, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia ²Department of Physical Education, College of Sport Sciences and Physical Activity, King Saud University, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia ³Department of Sport Health Sciences, Faculty of Physical Education, Helwan University, Cairo, Egypt

⁴Department of Biomechanics and Motor Behavior, College of Sport Sciences and Physical Activity, King Saud University, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

Correspondence should be addressed to Shaea Alkahtani; shalkahtani@ksu.edu.sa

Received 25 May 2020; Accepted 2 July 2020; Published 20 July 2020

Guest Editor: Danilo Sales Bocalini

Copyright © 2020 Shaea Alkahtani et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Introduction. This study aimed at comparing the rate of exercise-induced fat oxidation and postexercise free-living physical activity after constant-load flat running (FR) and downhill running (DHR) bouts at an intensity that elicited maximal fat oxidation. Methods. Participants were 11 healthy untrained men (mean age 25.6 ± 3.3 years; $VO_{2max}39.11 \pm 8.05$ ml/kg/min). The study included four visits. The first two visits determined the intensity of maximal fat oxidation during incremental FR and DHR tests. The second two visits involved constant-load FR or DHR at the intensity that elicited maximal fat oxidation in a counterbalanced order separated by two weeks. Gas exchange analysis was used to measure substrate oxidation during all exercise sessions. Sedentary time and physical activity were measured using ActiGraph triaxial accelerometers for three days including the day of exercise tests (the second day). Results. During the incremental exercise tests, fat oxidation was significantly greater during the first stage of FR (P < 0.05) but started to increase during the fourth stage of DHR, although this did not reach significance. Of the 11 participants, 7 had greater fat oxidation during DHR. During continuous constant-load running, fat oxidation was higher during DHR than FR but at only two stages was either significant or borderline significant, and the time/group interaction was not significant. There was no significant effect on sedentary time of time/group interaction (P = 0.769), but there was a significant effect of time (P = 0.005), and there was no significant effect on total physical activity of time/group interaction (P = 0.283) or time (P = 0.602). Conclusion. Acute aerobic eccentric exercise at an intensity eliciting maximal fat oxidation enhanced exercise-induced fat oxidation without worsening postexercise free-living physical activity, indicating it could be a useful training modality in weight management programs.

1. Introduction

Eccentric exercise such as downhill running requires less metabolic effort than traditional running (i.e., flat running). This type of exercise is therefore a promising training strategy for a nonactive population such as obese and sedentary individuals. For example, in a study involving obese women, 12 weeks of descending stair walking improved functional fitness and blood profile to a greater extent than did ascending stair walking [1]. Likewise, Julian et al. [2] found that 12-week eccentric cycling significantly improved insulin resistance while concentric cycling did not, although both types of training improved maximal oxygen consumption, body composition, and leg strength. Eccentric exercise can improve metabolic and physical characteristics with fewer training sessions; for example, one session a week of eccentric isokinetic contraction for eight weeks in untrained individuals increased resting energy expenditure and fat oxidation [3].

However, there are methodological issues surrounding studies measuring internal physiological effort using energy expenditure and substrate oxidation and external work load using speed and resistance during eccentric exercise, which require further experimental research. For example, Penailillo et al. [4] found that fat oxidation during acute eccentric cycling was 72% greater than concentric cycling, and energy expenditure was 36% lower than concentric cycling. However, this experimental study used similar relative oxygen consumption, meaning different absolute power output. In another study, when the relative exercise intensity was kept constant at 60% VO_{2peak}, there was no significant difference in fat oxidation between continuous 40-minute flat and downhill running bouts [5]. As fat oxidation is minimal at high-intensity exercise, the high intensity used in this study could explain the lack of difference between the conditions. Isacco et al. [6] compared concentric and eccentric cycling at 35% Vo_{2peak} for 45 min and found no significant differences in fat or carbohydrate (CHO) oxidation between the two conditions. However, it was not clear whether this intensity induced the greatest capacity for fat oxidation in both conditions. To examine this, a comparison study at the intensity that elicits maximal fat oxidation is required.

It is well established that moderate exercise intensity causes greater use of fat sources than higher intensity levels [7], and an optimal intensity that elicits maximal fat oxidation has been determined [8]. The level of fat oxidation in response to this optimal intensity differs according to several factors including mode, modality, gender, and fitness levels [9, 10] and has not been examined during eccentric exercise. Thus, the main aim of the present study was to compare the response of substrate oxidation at an intensity that elicits maximal fat oxidation during acute eccentric running compared to concentric flat running in healthy untrained men.

Many studies of traditional concentric exercise have found no effect of structured concentric exercise training on nonexercise energy expenditure and/or physical activity. For example, habitual physical activity and energy expenditure were monitored for 16 days in male and female participants, with four exercise bouts that expended 500 kcal performed in the second half of the intervention, and this study concluded that the exercise program did not change energy expenditure due to spontaneous activity [11]. A 2014 review concluded that there was limited evidence to support the hypothesis that prescribed exercise decreases nonexercise physical activity and energy expenditure, although proper techniques such as indirect calorimetry and doubly labeled water are required [12]. Unlike concentric traditional exercise, unaccustomed eccentric contractions produce muscle damage, soreness, and force impairment [13] that can last several days [14]. Such muscle soreness and damage decreases performance in strength and power tests in posteccentric cycling exercise [15]. The magnitude of muscle damage is affected by several factors including the intensity and slope of eccentric exercise [16]. We hypothesized that the intensity currently proposed to induce maximal fat oxidation causes low to mild muscle damage, such that it can increase exercise-induced fat oxidation with no impairment of postexercise free-living physical activity.

2. Methods

2.1. Participant Characteristics. The included participants were 11 healthy young men (mean age 25.6 ± 3.3 years; body mass index (BMI) 24.70 ± 2.14 kg/m²; VO_{2max}39.11 ± 8.05 ml/kg/min; and maximal heart rate 191 ± 9 beats/min), who upon recruitment engaged in aerobic exercise for 30 to 150 minutes per week. This included recreational walking activities and job type (e.g., students of College of Sport Sciences and Physical Activity at King Saud University). Exclusion criteria included engagement in regular resistance training, BMI > 30 kg/m², sedentary behavior (i.e., did not perform any training in a typical week), or engagement in regular aerobic training for more than 150 minutes per week.

2.2. Study Procedure. The experiment had a crossover counterbalanced design separated by two weeks and took place at the Exercise Physiology Laboratories at the Exercise Physiology Department, College of Sport Sciences and Physical Activity, King Saud University (KSU). The laboratory is airconditioned, with the temperature held constant at 21°C. The study included four visits: two to determine the intensity at which maximal fat oxidation was induced during concentric exercise (flat running) and eccentric exercise (downhill running). The second two visits involved continuous flat and downhill running at the intensity that elicited maximal fat oxidation. Gas exchange analysis was used to measure the substrate oxidation during all exercise sessions, as described below.

All participants were asked to maintain their normal dietary intake between tests and to replicate their average food intake as closely as possible on the day before the exercise tests. Participants were asked to abstain from strenuous exercise and excessive consumption of caffeine in the 24 h before the test. All participants were instructed to arrive at the laboratory between 8 am and 11 am, following an overnight fasting. The experiment was conducted with the human subjects' understanding and consent of the experimental process The Institutional Review Board (IRB) at KSU approved the study procedure (reference number KSU-SE-17-6).

2.3. Incremental and Constant-Load Exercise Tests. A graded exercise test was performed on a treadmill beginning at 4 km/h with a 0% gradient for 3 minutes per stage, with the speed increasing by 1 km/h per stage until the respiratory exchange ratio (RER) reached 1.0, in order to determine the intensity that elicited maximal fat oxidation. Maximal aerobic capacity was measured during the flat running (FR) test only, where participants rested for 10 minutes after the first stage and resumed running at a gradient of 3.5%, which increased by 2.5% every three minutes until volitional exhaustion was reached.

To determine the intensity that elicits maximal fat oxidation during downhill running (DHR), a graded exercise test was performed on a treadmill beginning at 4 km/h with a – 12% gradient for 3 minutes per stage, with the speed increasing by 1 km/h per stage until the RER reached 1.0.

Two running constant-load exercise tests were performed on separate days at gradients of 0% (FR) and -12%(DHR) for 40 minutes, consisting of 8 minutes of running at the intensity that elicited maximal fat oxidation during incremental FR and DHR interspersed by low-intensity walking for 2 minutes.

2.4. Measurement of Substrate Oxidation. Gas exchange was collected and analyzed during all exercise tests using the Parvo Medics Analyser Module (TrueOne® 2400, Metabolic Measurement System, Parvo Medics Inc., USA), which was calibrated for gas and flow meter before all tests following the manufacturer's guidelines. Participants also wore a Polar heart rate (HR) chest strap to monitor exercise-induced HR (Polar H10, Polar Electro 2020, NY, USA).

Expired air measurements were averaged every 30 seconds, and consumption of oxygen (VO_2) and carbon dioxide (VCO_2) in liters per minute and RER were exported to an Excel file. Fat and CHO oxidation were calculated using the following formulae:

Total fat oxidation =
$$1.67 \text{ VO}_2 - 1.67 \text{ VCO}_2$$
,
Total CHO oxidation = $4.55 \text{ VCO}_2 - 3.21 \text{ VO}_2$. (1)

2.5. Measurement of Sedentary Time and Physical Activity. The participants' sedentary time and physical activity were measured using ActiGraph triaxial accelerometers (wGT3X-BT, ActiGraph LLC, Pensacola, FL). Accelerometers were initialized, and then, data were downloaded and analyzed using ActiLife v6013.3 (ActiGraph LLC, Pensacola, FL). The participants were instructed to wear their accelerometer for three days, including the day of the exercise test (the second day). Participants were instructed to wear the accelerometers on their right hip at all times except when they were bathing or sleeping.

The raw data from the accelerometers were downloaded, and counts per minute (CPM) were calculated from the vertical axis movement. The wear time of the accelerometers was validated using the algorithm published by Troiano et al. [17]. Nonwear time was classified as a zero reading sustained for a period of 60 minutes with a tolerance of 1–2 minutes of counts between 0 and 100. Participants with valid data of a minimum of 600 minutes of wear time on all three days were included in the final analysis.

Cut-points developed by Freedson et al. [18] were used to categorize physical activity intensities as sedentary (<99 CPM), light activity (100–1951 CPM), moderate activity (1952–5724 CPM), vigorous activity (5725–9498 CPM), and very vigorous activity (\geq 9499 CPM).

2.6. Statistical Analysis. Data were analyzed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 25 for Windows (SPSS Statistics 25.0, IBM, NY, USA). Two-way repeated-measures tests were performed to analyze the exercise stages (five stages in each session) and exercise conditions (FR and DHR) for oxygen consumption and substrate oxidation. Two-way repeated-measures tests were also per-

formed to analyze the exercise conditions (FR and DHR) and time of measurements (pre- and postexercise) for sedentary and total physical activity. Independent sample *t*-tests were conducted to evaluate significant differences between FR and DHR at each comparable time point of all tests. An

3. Results

The incremental running test showed significantly higher levels of oxygen consumption during FR than DHR at all stages from 4 to 8 km/h (P < 0.001), as shown in Table 1.

 α -level of 0.05 was used to determine statistical significance.

Fat oxidation was significantly greater during FR in the first stage (P < 0.05), while it started to increase from the fourth stage during DHR but did not reach significance. In the last two stages, RER was significantly higher during FR than during DHR (P < 0.05). Figure 1 shows the individual variation in the maximal fat oxidation during the incremental test of FR and DHR; 4 out of 11 participants had greater fat oxidation during FR.

During continuous constant-load running, there were no significant differences in VO_2 between FR and DHR, although the mean value of VO_2 was greater at all stages during DHR, leading to a significant time effect and time*group effect, as shown in Table 2.

CHO oxidation was higher during FR than during DHR in four stages, but the differences were not significant. The fat oxidation was higher during DHR than during FR but at only two stages was this difference either significant or borderline significant, and time*group was not significant. The average contribution of fat and CHO sources to energy expenditure was $38.3 \pm 2.8\%$ and $61.7 \pm 2.8\%$, respectively, for FR and $52.0 \pm 1.2\%$ and $48.0 \pm 1.2\%$, respectively, for DHR.

In terms of sedentary activity, there was no significant effect of time*group (P = 0.769), and there was a significant effect of time (P = 0.005). Time spent in sedentary activity was higher before DHR than before FR by 74.2 min (95% confidence interval (CI) 4.6, 143.9; t [10] = 2.376; and P = 0.039) and after DHR than after FR by 90.4 min (95% CI 3.5, 177.3; t [10] = 2.319; and P = 0.043, Table 3).

For total physical activity, there was no significant effect of time*group (P = 0.283), and there was no significant effect of time (P = 0.602). Time spent in total physical activity was higher after FR than after DHR by 72.7 min (95% CI 3.90, 141.5; t [10] = 2.355; and P = 0.040, Table 3).

4. Discussion

This study aimed at comparing the maximal fat oxidation during incremental FR and DHR tests and the rate of exercise-induced fat oxidation and postexercise free-living physical activity of constant-load FR and DHR exercise at the point of maximal fat oxidation. During the incremental exercise test, the response of fat oxidation at a matched running speed was higher during FR than during DHR at the first two stages but was higher during the later stages of DHR, although this difference was not significant. The maximal fat oxidation was greater during DHR in 7 out of 11

Speed	FR	DHR	Mean change (95% CI)	Percentage change (%)	P value
			VO ₂ (ml/min/kg)		
4 km/h	9.35 ± 0.6	7.34 ± 0.7	2.01 (1.6-2.4)	21.45	< 0.001
5 km/h	11.20 ± 0.7	8.18 ± 0.8	2.97 (2.3-3.7)	26.52	< 0.001
6 km/h	14.84 ± 2.4	9.87 ± 0.9	4.98 (3.5-6.5)	33.56	< 0.001
7 km/h	20.80 ± 2.2	15.84 ± 1.7	4.92 (3.7-6.2)	23.65	< 0.001
8 km/h	25.34 ± 2.2	19.82 ± 1.5	5.51 (3.5-7.5)	21.74	< 0.001
Time effect			< 0.001		
Time*group			< 0.001		
		F	at oxidation (g/min)		
4 km/h	0.20 ± 0.08	0.10 ± 0.11	0.10 (0.04-0.17)	50	0.033
5 km/h	0.25 ± 0.11	0.16 ± 0.10	0.09 (0.009-0.18)	36	0.051
6 km/h	0.27 ± 0.15	0.20 ± 0.10	0.07 (-0.02-0.16)	25.9	0.231
7 km/h	0.22 ± 0.92	0.34 ± 0.13	-0.12 (-0.06-0.25)	54.4	0.186
8 km/h	0.16 ± 0.17	0.34 ± 0.14	-0.17 (-0.38-0.03)	106.3	0.071
Time effect			0.535		
Time*group			0.060		
		CH	HO oxidation (g/min)		
4 km/h	0.46 ± 0.20	0.46 ± 0.31	0.003 (-0.21-0.21)	0.65	0.978
5 km/h	0.52 ± 0.24	0.38 ± 0.21	0.14 (-0.10-0.38)	26.92	0.180
6 km/h	0.89 ± 0.33	0.41 ± 0.22	0.47 (0.20-0.75)	52.81	0.001
7 km/h	1.71 ± 0.78	0.65 ± 0.31	1.06 (0.43-1.69)	61.99	0.034
8 km/h	2.05 ± 0.92	0.99 ± 0.42	1.06 (0.32-1.79)	51.71	0.012
Time effect			< 0.001		
Time*group			0.020		
			RER		
4 km/h	0.84 ± 0.05	0.89 ± 0.12	-0.05 (-0.12-0.03)	5.95	0.294
5 km/h	0.84 ± 0.06	0.84 ± 0.07	-0.01 (-0.07-0.06)	1.19	0.820
6 km/h	0.87 ± 0.05	0.83 ± 0.07	0.04 (-0.01-0.10)	4.59	0.192
7 km/h	0.92 ± 0.07	0.83 ± 0.06	0.09 (0.03-0.15)	9.78	0.007
8 km/h	0.94 ± 0.07	0.86 ± 0.06	0.08 (0.01-0.15)	8.51	0.034
Time effect			< 0.001		
Time*group			0.004		

TABLE 1: Comparison between physiological responses during incremental flat running (FR) and downhill running (DHR) tests.

Data are presented as mean \pm SD. FR: flat running; DHR: downhill running; CI: confidence interval; CHO: carbohydrate; RER: respiratory exchange ratio. *P* value significant at *P* < 0.05, 0.01 level.

participants. The fat oxidation rate during exercise sustained at an intensity that elicited maximal fat oxidation was greater during DHR than during FR. Moreover, this intensity level of DHR did not affect postexercise free-living physical activity, which may suggest that it induced no or mild muscle damage.

The study participants were untrained young Saudi men, and their maximal fat oxidation was low, comparable with previously published sedentary, type 2 diabetes, and obese groups. For example, the maximal fat oxidation during FR and DHR in this study was close to or comparable with women with type 2 diabetes (0.38 g/min), and fat oxidation during FR and DHR was lower than untrained healthy women (0.54 g/min) [19]. The same outcomes were found in obese young men $(0.38 \pm 0.13 \text{ g/min})$ while fat oxidation in the active was $0.58 \pm 0.07 \text{ g/min}$ [20]. The low level of fat oxidation in the present healthy young male participants raises the question of whether ethnicity may [21] or may not [22, 23] partially explain variations of fat oxidation; further studies on Saudi and Arab populations are required to answer this.

In the constant-load exercise bouts, the increase in VO_2 was greater during DHR than during FR, which could be attributed to the increase of the VO_2 slow component due to greater fatigue on motor units during eccentric contraction forcing recruitment of additional motor units to achieve the same work rate [24]. This increase in mechanical

(DHR).



FIGURE 1: Individual variation in the maximal fat oxidation (a, b) during incremental exercise tests of flat running (FR) and downhill running

demands during DHR was accompanied by an increase in HR. These mechanical demands of eccentric muscle contraction did not decelerate the response of fat oxidation with the constant-load exercise, but the muscles filled energy demands using CHO sources rather than using fat sources. We previously found that the alteration in exercise-induced energy demands during concentric moderate-intensity interval exercise is largely filled by CHO sources with no effect on the gradually constant increase in fat oxidation [25]. The rate of fat oxidation increased with exercise time (significant time effect), independent of exercise modality (insignificant time* group effect), which is in line with the concept that fat is oxidized during constant-load exercise [26, 27].

The contribution of the fat source to energy expenditure during both conditions was not affected by time, remaining constant during both FR and DHR. Isacco et al. [6] found that the contribution of CHO and fat source in energy expenditure was 53.1% CHO and 46.9% fat during concentric exercise vs. 46.2% CHO and 53.8% fat during eccentric exercise. In our study, the contributions of CHO and fat sources to energy expenditure were 61.7% and 38.3%, respectively, during FR vs. 48.0% and 52.0%, respectively, during DHR. It should be noted that Isacco et al. [6] used a bicycle at 30 revolutions per minute, with the same relative intensity during concentric and eccentric exercises, but this does not explain the differences to our study in the concentric modality results but comparable eccentric modality results. Penailillo et al. [4] conducted exercise bouts at 60% of maximal concentric power output (relative intensity: 76% for concentric and 38% for eccentric) and found that both energy expenditure and CHO expenditure were lower during eccentric than concentric exercise by 36% and 42%, respectively, and fat utilization was greater during eccentric than concentric by 72%. This difference between concentric and eccentric exercises is greater than in the present study or in Isacco et al.'s study.

Several confounders should be considered when comparing the present concentric and eccentric outcomes with other available studies. For example, the -12% gradient used in the present study could increase cardiovascular and metabolic demands and muscle damage to a greater extent than gentler inclinations, such as between -5% and -10% [28]. Moreover, several factors such as insulin level [19], mode of exercise [29], and the recruitment of muscle mass during the test [30] influence the rate of exercise-induced fat oxidation. For example, when individuals performed cycling and rowing exercises at the same intensity, fat oxidation was greater during the rowing session, and this was likely due to the larger muscle mass recruited during rowing [30]. Lastly, Penailillo et al. [4] reported that all participants showed greater fat oxidation during eccentric exercise, while four of our study participants had a greater rate of fat oxidation during the concentric FR exercise (Figure 1). Large individual variations in the rate of maximal fat oxidation have been previously reported [31].

Considering the pre- and postexercise activity levels, our data showed that there were no significant interactions between exercise duration and modality and no statistically significant differences between pre- and postexercise in time spent in sedentary and physical activity in both exercise conditions. The small reduction in total physical activity after DHR (-4.7%) could be attributed to mild muscle damage, while physical activity after FR tended to increase (6.9%). This finding is in line with some previous studies in supporting the importance of low-intensity eccentric exercise in general population exercise programs. For example, downhill walking at 6 km/h and an inclination of -5% for 30 min caused mild muscle damage and delayed-onset muscle soreness the day after exercise compared with uphill walking at an inclination of 5%, but this did not cause significant impairment in glucose metabolism [32]. Likewise, low to mild muscle damage after eccentric exercise did not alter postexercise metabolic responses (i.e., glucose tolerance) [33]. Our results prove that performing eccentric exercise at an intensity that elicits maximal fat oxidation (i.e., speed at 7 to 8 km/h with an inclination of -12%) did not affect postexercise free-living physical activity.

It is known that an initial bout of acute eccentric exercise can cause increased postexercise muscle damage, which can be gradually relieved with subsequent repeated exercise bouts. However, the magnitude of impact during acute eccentric exercise and the local muscle adaptation during chronic eccentric training among heterogeneous individuals is not conclusively known. For example, in a study of active young men conducted in our laboratory, half of the participants showed no differences in voluntary muscle contraction capability between pre-, post-, and 24 h postacute eccentric

Time	FR	DHR	Mean change (95% CI)	Percentage change (%)	P value			
		VC	D_2 (ml/min/kg)	0 0 0 0				
8 minutes	15.48 ± 5.6	17.91 ± 4.8	-2.43 (-7.7-2.8)	15.69	0.413			
18 minutes	15.21 ± 5.9	17.91 ± 4.8	-2.70 (-7.8-2.4)	17.75	0.273			
28 minutes	15.32 ± 5.5	18.73 ± 5.5	-3.4 (-8.5-1.7)	22.19	0.184			
38 minutes	15.42 ± 5.34	19.27 ± 5.8	-3.86 (-9.0-1.3)	25.03	0.139			
48 minutes	15.89 ± 5.6	19.42 ± 5.8	-3.52 (-8.6-1.6)	22.15	0.186			
Time effect			< 0.001					
Time*group			0.006					
		Fat o	oxidation (g/min)					
8 minutes	0.26 ± 0.15	0.38 ± 0.19	-0.13 (-0.250.004)	50.0	0.120			
18 minutes	0.22 ± 0.12	0.37 ± 0.21	-0.15 (-0.260.04)	68.18	0.056			
28 minutes	0.23 ± 0.13	0.41 ± 0.24	-0.18 (-0.320.05)	78.26	0.046			
38 minutes	0.25 ± 0.15	0.41 ± 0.24	-0.16 (-0.300.02)	64.0	0.089			
48 minutes	0.28 ± 0.14	0.42 ± 0.25	-0.14 (-0.28-0.01)	50	0.146			
Time effect			0.016					
Time*group			0.319					
CHO oxidation (g/min)								
8 minutes	0.91 ± 0.43	0.76 ± 0.28	0.14 (-0.24-0.52)	15.38	0.384			
18 minutes	0.97 ± 0.45	0.85 ± 0.36	0.12 (-0.33-0.57)	12.37	0.532			
28 minutes	0.97 ± 0.49	0.83 ± 0.36	0.14 (-0.31-0.58)	14.43	0.487			
38 minutes	0.91 ± 0.45	0.87 ± 0.36	0.04 (-0.40-0.48)	4.39	0.833			
48 minutes	0.88 ± 0.43	0.88 ± 0.40	-0.01 (-0.43-0.42)	1.13	0.971			
Time effect			0.420					
Time*group			0.300					
			RER					
8 minutes	0.87 ± 0.06	0.83 ± 0.04	0.04 (-0.003-0.08)	4.59	0.113			
18 minutes	0.89 ± 0.05	0.84 ± 0.05	0.05 (0.01-0.09)	5.62	0.041			
28 minutes	0.89 ± 0.06	0.83 ± 0.04	0.05 (0.01-0.10)	5.62	0.036			
38 minutes	0.88 ± 0.06	0.84 ± 0.04	0.04 (-0.01-0.08)	4.54	0.150			
48 minutes	0.86 ± 0.06	0.84 ± 0.05	0.03 (-0.02-0.08)	3.49	0.274			
Time effect			0.212					
Time*group			0.323					
		H	IR (beat/min)					
8 minutes	112.3 ± 21.56	126.8 ± 22.50	-14.5 (-34.9-5.9)	12.91	0.158			
18 minutes	112.80 ± 17.45	131.60 ± 21.87	-18.8 (-37.8-0.22)	16.67	0.048			
28 minutes	117.40 ± 16.83	136.80 ± 25.34	-19.40 (-38.9-0.15)	16.52	0.059			
38 minutes	115.3 ± 15.73	138.70 ± 28.14	-23.4 (-46.60.22)	20.29	0.034			
48 minutes	115.7 ± 22.25	141.80 ± 27.61	-26.1 (-52.9-0.68)	22.56	0.032			
Time effect			< 0.001					
Time*group			0.053					

TABLE 2: Comparison between physiological responses during constant-load flat running (FR) and downhill running (DHR) tests.

Data are presented as mean \pm SD. FR: flat running; DHR: downhill running; CI: confidence interval; CHO: carbohydrate; RER: respiratory exchange ratio; HR: heart rate. *P* value significant at *P* < 0.05, 0.01 level.

TABLE 3: Time spent in sedentary and physical activity pre- and postexercise.

Variables	FR (mean \pm SD)	DHR (mean ± SD)			
Sedentary (minutes per day)					
Preexercise	702.5 ± 116.6	$776.8 \pm 76.3^{*}$			
Postexercise	693.8 ± 70.9	$784.2 \pm 120.5^{*}$			
Total physical activity (minutes per day)					
Preexercise	260.4 ± 86.3	235.6 ± 95.9			
Postexercise	279.7 ± 96.8	$225.0 \pm 131.7^{*}$			

Data are presented as mean \pm SD. FR: flat running; DHR: downhill running. *Significantly different ($P \le 0.05$) compared to FR.

exercise, demonstrating that the impact of acute eccentric exercise on muscle damage was minimal in this population [5]. Melanson et al. [34] stated that there are wide variations among individuals in their nonexercise physical activity response to structured exercise training.

5. Conclusion

With the qualification that not all participants had a greater rate of fat oxidation during incremental eccentric than concentric exercise bout, this study showed that acute aerobic eccentric exercise at an intensity eliciting maximal fat oxidation enhanced exercise-induced fat oxidation without worsening postexercise free-living physical activity, indicating it could be a useful training modality in weight management programs.

Future studies should investigate whether any expected improvement in body weight during DHR is due to the greater utilization of fat or due to the higher amount of work load compared to FR. Moreover, as the responses of VO_2 and HR during DHR were different from FR, and due to the fact that monitoring fat oxidation is not feasible during filed exercise training, understanding the adaptation of physiological parameters at the level of maximal fat oxidation should be examined in laboratory and field chronic experimental studies.

Data Availability

The data used to support the findings of this study are included within the article. For further information, please contact the corresponding author.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgments

The authors extend their thankfulness to all participants and to the Laboratories at the Exercise Physiology Department at KSU. The authors extend their appreciation to the Deanship of Scientific Research at King Saud University for funding this work through the Undergraduate Research Support Program (project no. URSP-3-17-44).

References

- T. C. Chen, C.-C. Hsieh, K.-W. Tseng, C.-C. Ho, and K. Nosaka, "Effects of descending stair walking on health and fitness of elderly obese women," *Medicine and Science in Sports* and Exercise, vol. 49, no. 8, pp. 1614–1622, 2017.
- [2] V. Julian, D. Thivel, M. Miguet et al., "Eccentric cycling is more efficient in reducing fat mass than concentric cycling in adolescents with obesity," *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine* & Science in Sports, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 4–15, 2018.
- [3] V. Paschalis, M. G. Nikolaidis, A. A. Theodorou et al., "A weekly bout of eccentric exercise is sufficient to induce health-promoting effects," *Medicine and Science in Sports* and Exercise, vol. 43, no. 1, pp. 64–73, 2011.
- [4] L. Penailillo, A. Blazevich, and K. Nosaka, "Energy expenditure and substrate oxidation during and after eccentric cycling," *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, vol. 114, no. 4, pp. 805–814, 2014.
- [5] S. A. Alkahtani, "Acute downhill running does not induce fat oxidation," *Sport Sciences for Health*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 71– 76, 2018.
- [6] L. Isacco, O. Ritter, N. Tordi et al., "Similar substrate oxidation rates in concentric and eccentric cycling matched for aerobic power output," *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism*, vol. 41, no. 11, pp. 1204–1207, 2016.
- [7] A. E. Jeukendrup and G. A. Wallis, "Measurement of substrate oxidation during exercise by means of gas exchange measurements," *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, vol. 26, Supplement 1, pp. S28–S37, 2005.
- [8] M. C. Venables and A. E. Jeukendrup, "Endurance training and obesity," *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, vol. 40, no. 3, pp. 495–502, 2008.
- [9] J. Achten, M. C. Venables, and A. E. Jeukendrup, "Fat oxidation rates are higher during running compared with cycling over a wide range of intensities," *Metabolism*, vol. 52, no. 6, pp. 747–752, 2003.
- [10] M. C. Riddell, V. K. Jamnik, K. E. Iscoe, B. W. Timmons, and N. Gledhill, "Fat oxidation rate and the exercise intensity that elicits maximal fat oxidation decreases with pubertal status in young male subjects," *Journal of Applied Physiology*, vol. 105, no. 2, pp. 742–748, 2008.
- [11] R. McLaughlin, D. Malkova, and M. A. Nimmo, "Spontaneous activity responses to exercise in males and females," *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 60, no. 9, pp. 1055–1061, 2006.
- [12] R. A. Washburn, K. Lambourne, A. N. Szabo, S. D. Herrmann, J. J. Honas, and J. E. Donnelly, "Does increased prescribed exercise alter non-exercise physical activity/energy expenditure in healthy adults? A systematic review," *Clinical Obesity*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 1–20, 2014.
- [13] M. Roig, K. O'Brien, G. Kirk et al., "The effects of eccentric versus concentric resistance training on muscle strength and mass in healthy adults: a systematic review with meta-analysis," *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, vol. 43, no. 8, pp. 556– 568, 2009.
- [14] K. P. O'Reilly, M. J. Warhol, R. A. Fielding, W. R. Frontera, C. N. Meredith, and W. J. Evans, "Eccentric exercise-induced muscle damage impairs muscle glycogen repletion," *Journal* of Applied Physiology, vol. 63, no. 1, pp. 252–256, 1987.
- [15] L. Peñailillo, N. Guzmán, J. Cangas, A. Reyes, and H. Zbinden-Foncea, "Metabolic demand and muscle damage induced by

eccentric cycling of knee extensor and flexor muscles," *European Journal of Sport Science*, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 179–187, 2016.

- [16] U. Proske and D. L. Morgan, "Muscle damage from eccentric exercise: mechanism, mechanical signs, adaptation and clinical applications," *The Journal of Physiology*, vol. 537, no. 2, pp. 333–345, 2001.
- [17] R. P. Troiano, D. Berrigan, K. W. Dodd, L. C. Mâsse, T. Tilert, and M. Mcdowell, "Physical activity in the United States measured by accelerometer," *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 181–188, 2008.
- [18] P. S. Freedson, E. Melanson, and J. Sirard, "Calibration of the Computer Science and Applications, Inc. accelerometer," *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, vol. 30, no. 5, pp. 777–781, 1998.
- [19] M. H. Suk, Y. J. Moon, S. W. Park, C. Y. Park, and Y. A. Shin, "Maximal fat oxidation rate during exercise in Korean women with type 2 diabetes mellitus," *Diabetes & Metabolism Journal*, vol. 39, no. 4, pp. 328–334, 2015.
- [20] S. S. Balcı, "Comparison of substrate oxidation during walking and running in normal-weight and overweight/obese men," *Obesity Facts*, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 327–338, 2012.
- [21] J. M. R. Gill, C. A. Celis-Morales, and N. Ghouri, "Physical activity, ethnicity and cardio-metabolic health: does one size fit all?," *Atherosclerosis*, vol. 232, no. 2, pp. 319–333, 2014.
- [22] C. Weyer, S. Snitker, R. Rising, C. Bogardus, and E. Ravussin, "Determinants of energy expenditure and fuel utilization in man: effects of body composition, age, sex, ethnicity and glucose tolerance in 916 subjects," *International Journal of Obesity*, vol. 23, no. 7, pp. 715–722, 1999.
- [23] S. N. Wulan, K. R. Westerterp, and G. Plasqui, "Dietary and 24-h fat oxidation in Asians and whites who differ in body composition," *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 95, no. 6, pp. 1335–1341, 2012.
- [24] S. Perrey, A. Betik, R. Candau, J. D. Rouillon, and R. L. Hughson, "Comparison of oxygen uptake kinetics during concentric and eccentric cycle exercise," *Journal of Applied Physiology*, vol. 91, no. 5, pp. 2135–2142, 2001.
- [25] S. Alkahtani, "Comparing fat oxidation in an exercise test with moderate-intensity interval training," *Journal of sports science* & medicine, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 51–58, 2014.
- [26] B. Capostagno and A. Bosch, "Higher fat oxidation in running than cycling at the same exercise intensities," *International Journal of Sport Nutrition and Exercise Metabolism*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 44–55, 2010.
- [27] X. Chenevière, F. Borrani, V. Ebenegger, B. Gojanovic, and D. Malatesta, "Effect of a 1-hour single bout of moderateintensity exercise on fat oxidation kinetics," *Metabolism*, vol. 58, no. 12, pp. 1778–1786, 2009.
- [28] J. W. Navalta, D. A. Sedlock, and K. S. Park, "Physiological responses to downhill walking in older and younger individuals," *Journal of exercise physiology online*, vol. 7, no. 6, 2004.
- [29] M. Mendelson, K. Jinwala, B. Wuyam, P. Levy, and P. Flore, "Can crossover and maximal fat oxidation rate points be used equally for ergocycling and walking/running on a track?," *Diabetes & Metabolism*, vol. 38, no. 3, pp. 264–270, 2012.
- [30] B. Egan, D. T. Ashley, E. Kennedy, P. L. O'Connor, and D. J. O'Gorman, "Higher rate of fat oxidation during rowing compared with cycling ergometer exercise across a range of exercise intensities," *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*, vol. 26, no. 6, pp. 630–637, 2016.

- [31] T. Meyer, C. Folz, F. Rosenberger, and W. Kindermann, "The reliability of fat," *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 213–221, 2009.
- [32] A. Nakayama, W. Aoi, M. Takami et al., "Effect of downhill walking on next-day muscle damage and glucose metabolism in healthy young subjects," *The Journal of Physiological Sciences*, vol. 69, no. 1, pp. 31–38, 2019.
- [33] M. Philippe, G. Junker, H. Gatterer, A. Melmer, and M. Burtscher, "Acute effects of concentric and eccentric exercise matched for energy expenditure on glucose metabolism in healthy females: a randomized crossover trial," *Springerplus*, vol. 5, no. 1, p. 1455, 2016.
- [34] E. L. Melanson, S. K. Keadle, J. E. Donnelly, B. Braun, and N. A. King, "Resistance to exercise-induced weight loss: compensatory behavioral adaptations," *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, vol. 45, no. 8, pp. 1600–1609, 2013.



Research Article

Evidence-Based Optimal Cutoff Values with the Validation of Criterion-Referenced Standards for Sarcopenic Elderly Fitness Improvement

Hyunseok Jee ⁽¹⁾,¹ Soo Hyun Park,² and Saejong Park ⁽¹⁾

¹School of Kinesiology, Yeungnam University, 280 Daehak-ro, Gyeongsan, Gyeongbuk 38541, Republic of Korea ²Department of Sport Science, Korea Institute of Sport Science, Seoul, Republic of Korea

Correspondence should be addressed to Saejong Park; saejpark@sports.re.kr

Received 18 December 2019; Revised 28 February 2020; Accepted 6 April 2020; Published 25 April 2020

Guest Editor: Danilo Sales Bocalini

Copyright © 2020 Hyunseok Jee et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

This study provides a newly updated perspective of information on severely screened 21 previous studies of the various measurement methods for improving physical fitness and providing determined cutoff values from our reserved elderly human database. We aimed to provide scientific evidence-based information regarding physical fitness standards for developing useful prognostics, promoting and maintaining health programs for sarcopenic elderly. 21 previous studies emphasizing criterion referenced standards and receiver operator characteristic (ROC) curve analyses for improving physical fitness were screened. For predicting the prevalence of sarcopenia, the *t*-test, logistic regression, linear regression, ROC curve analyses, and voluntary categorizations such as the twentieth or sixtieth percentile classification were used. Based on these scientific evidences, we determined cutoff values from our reserved DB and realized that 75 years for men and 70 years for women are the transitional period during which there are large declines in muscle and fat mass (p < 0.01), which reflects physical function tests (p < 0.01) in both genders. Using the six factors with ideal cutoff thresholds, an individual exercise program can be designed for alleviating symptoms of frailty caused by sarcopenia for the elderly.

1. Introduction

Sarcopenia is a progressive deterioration of the loss of muscular mass and strength during aging [1, 2]. Sarcopenia is significantly associated with declining physical activities, which induces a lower level of quality of life that eventually contributes to death. According to the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People (EWGSOP), prognostic criteria for considering the treatment of sarcopenia include muscle mass (quantitative aspect), muscle strength (qualitative aspect), and physical performance [3, 4]. Effective interventions for ameliorating this syndrome have been considered, from pharmaceutical to nutritional and physical training aspects, to decelerate the gradual onset of the sarcopenic state. Jung et al. reported that a recommended diet may be associated with higher muscle mass function in Korean elderly people [5], and a traditional British dietary pattern is associated with a 2.1-fold increase in the risk of prevalent sarcopenia, even with adequate protein intake [6]. About 10% of community-dwelling older adults and 35% of them under institutional care fail to eat enough recommended daily protein intake (0.7 g/kg body weight/day) [7]. Especially, this study is focused on physical activities, which appear to be less adverse-effective than other methods and even lead to positively broad-ranging effects, not only on physical but also on psychological aspects of our bodies. Physical fitness is an important and prerequisite condition for the suitable exercise treatment as an intervention for decelerating the progression of sarcopenia, at the very least.

An inappropriate physical fitness level by way of physical inactivity can result in metabolic chronic diseases such as high blood pressure and diabetes. Declining physical fitness-related factors according to aging are raised, such as physiological function (muscle strength, balance, weight, grip strength, and BMI), fatigue, depression, and cognitive recognition, and improving these factors should be primarily

TABLE 1: The characteristics of elderly subjects
--

		Men (<i>n</i> = 585)		Women (<i>n</i> = 910)			
	High muscle $(n = 397)$	Low muscle $(n = 188)$	<i>p</i> value	High muscle $(n = 618)$	Low muscle $(n = 292)$	<i>p</i> value	
Age (yr)	70.92 ± 4.36	73.12 ± 5.13	< 0.001	70.89 ± 4.91	73.94 ± 5.54	< 0.001	
High (cm)	167.67 ± 4.95	161.45 ± 4.78	< 0.001	154.14 ± 4.29	148.19 ± 4.22	< 0.001	
Weight (kg)	68.74 ± 6.64	57.80 ± 7.19	< 0.001	60.24 ± 7.06	50.74 ± 5.57	< 0.001	
BMI (kg/m ²)	24.48 ± 2.21	22.19 ± 2.45	< 0.001	25.36 ± 3.13	23.16 ± 2.58	< 0.001	
Lean mass (kg)	28.60 ± 2.40	23.31 ± 1.88	< 0.001	20.47 ± 1.62	16.80 ± 1.19	< 0.001	
Per BF (%)	24.53 ± 5.03	24.44 ± 6.30	0.855	35.64 ± 6.49	35.91 ± 5.74	0.524	
Waist (cm)	88.30 ± 6.45	82.17 ± 7.40	< 0.001	89.53 ± 8.77	84.10 ± 8.34	< 0.001	
TC (mg/dl)	184.78 ± 35.59	180.61 ± 36.63	0.209	195.88 ± 37.52	196.70 ± 36.00	0.762	
TG (mg/dl)	109.29 ± 49.16	98.99 ± 40.98	0.012	118.51 ± 49.67	123.53 ± 55.50	0.187	
HDL-C (mg/dl)	54.85 ± 12.90	56.68 ± 13.73	0.133	57.80 ± 14.05	58.28 ± 14.07	0.635	
LDL-C (mg/dl)	117.40 ± 32.67	112.13 ± 31.78	0.077	123.32 ± 34.23	122.81 ± 32.61	0.835	
Glucose (mg/dl)	101.08 ± 16.50	98.73 ± 17.02	0.128	99.43 ± 17.32	98.76 ± 19.13	0.614	
SBP (mmHg)	129.39 ± 14.78	129.54 ± 15.57	0.910	130.78 ± 16.48	131.25 ± 17.44	0.692	
DBP (mmHg)	74.58 ± 9.07	74.09 ± 9.43	0.554	74.61 ± 9.36	73.27 ± 9.24	0.045	
Arm curl (rep)	20.06 ± 5.13	17.03 ± 4.78	< 0.001	17.03 ± 4.45	15.13 ± 4.18	< 0.001	
Grip (kg)	36.11 ± 5.27	30.47 ± 4.71	< 0.001	22.79 ± 3.90	19.58 ± 3.29	< 0.001	
Low limb extension (nm)	141.95 ± 36.75	108.99 ± 26.26	< 0.001	83.15 ± 21.93	68.28 ± 18.43	< 0.001	
Low limb flexion (nm)	81.15 ± 21.75	60.61 ± 17.01	< 0.001	45.50 ± 13.73	34.80 ± 10.40	< 0.001	

considered the main standard for developing effective intervention to promote physical fitness in the elderly [8, 9]. A series of studies on considering the supportive concepts of "exercise as medicine" demonstrated that regular physical exercise can protect against metabolic disease, cancer, retinal degeneration, and even memory loss [10].

In elderly participants with nonphysical activity, their health state can be easily aggravated via various vulnerabilities caused by the lack of physical fitness, including derived chronic diseases, which can turn into long-lasting frailty. Aging muscle mass decreases by about 2–3% every year after 60 years of age, which causes frailty (expressed as sarcopenia or declining physiological reservoir) as one of the geriatric syndromes due to decreased functional abilities (e.g., muscle strength, walking speed, and balance) [11, 12]. Fried et al. define frailty as characterized by the presence of more than three among five specific items: decreased vitality, slower gait speed, weakness, decreased physical activities, and decreased weight [13]. Prognostic categorization defining by pre- and postpathogenesis should be emphasized. Furthermore, the standard defined by the above clear categorization should be included in the notion of frailty in order to develop and provide an optimized frailty prevention program, to help delay the effects of the aging process.

Developing health-related standards for promoting physical fitness in elderly people have not only socioeconomic but also individual-centered benefits for relieving related chronic disease derived from poor lifestyle choices, which provides scientific evidence-based information for pursuing improvements in the quality of life for each individual. The main aims of the study are detailed as follows: by searching case studies worldwide regarding validated criterion and reference standards for physical fitness and using an elderly cohort physical fitness-related database (DB) established with patients all across Korea, this study traces prevalence patterns of declines in recognition and physical fitness in the elderly population. We thus aimed to provide scientific evidence-based information regarding physical fitness standards for developing useful prognostics and promoting and maintaining a health program through this field study.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. The Characteristics of Elderly Subjects. One thousand four hundred and ninety-five elderly subjects were randomly selected for recruiting from the representative countrywide physical fitness DB of elderly population during 2014 to 2015. Eighteen variables were applied to the gender-specific subject subgroups to analyze the characteristics of the population (Table 1). The variables are as follows: age (yrs), height (cm), weight (kg), body mass index (BMI, kg/m²), lean body mass (kg), % body fat (%), waist (cm), total cholesterol (TC, mg/dl), triglycerides (TG, mg/dl), HDL-C (mg/dl), LDL-C (mg/dl), serum glucose (mg/dl), systolic blood pressure (SBP, mmHg), diastolic blood pressure (DBP, mmHg), arm curl (repetition), grip (kg), low limb extension (LLE, Nm), and low limb flexion (LLF, Nm). This study was approved by the institutional review board at the Korea Institute of Sport Science (KISS-201504-EFS-002-01).

2.2. Identification and Selection of Studies. Twenty-one previous studies emphasizing criterion referenced standards (CRS) and receiver operator characteristic (ROC) curve analyses for improving physical fitness are shown in Table 2. The severe screening process to identify the final studies selected involved a literature search in two databases, PubMed and the Research Information Service System (RISS, https://www.riss.kr/index.do; n = 112). Relevant articles were reviewed; until finally, 21 studies were selected in accordance with our chosen criteria for subjects, including criteria, title, abstract, and treatment (Figure 1). Optimized variables such as physiological and physical function-related variables and statistical methods were examined to apply to further our field study.

This study describes the study elimination process. Reasonable thresholds for physical fitness are pursued by various methods. Potentially related previous studies were identified through PubMed and the Research Information Service System (RISS, https://www.riss.kr/index.do). Three severe screening stages, excluding such unrelated with the scope, allow subtracting to obtain the highly qualified 21 studies.

2.3. ROC-Related Outcomes from Elderly Subjects as a Field Study. The main outcome predicting sarcopenia prevalence is measured in both genders in over 70 years of age population. We incorporated the definition of sarcopenia according to the indication from the recommendation of the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People (EWGSOP) [3]. The measured profiles for indicating ideal thresholds are as follows: arm curl (30-second arm curl, number of biceps curls that can be completed in 30 seconds holding a hand weight of five pounds, which was 2.3 kg, for women, and eight pounds, which is 3.6 kg, for men) and low limb strength extension (Nm, lower limb extension force was measured (AP3150, Hur, Kokkola, Finland)). The maximal force output from two trials was measured at 0.01 kg units; sit-tostand (repetition, maximal sit-to-stand number counted within 30 seconds), timed up and go test (TUG, in seconds, the time to stand from a chair, walk three meters, and walk back and sit down in the chair), and six-minute walk (m, walking distance for six minutes).

2.4. Statistics. Whole data were described as the mean \pm standard deviation (S.D.). According to the previous study describing the skeletal muscle mass index (SMI, kg/m²), we expressed lower than two standard deviations below the mean value as compared with the SMI value as low muscle and the opposite defined as high muscle [1]. A *t*-test was used to examine the differences between the high and low muscles of each variable in the elderly population (Table 1). For cutoff values, logistic regression involving data from sarcopenic elderly individuals was performed, and each of the significant variables showed a difference in cutoff threshold with respect to gender (Table 3). SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA) and SPSS version 18.0 (IBM, Armonk, NY, USA) were used for all statistical analyses. A value of p < 0.05 was considered to indicate statistically significant difference in all analyses.

3. Results

3.1. The Characteristics of Elderly Subjects. In our DB, 75 years for men and 70 years for women were determined to be the transitional age dividing high and low muscle compositions in both genders (p < 0.01) (Figure 2). An abrupt decrease in muscle mass with rapidly increasing fat mass is shown in this age period; BMI, lean mass, per BF (p < 0.01); however, physiological variables such as total cholesterol (TC), triglyceride (TG), high-density lipoprotein (HDL), low-density lipoprotein (LDL), serum glucose, and blood pressure (BP) do not significantly change in this age period. Physical function tests show all significant differences that were present in the high muscle mass group in both genders have significantly higher values as compared with those in the lower muscle mass group (p < 0.01) (Table 1).

Three aging groups such as 65-69, 70-74, and more than 75 years are sex-differently divided according to the value (kg) of the lean body mass. Orange and blue indicate the men and women groups, respectively. * indicates significant difference (p < 0.05) to 65-69 year group of corresponding sex; # indicates significant difference (p < 0.05) to each sex group of 70-74 years.

3.2. 21 Selected Studies. In selecting highly qualified articles relevant to ROC for physical fitness, 21 articles were finally selected and are shown in Table 2. In the articles, measuring methods are mainly focused on various ranges of age as a means to move forward for the next analysis as this field study. Target variables for CRS are categorized as physiological (e.g., BP, TG, HDL, glucose, insulin, BMI, VO₂ max, and cholesterol) and physical function (e.g., muscle strength, physical compositions, and walking and running tests) factors. Logistic regression, ROC curve analysis, linear regressions, validation methods, and voluntary categorization such as the 20th or 60th percentile classification were examined. Other factors such as ethnical differences and specific ranges of age are overlooked for the further study.

3.3. Physical Fitness-Related ROC Curve Outcomes for Preventing Prognostic Sarcopenia. In gender-different elderly populations, ROC curve analysis for setting optimal cutoff thresholds with ideal sensitivity and specificity values provides priceless information for developing interventions for ameliorating sarcopenia symptoms (Table 3). When predicting prevalence of sarcopenia in elderly people, six physical functions (arm curl, limb strength extension and flexion, sit-to-stand, TUG, and six-minute walk test) in both genders all have significant *p* values (p < 0.05). The cutoff values of sit-to-stand and six-minute walk tests in elderly women have better thresholds than those in elderly men. Sensitivity of low limb strength extension and flexion is 83% and 80% in men and 86% and 86% in women, respectively. Specificity of the six-minute walk test in men and women is 93% and 82%, respectively. Comparatively high values in sensitivity and specificity (both with more than 70%) are shown in low limb strength extension (83% and 75%), low limb strength flexion (80% and 76%), and TUG (71% and 70%) only in men.

		0		
Authors	Subjects	Target for criterion referenced standards (CRS)	Methods of criterion-referenced standards	Miscellaneous
Amini et al. [11]	American football players $(n = 62)$	Waist circumference, quadriceps leak torque, systolic & diastolic BP	ROC curve analysis followed by logistic regression for prediction	Lessening cardiometabolic risk-like type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease
Jang [12]	Pre & post 50 yrs men $(n = 7226)$	Muscle strength and metabolic syndrome (triglyceride, HDL cholesterol, glucose, systolic diastolic BP)	ROC and 20% below -> low level and logistic regression (low muscle strength vs. metabolic syndrome)	Low muscle strength: lowest age-specific 20 th percentile (2.56 kg/kg body weight in pre 50 vs. 2.50 kg/kg body weight in post 50) High muscle strength: highest age-specific 20 th percentile
Ruiz et al. [15]	69 pain treatment patients	Lower pressure pain threshold (PPT, dependent), knee mechanics (independent)	Univariable linear regression for lower PPT and multiple variable linear regression	Knee mechanics are associated with PPT
Sénéchal et al. [17]	Systematic review (<i>n</i> = 59)	Moderate to vigorous physical activity, 6MWT	Logistic regression for cutoff (accelerometry measured moderate to vigorous physical activity compared to sedentary in elderly) and Bland-Altman method used; however, the results are obscure	Sedentary ratio, activity difference, and exercise time reflect the results assessed by accelerometry
Hooten et al. [20]	Review			Changed evaluation trends shown from performance centered to health-related test and norm referenced to CR evaluation. Criterion-referenced standards vs. norm-referenced evaluation ROC introduced
Hanifah et al. [21]	Review			Criterion-referenced evaluation developed history. Advantages of CRS (absolute, diagnostic supportive), drawbacks of CRS (misclassification such as false mastery and false nonmastery, nonsufficient incentives etc.)
Authors	Subjects	Target for criterion-referenced standards (CRS)	Methods of criterion-referenced standards	Miscellaneous
Gorman et al. [22]	$65 \sim 84$ yrs both gender elderly (n = 3074)	Chair stands in 30 s, arm curls in 30 s, 6 min walk, 8 foot up and go (1)	ROC for predicting independent physical function in later life and logistic regression	For later life (~90 yrs), internet-based program recommended (https://www.fmh.ulisboa.pt/ehlab/calculator/)
Duncan et al. [23]	Review (setting CRS transition history)	Make participants get into HFZ	ROC analysis, LMS (L = skewness, M = median, S = coefficient of variation), centile	Single cutoff score ≥ health fitness zone (HFZ), needs improvement zone (NIZ) set for warning potential risk
Kawakami et al. [24]	Systematic review			Selected article had different methods, analyses, and results that prevented comparison between studies ≥ junk article
Zhu et al. [25]	55 yrs and older both gender elderly $(n = 3392)$	BMI, hand grip strength	ROC for hand grip strength cut-points and impaired hand grip cut-points vs. mobility limitation by logistic regression	Optimal hand grip strength cut-points for mobility limitation and the cut-points discriminate BMI
Cureton and Warren [26]	Systematic review		False-positive/false-negative analysis, regression model, visual inspection	

TABLE 2: Screened studies using various methods for measuring physical fitness.

4



FIGURE 1: The screening process of physical fitness-relevant appropriate threshold values to identify studies.

 TABLE 3: Results of ROC curve analysis predicting prevalence sarcopenia in elderly.

Senior fitness variables	Prevalence (%)	AUC (95% CI)	Cutoff value	Sensitivity	Specificity	<i>p</i> value
Men						
Arm curl (rep.)	8.45	0.718 (0.679~0.754)	≤16	68.75	71.54	< 0.001
Low limb strength_ extension (nm)	7.90	0.849 (0.815~0.879)	≤109.22	82.93	75.31	< 0.001
Low limb strength_ flexion (nm)	7.90	0.829 (0.794~0.861)	≤61.72	80.49	75.94	< 0.001
Sit-to-stand (rep.)	7.50	0.714 (0.674~0.753)	≤12	48.72	83.58	< 0.001
TUG (sec.)	7.61	0.763 (0.725~0.798)	>6.367	71.43	70.00	< 0.001
6 min walk (m)	6.51	0.707 (0.655~0.755)	≤388.3	40.91	93.35	0.019
Women						
Arm curl (rep.)	12.47	0.715 (0.684~0.744)	≤14	60.36	71.50	< 0.001
Low limb strength extension (nm)	9.97	0.728 (0.695~0.760)	≤76.04	86.49	56.74	< 0.001
Low limb strength flexion (nm)	9.97	0.793 (0.762~0.821)	≤37.74	86.49	64.67	< 0.001
Sit-to-stand (rep.)	12.0	0.676 (0.641~0.710)	≤14	69.66	61.81	< 0.001
TUG (sec.)	11.9	0.702 (0.669~0.733)	>6.687	68.37	61.29	< 0.001
6 min walk (m)	7.46	0.793 (0.746~0.835)	≤402.8	68.00	82.90	0.019



FIGURE 2: Lean body mass according to different aging groups.

4. Discussion

In this study, we searched 21 severely screened previous studies to identify the measurement methods regarding improving physical fitness without consideration of specific age periods. Logistic regression, ROC curve analysis, linear regression, and voluntary categorizations such as the twentieth or sixtieth percentile classifications were used to provide cutoff points of physical fitness profiles. Based on this scientific evidence, we determined cutoff threshold values from our reserved elderly human DB and realized that 75 years for men and 70 years for women are the transitional age period for muscle and fat mass (p < 0.01), which reflects physical function tests (p < 0.01) that indicate physical fitness levels in both genders.

4.1. Why This Study Focuses on Elderly People and Provides Information That Allows to Develop Useful Prognostics, Maintaining and Promoting Health Programs. Our study

for setting health-related CRS focuses on elderly individuals who especially have limitations in their physical abilities. Factors directly related to metabolic disorder are remarkably relevant to physical fitness factors. Comparative hand grip strength, seated hip adductor stretching, and six-minute walk test in men and comparative hand grip strength in women significantly affect as physical factors on classifying physical fitness in elderly peoples as the prefrailty and frailty. The most important factor affecting frailty in the aged is comparative hand grip strength. Individuals with lower comparative grip strength (i.e., the lower 33.3% group) present with three times more chronic prevalence diseases as compared with those with higher comparative grip strength (i.e., the higher 33.3% group). Elderly individuals with comparative higher grip strength are also typically confident in recognition and balance capacity (https://nfa.kspo.or.kr). In light of these results, it should be noted that the elderly population in Korea represented around 12.2% of the total population in 2013 and will be more than 24% in 2030 (https://kostat.go.kr/portal/eng/ index.action). Thus, it is important to provide beneficial information to elongate the healthy lifespan as much as possible.

4.2. ROC and Non-ROC-Used Methods or Analysis of Criterion-Referenced Standards (CRS) by Selected Articles. Research efforts for establishing CRS and ROC regarding physical fitness for ameliorating and at least maintaining a healthy state have been made, and some studies were thus selected through a severe screening process in this study to identify the chosen variables in various age groups, with an aim at providing evidence-based information to design a preventive and prognostic sarcopenic management program for elderly people by incorporating appropriate ROC values from our DB, as we clarified the aim of this study in Introduction for this field study. One study used height, BMI, waist, and fat ratio as dependent variables with a 20 m shuttle run as an independent variable for oxidative capacity for comparing overweight kids with normal kids to decide the minimal cutoff point for oxidative capacity in children [14]. A prognostic study for preventing the risk of cardiovascular diseases in kids according to cutoff points of metabolic risk provided each of suitable thresholds by using quartile [15]. Another study used the ROC curve to determine the cutoff threshold of each physical composition regarding the risky relationship between type II diabetes and cardiovascular diseases in American football players [16].

A nine-year follow-up study provided cutoff points by using the ROC curve for a threshold between muscular strength and metabolic syndrome in aging men (5,685 under 50 years vs. 1,541 over 50 years of age) [17]. In this study, three study groups were divided as model 1 (no exercise during the last three months), model 2 (middle level of exercise during the last three months), and model 3 (vigorous level of exercise during the last three months).

Another study provided a risk threshold of physiological factors (VO2 max, HDL, glucose, and triglyceride) in oxidative capacity via using the ROC curve for age and genderdifferentiated adolescents between $12\sim18$ yrs (n = 1240), in order to show the reasonable area of the risk threshold at each one-year point to prevent metabolic disease [18].

Other studies used cross-validation for a more accurate cutoff point, rather than ROC curve analysis [19]. Hooten et al. used multiple variable linear regression for the relation between knee joint kinetics and pressure pain threshold [20]. Multiple regression was used for predictive factors such as physical composition to physical fitness standards [21]. Gorman et al. used logistic regression [22], while Duncan et al. randomly divided groups into the following quantile ranks according to cardiorespiratory fitness: lower, middle, and high groups, representing the lower twentieth, twentieth to fifty-ninth, and over sixtieth, respectively [23]. A fourteenyear follow-up longitudinal study for 266 type 2 diabetic patients shows that the symptoms of type 2 diabetes in 33% declined due to the promotion of a physical fitness program [24]. The criterion reference standard for physical activity used in this study was baseline VO2 max at an AUC of 0.70 (95% CI, 0.66-0.73, with sensitivity and specificity being 0.64, respectively) and the optimal cutoff threshold was decided as 10.8 METs for cardiorespiratory fitness.

4.3. Providing Cutoff Threshold for Diagnostic and Preventive Sarcopenia. Based on the screened previous studies, we decided to provide the cutoff points of meaningful values from our own elderly human DB. Six physically functional profiles are disclosed to have significant intereffects with sarcopenia in both genders (p < 0.05), and are as follows: arm curl, low limb strength extension, low limb strength flexion, sit-to-stand, TUG, and six-minute walk test. Absolute muscle output force from the upper and lower limbs is likely higher in men; however, such results should be considered together with the ratio with their burdening load, such as weight. It cannot then possibly determine that necessary muscle force is sufficient for their physical functionality. The sit-to-stand and six-minute walk tests indicate all physical functions necessary for resistant and oxidative capacities, and elderly women have higher values in these tests. For longevity, muscular oxidative capacity is possibly required more so than other capacities (of note, the longevity of Korean women ranked third in the world in 2015). In relation with muscular mass comparison between high and low muscles, the average age difference is also shown to be 70 and 73 years, respectively (Table 1). This suggests that this is a decisive turning point of age on the abrupt muscular declines in both qualitative and quantitative ways. Using the six factors with ideal cutoff thresholds can be used to effectively design a tailormade individual exercise program for alleviating the worsen symptom of frailty caused by sarcopenia for the decisive period of elderly.

5. Conclusions

To provide evidence-based scientific information for useful prognostics and for promoting and maintaining a health program, our study identified beneficial outcomes, like those in the following:

 We pinpointed 21 relevant severely selected articles that include logistic regression, ROC curve analysis, linear regression, and voluntary categorizations to produce optimized cutoff points of physical fitness profiles

(2) We continuously traced ideal cutoff threshold values from our reserved elderly human DB and found that individuals aged from 75 years for men and 70 years for women are within the specifically transitional age period for muscle mass (p < 0.01), which reflects the need for physical function tests in both genders (p < 0.01)

Worsened symptom of sarcopenia usually induces fall in aged persons because of decreased quality and quantity of muscle, which is directly related to the low quality of life in elderly peoples. As the prognostic cutoff values of each physical fitness-related variable for the aged person were provided, ideal physical fitness promoting program can be designed and applied to promote muscle function or at least deaccelerate the worsening of muscle function which possibly contributes to the independent life of aged peoples. This evidence-based field study can contribute to strengthen the standardization of physical fitness-related variables, and the benefit of lifelong health promotion in senescent elderly peoples and the results in this study can be used for a health policy to prevent the symptom of sarcopenia by publicizing as a subject of national-wide recommendation.

Regular exercise elderly-doers decrease possibility to be hospitalized, which induces successful aging such as better quality of life and independent life. An optimal socioeconomic model can be suggested through which each aged person lives a healthy life by reducing medical expenses via doing exercise with a reasonably designed exercise program.

Data Availability

The data used to support the findings of this study have been deposited in the Korea Institute of Sport Science.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgments

This study was supported by research grants from the Korea Sports Promotion Foundation.

References

- S. Ishii, T. Tanaka, K. Shibasaki et al., "Development of a simple screening test for sarcopenia in older adults," *Geriatrics & Gerontology International*, vol. 14, no. S1, pp. 93–101, 2014.
- [2] H. Jee, E. Ochi, T. Sakurai, J. Lim, K. Nakazato, and H. Hatta, "Muscle plasticity related to changes in tubulin and α B-crystallin levels induced by eccentric contraction in rat skeletal muscles," *Physiol Int*, vol. 103, no. 3, pp. 300–309, 2016.
- [3] A. J. Cruz-Jentoft, J. P. Baeyens, J. M. Bauer et al., "Sarcopenia: European consensus on definition and diagnosis report of the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People," *Age and Ageing*, vol. 39, no. 4, pp. 412–423, 2010.

- [4] H. Jee and J. Y. Lim, "Discrepancies between skinned single muscle fibres and whole thigh muscle function characteristics in young and elderly human subjects," *BioMed Research International*, vol. 2016, 8 pages, 2016.
- [5] M. Jung, S. Park, H. Kim, and O. Kwon, "Association of Diet Quality with Low Muscle Mass-Function in Korean Elderly," *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, vol. 16, no. 15, p. 2733, 2019.
- [6] A. Granic, A. Sayer, and S. Robinson, "Dietary patterns, skeletal muscle health, and sarcopenia in older adults," *Nutrients*, vol. 11, no. 4, p. 745, 2019.
- [7] N. E. Deutz, J. M. Bauer, R. Barazzoni et al., "Protein intake and exercise for optimal muscle function with aging: recommendations from the ESPEN expert group," *Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 33, no. 6, pp. 929–936, 2014.
- [8] I. Brown, R. Renwick, and D. Raphael, "Frailty: constructing a common meaning, definition, and conceptual framework," *International Journal of Rehabilitation Research*, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 93–102, 1995.
- [9] W. M. Bortz, "A conceptual framework of frailty: a review," *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, vol. 57, no. 5, pp. M283–M288, 2002.
- [10] M. A. Febbraio, "Exercise metabolism in 2016: health benefits of exercise—more than meets the eye!," *Nature Reviews. Endocrinology*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 72–74, 2017.
- [11] N. Amini, G. Spolverato, R. Gupta et al., "Impact Total Psoas Volume on Short- and Long-Term Outcomes in Patients Undergoing Curative Resection for Pancreatic Adenocarcinoma: a New Tool to Assess Sarcopenia," *Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery*, vol. 19, no. 9, pp. 1593–1602, 2015.
- [12] H. C. Jang and the Sarcopenia Study Group of Korean Geriatrics Society, "How to diagnose sarcopenia in Korean older adults," *Annals of Geriatric Medicine and Research*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 73–79.
- [13] L. P. Fried, et al.C. M. Tangen, J. Walston et al., "Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype," *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, vol. 56, no. 3, pp. M146–M157, 2001.
- [14] D. P. Bailey, L. M. Boddy, L. A. Savory, S. J. Denton, and C. J. Kerr, "Associations between cardiorespiratory fitness, physical activity and clustered cardiometabolic risk in children and adolescents: the HAPPY study," *European Journal of Pediatrics*, vol. 171, no. 9, pp. 1317–1323, 2012.
- [15] J. R. Ruiz, F. B. Ortega, N. S. Rizzo et al., "High cardiovascular fitness is associated with low metabolic risk score in children: the European Youth Heart Study," *Pediatric Research*, vol. 61, no. 3, pp. 350–355, 2007.
- [16] G. B. Wilkerson, J. T. Bullard, and D. W. Bartal, "Identification of cardiometabolic risk among collegiate football players," *Journal of Athletic Training*, vol. 45, no. 1, pp. 67–74, 2010.
- [17] M. A. R. T. I. N. SÉNÉCHAL, J. M. MCGAVOCK, T. S. CHURCH et al., "Cut Points of muscle strength associated with metabolic syndrome in men," *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, vol. 46, no. 8, pp. 1475–1481, 2014.
- [18] G. J. Welk, K. R. Laurson, J. C. Eisenmann, and K. J. Cureton, "Development of youth aerobic-capacity standards using receiver operating characteristic curves," *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, vol. 41, no. 4, pp. S111– S116, 2011.
- [19] W. J. Rutherford and C. B. Corbin, "Validation of criterionreferenced standards for tests of arm and shoulder girdle

strength and endurance," *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, vol. 65, no. 2, pp. 110–119, 1994.

- [20] W. M. Hooten, C. J. Rosenberg, J. S. Eldrige, and W. Qu, "Knee extensor strength is associated with pressure pain thresholds in adults with fibromyalgia," *PloS One*, vol. 8, no. 4, p. e59930, 2013.
- [21] R. A. Hanifah, H. A. Majid, M. Y. Jalaludin et al., "Fitness level and body composition indices: cross-sectional study among Malaysian adolescent," *BMC Public Health*, vol. 14, no. S3, 2014.
- [22] E. Gorman, H. M. Hanson, P. H. Yang, K. M. Khan, T. Liu-Ambrose, and M. C. Ashe, "Accelerometry analysis of physical activity and sedentary behavior in older adults: a systematic review and data analysis," *European Review of Aging and Physical Activity*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 35–49, 2014.
- [23] G. E. Duncan, S. D. Anton, S. J. Sydeman et al., "Prescribing exercise at varied levels of intensity and frequency: a randomized trial," *Archives of Internal Medicine*, vol. 165, no. 20, pp. 2362–2369, 2005.
- [24] R. Kawakami, S. S. Sawada, M. Matsushita et al., "Reference values for cardiorespiratory fitness and incidence of type 2 diabetes," *Journal of Epidemiology*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 25–30, 2014.
- [25] W. Zhu, M. T. Mahar, G. J. Welk, S. B. Going, and K. J. Cureton, "Approaches for development of criterion-referenced standards in health-related youth fitness tests," *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, vol. 41, no. 4, pp. S68–S76, 2011.
- [26] K. J. Cureton and G. L. Warren, "Criterion-referenced standards for youth health-related fitness tests: a tutorial," *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, vol. 61, no. 1, pp. 7–19, 1990.